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          2                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Good morning,

          3  everyone, and thank you all for being here. My

          4  colleagues will be coming in because there is

          5  another meeting that is ending about 10:00, so you

          6  will see them coming in and also those who will be

          7  testifying will be coming in sporadically.

          8                 This is the meeting of the Women's

          9  Issues Committee, and today the issue is on human

         10  trafficking.

         11                 My name is Helen Sears, I'm Chair of

         12  the Committee, and I do have an opening statement

         13  which I will read because it's brief, but what I

         14  have before me, and I need to show everyone, is this

         15  is what was prepared from the over 14 pages on this

         16  issue. And I'm not going to read the 14 pages, but I

         17  wish to stress the importance of this issue and how

         18  this is really very minor in comparison to what is

         19  happening and how this issue is growing.

         20                 So, in order to save time, I'm not

         21  going to, but I have 15 pages that talks about this

         22  issue, talks about the problems, why New York City

         23  has a growing and so few people are aware of this

         24  issue. Today we're going to really bring to the

         25  highlight the issue worldwide, and why it affects
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          2  New York City so much.

          3                 In addition, we have a Reso 504,

          4  which is absolutely urging the State to pass a law.

          5                 Right now New York State does not

          6  have a law on this issue. Federal government does,

          7  but New York State does not.

          8                 And we are hoping that very shortly

          9  they will iron out their problems and we will be

         10  able to have a law. Before I begin I would like to

         11  introduce my colleagues, but to my left is Baaba

         12  Halm, she is the Counsel to the Committee. We have

         13  Letitia James, who is from Brooklyn, John Liu from

         14  Queens. John Liu is not a member of the Committee

         15  but he considers this issue to be so important, and

         16  I thank him because he had to cancel his own meeting

         17  in order to be here. And Sara Gonzalez, who is also

         18  from Brooklyn. Joan Povolny, who is our Analyst and

         19  Alissa Pollock, who is from my staff, and they have

         20  worked very extensively on this issue.

         21                 Human trafficking is a transitional

         22  crime with national and local implications. The

         23  magnitude of these crimes is really enormous.

         24  According to the Department of Justice, it is

         25  estimated that 600 to 800,000 human beings are
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          2  trafficked across international borders each year.

          3  This is a form of modern-day slavery, human

          4  trafficking, and encompasses a wide range of

          5  criminal activities associated with enslavement.

          6                 It's not just the transportation of

          7  humans across the border. The victims of trafficking

          8  are commonly forced to work in sex trades,

          9  industries, sweatshops, restaurants, on farms, in

         10  manufacturing trades, and as private domestic

         11  workers.

         12                 An overwhelming majority, 80 percent

         13  of trafficking victims are women and many are also

         14  children. I am personally convinced that the faces

         15  that we see on milk cartons and never to be found, I

         16  am convinced they are human trafficking. They are

         17  kidnapped at very early ages, they are with

         18  pedofiles. When they lose their innocence, they are

         19  then placed as domestics or abused in any other

         20  fashion, and we never hear from them again.

         21                 And every day we have a new face on a

         22  milk carton. For me, I think that's horrendous.

         23                 The number of victims trafficked in

         24  the United States vary from 14,500 to 17,500

         25  annually in one report, to an estimated 18 to 20,000
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          2  in another.

          3                 The exact figures of the number of

          4  persons trafficking in New York City are hard to

          5  determine. However, we are aware that New York City

          6  is considered to be the main port of entry and

          7  transit area for trafficking because of our

          8  airports, our rail and bus stations and ports.

          9                 Further, this summer alone there were

         10  a number of reports highlighting human trafficking

         11  activities in our local communities, and I think

         12  we'll hear from John Liu very shortly on that.

         13                 It appears that Brooklyn and Queens

         14  has become the hot spots in the human trafficking

         15  trade with reports of raids at brothels and victims

         16  forced to sell trinkets on the subways and street

         17  corners.

         18                 Human trafficking is unquestionably a

         19  horrendous crime. Victims are frequently isolated,

         20  violated, exploited and imprisoned by their

         21  traffickers. Many are afraid to come forward or

         22  they're unable to come forward to seek help because

         23  of cultural and/or language barriers. And although

         24  New York City has been identified as a port of entry

         25  and destination for many trafficking victims, the
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          2  State does not have a law that criminalizes and

          3  penalizes the range of offenses involved in a

          4  trafficking scheme.

          5                 State law on this issue is very much

          6  needed to address the wide range of tactics that

          7  traffickers use to obtain and maintain the labor and

          8  services of their victims and provide appropriate

          9  services and programs for human trafficking.

         10                 At today's hearing the Committee will

         11  learn more about human trafficking and the impact of

         12  such crimes on New York City.

         13                 The Committee will also seek to learn

         14  how this City can appropriately respond to the needs

         15  of victims.

         16                 We will also hear from advocates with

         17  regard to the needs of victims and for State

         18  legislation.

         19                 And on a personal note, I just wish

         20  to end my statement with many, many times we have

         21  heard how people can get away from the things they

         22  don't like doing. Well, that may be true for those

         23  who are very strong, who are very capable, and have

         24  outside assistance to do that. The human sale, the

         25  sale of human beings, or generally for those that
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          2  are most vulnerable, and they don't have any

          3  advantage to get out of where they are, particularly

          4  the children, and to me, government has a

          5  responsibility to see that we assist those that are

          6  so vulnerable, that we do everything we can to see

          7  that, because it is, I have read where it is the

          8  third largest industry in organized crime. And

          9  remember, when you put that in your head, that we're

         10  talking about 80 percent of women and children, the

         11  third largest organized crime. I mean, that should

         12  start anybody to have a passion to do something

         13  about it.

         14                 So, I'm glad today that we have many

         15  panelists, and with that, I'm going to introduce the

         16  Deputy Chief Brian Conroy, the Commanding Officer of

         17  Vice Enforcement Division of New York City Police

         18  Department.

         19                 Thank you very much.

         20                 DEPUTY CHIEF CONROY: Good morning.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: So, if you will

         22  proceed. And thank you for being here. And introduce

         23  who is with you, yourself and your colleague.

         24                 DEPUTY CHIEF CONROY: I'm Deputy Chief

         25  Brian Conroy, and this is Susan Petito.
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          2                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PETITO:

          3  Assistant Commissioner, Intergovernmental Affairs.

          4                 Good morning.

          5                 DEPUTY CHIEF CONROY: Good morning,

          6  Madam Chair, Members of the Council.

          7                 As I mentioned, I'm Deputy Chief

          8  Brian Conway, Commanding Officer of the Vice

          9  Enforcement Division. And on behalf of Police

         10  Commissioner Raymond Kelly, I am pleased to be here

         11  today to discuss the issue of human trafficking.

         12                 We would like to thank the Committee

         13  for addressing the issue and focusing attention on

         14  difficult circumstances faced by the victims of

         15  human trafficking.

         16                 It is unfortunately the case that the

         17  most common way that we as law enforcement officers

         18  come into contact with these vulnerable individuals

         19  is by arresting them often for prostitution.

         20                 Victims of human trafficking are

         21  often too terrified to report their plight, or to

         22  cooperate with law enforcement officers who seek to

         23  apprehend their exploiters.

         24                 If victims do come forward, they may

         25  need a tremendous amount of support to help them
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          2  conquer their fears and cooperate in a subsequent

          3  investigation and prosecution, as well as to address

          4  needs, such as housing, employment, immigration and

          5  language issues.

          6                 It is therefore necessary that we

          7  work together with other government agencies, as

          8  well as with social service providers to identify

          9  those who are victims and provide the appropriate

         10  referrals to assist them in reclaiming their lives.

         11                 Human trafficking is an issue which

         12  transcends the borders of New York City, and

         13  requires a national and international response. The

         14  NYPD has participated since 2002 in the work of the

         15  New York City Community Response to Trafficking

         16  project, or CRT, a program which was funded by the

         17  federal government for the purpose of encouraging a

         18  coordinated response to human trafficking on a local

         19  level.

         20                 Our work with other members of the

         21  CRT Working Group has resulted in helpful

         22  partnerships and a deeper understanding of the means

         23  by which we can assist the victims.

         24                 We are now in the process of

         25  enhancing our efforts through a federal grant, which
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          2  will enable us to establish a unit within my

          3  command, specifically targeting human trafficking.

          4                 A specialized team will focus on the

          5  areas of potential trafficking and develop the

          6  expertise to recognize and investigate the abuse.

          7                 The team will also provide a crucial

          8  training function, enabling us to expand our

          9  knowledge base within the Police Department, so that

         10  police officers coming into contact with potential

         11  victims will better understand the indicators of

         12  human trafficking and ask the right questions as

         13  they conduct their debriefings.

         14                 In addition to this specialized team,

         15  the Vice Enforcement Division's six Enforcement

         16  Squads have been instructed and will receive further

         17  training on identifying potential victims of human

         18  trafficking.

         19                 We are hopeful that continued

         20  attention to the problem of human trafficking by

         21  both law enforcement and non-government

         22  organizations will enable us to reach victims who

         23  are trapped in desperate situations of servitude and

         24  to bring their exploiters to justice. We appreciate

         25  your concern in holding this hearing to focus the
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          2  public's attention on the issue, and will be pleased

          3  to answer any questions you may have.

          4                 Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Will you be

          6  testifying?

          7                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PETITO: No.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: All right, thank

          9  you.

         10                 John Liu has some questions for you.

         11                 Councilman.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Thank you very

         13  much, Madam Chairperson. I want to thank you for

         14  holding this hearing and for spearheading the

         15  efforts to pass this important resolution.

         16                 I am of the opinion that although we

         17  have federal laws that govern this very important

         18  issue, and there needs to be more done at the State

         19  level, and wherever possible at the City level.

         20                 I want to thank you for joining us

         21  this morning, Deputy Chief and of course, Ms.

         22  Petito, who is ever-present here in these chambers.

         23  I just want to say that I will first offer a

         24  confession. A confession that for the last four and

         25  a half years that I've been in office, I have called
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          2  your vice squad many times through my local precinct

          3  because the number of complaints that I get from my

          4  constituents about brothels in their apartment

          5  buildings, in the constituent's apartment buildings,

          6  or on the residential blocks that my constituents

          7  and their families live on, has been numerous, and

          8  in each and every one of these cases where the

          9  constituents have complained about brothels, I've

         10  notified the commanding officer of the local

         11  precinct, who has then been in touch with the vice

         12  squad, and rather expeditiously, the brothels get

         13  closed down.

         14                 I've come to learn, though, that

         15  although we can get a very quick and efficient

         16  result from the NYPD who is simply doing their job,

         17  and doing it very well, it simply, it doesn't solve

         18  the problem because these brothels open up just

         19  further down the street, or in a different apartment

         20  in the very same building, and what we have here is

         21  a major problem that is not going to be addressed

         22  simply by the police shutting down brothels. And as

         23  you testified in your statement, most often times

         24  the actions simply entail arresting the women, and

         25  the buyers get off scott-free.
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          2                 And, so, what I would like to do is

          3  to really flesh out, this issue out more openly.

          4  It's important, Madam Chairperson, that we have this

          5  public hearing to begin to -- I think we have to

          6  educate New Yorkers that this is a serious issue. It

          7  is not about prostitution in the widely known sense

          8  of the word. Some people still refer to it as the

          9  oldest profession in the world. We're not talking

         10  about a profession here, we're talking about

         11  slavery, we're talking about the people, women and

         12  sometimes children who are forced into this kind of

         13  life, never knowing up front that they would end up

         14  this way, but gradually through steps including

         15  intimidation, and the exertion of more and more

         16  control by their captors, or sometimes by their

         17  supposed friends, who then enslave these people.

         18  And, so, now we're talking about not professionals

         19  or workers of any kind but slaves who have no

         20  choice, and they have very little recourse in law

         21  enforcement because many times they are the ones who

         22  get arrested.

         23                 And, so, I have tried a few times and

         24  perhaps I will also start with this question, Deputy

         25  Chief, is there anything we could do to get after
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          2  the buyers, the people who -- the buyers who create

          3  this demand that then results in this international

          4  trade, the trafficking of human beings? What can we

          5  do about the buyers here?

          6                 I think the experts, and we see that

          7  we have been joined by many of the experts in this

          8  field this morning, there's a huge imbalance between

          9  the buyers and the supply, and the fact that the

         10  demand so far exceeds the supply, that creates a

         11  situation that is right for this kind of

         12  trafficking.

         13                 So what can we do to get at the

         14  buyers? You know, we always hear news reports about

         15  other towns that maybe publicize or spread photos of

         16  the buyers involved here, what can we do about them?

         17                 DEPUTY CHIEF CONROY: Sir, we do go

         18  after at different times the people who -- and if

         19  I'm to assume that we're talking about the same

         20  thing, the people who patronize the prostitutes, we

         21  do go after them, and there is a charge for that.

         22                 We have publicized it in the past, if

         23  they use their cars to patronize the prostitute we

         24  will take their cars and confiscate their cars under

         25  civil enforcement procedures. So, there are things
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          2  we can do to sort of discourage or go after the

          3  buyers as you say. And we do make an effort to do,

          4  to go in that direction.

          5                 But again, the charge is not serious.

          6  It's not something that anybody is going to go to

          7  jail for, for an extended period of time. But there

          8  is something that we do focus on.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: And I ask you for

         10  these statistics not to, you know, not to make any

         11  kind of indictment or accusation against the

         12  department here, what I would like to know is, do we

         13  have any kind of statistics about how many women are

         14  arrested per year for prostitution, and how many of

         15  these buyers are actually caught and something,

         16  anything done with them?

         17                 DEPUTY CHIEF CONROY: I can give you

         18  from the Vice Enforcement Division, we made over

         19  1,200 prostitution arrests in 2005, and we've made

         20  over 700 so far this year, of the women.

         21                 We've made about half, we've made

         22  about 550 people for arrested last year in 2005 for

         23  patronizing the prostitutes. And this year we're

         24  kind of ahead of that game, we're up to over 400 for

         25  people who are patronizing.
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          2                 That's when the Vice Division

          3  Enforcement Unit alone. There are precincts that

          4  also do this type of work, and I don't have those

          5  statistics available. But again you can see that

          6  it's something we can do, we also go after, besides

          7  arresting the prostitutes, we do arrest people for

          8  patronizing the prostitutes, again, with an attempt

          9  to kind of discourage the activity.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Well, actually

         11  that is a higher number than I would have guessed.

         12                 So, 1,200 prostitution arrests, 550

         13  arrests last year of the buyer.

         14                 DEPUTY CHIEF CONROY: For patronizing

         15  the prostitution would be the charge.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Okay.

         17                 And, again, I'm not trying to point

         18  fingers here, this is part of the public education

         19  campaign that we all have to collectively wage,

         20  Madam Chairperson. These are buyers. You know, this

         21  is not like patronizing a local restaurant or a

         22  local grocery store. These are buyers of victims of

         23  human trafficking.

         24                 Is there a sense about, the

         25  prostitutes that are arrested, is there any way to
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          2  identify how many of those arrested are victims of

          3  human trafficking?

          4                 DEPUTY CHIEF CONROY: I would say no.

          5  We do debrief or interview all of the people we

          6  arrest, and that is the opportunity for them to come

          7  forward and say something, we'll ask questions. But,

          8  no, there wouldn't be a way for us to do that,

          9  unless somebody came forward and told us, we would

         10  not have a way of knowing that.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Okay, what about,

         12  is there any -- because these women have now been

         13  arrested for a crime, so does that mean they are now

         14  exempt from Executive Order 41?

         15                 DEPUTY CHIEF CONROY: I'm not familiar

         16  with Executive Order 41.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Maybe Ms. Petito

         18  can --

         19                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PETITO: Well,

         20  they would be exempt, to use that word, it isn't a

         21  word that we would use, but they would fall within

         22  the exception to Executive Order 41 because they are

         23  a criminal suspect. However, because of the

         24  sensitive nature of this issue and our awareness of

         25  the issue of human trafficking, we do try to elicit
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          2  from them information about if they are also the

          3  victim of a crime within the spirit of Executive

          4  Order 41, and the knowledge that there is a human

          5  trafficking issue out there.

          6                 And that's part of our internal

          7  education effort. It's also very helpful to have

          8  this kind of public education so that the victims

          9  understand perhaps there is some help available, if

         10  not through a law enforcement intervention, then

         11  perhaps from a community organization.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: But how do you

         13  know though?

         14                 Again, I mean this is -- I just want

         15  to explore this, and maybe we can explore this more

         16  because I think we don't have that much time today.

         17  The Deputy Chief said that there is no way to figure

         18  out who might be a victim of human trafficking, and

         19  yet, you know, what you're saying is that there is a

         20  way, or somehow there is an identification that

         21  immigration status might be looked at?

         22                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PETITO: No, I

         23  think what he said was that there is no way to know

         24  the number. He was asked about was there any way to

         25  know how many there are.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Okay.

          3                 So, maybe one thing that we could do

          4  as a first step is begin to track the numbers,

          5  right?

          6                 Because there is some assessment,

          7  when these women get arrested, there is some

          8  assessment about what kind of background they have,

          9  is there a question about immigration status, and

         10  possibly the woman could be a victim of human

         11  trafficking. Isn't there some kind of assessment

         12  done when these women are arrested?

         13                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PETITO: Well,

         14  I think as he spoke about we do debrief the people

         15  that we arrest, we interview them, and if there's

         16  information that they give us that leads us to

         17  understand that they might be a victim of human

         18  trafficking, that avenue will be explored.

         19                 It's not necessarily related

         20  specifically to their immigration status, but

         21  basically who is promoting their prostitution, or

         22  maybe exercising some coercive conduct on them. But

         23  one of the problems is that there are so few victims

         24  who will come forward within that debriefing because

         25  they are actually, yes, they are under arrest at
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          2  that point.

          3                 So, one of the things, as I said, we

          4  think would be very helpful, is the public education

          5  aspect of this to understand that they can go for

          6  help before they might get arrested to a

          7  community-based organization. Because once they are

          8  arrested, yes, they become part of the criminal

          9  justice system, but with the sensitivity that we are

         10  developing and trying to utilize not only within the

         11  Vice Enforcement Division, but also within the

         12  general patrol force, we might be able to pick up

         13  some indicators that they might be victims who have

         14  also been forced to commit the crime as opposed to

         15  simply a prostitute, you know, that we are going to

         16  arrest.

         17                 We might be able to development

         18  information to treat them in a different manner, but

         19  because it's a very small number of people that

         20  actually we experience coming forward to tell us, it

         21  would be difficult to track as a number. Certainly

         22  if we open up a human trafficking case we'll track

         23  that.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: But before, you

         25  even said earlier that due to the sometimes
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          2  sensitive nature, when I had asked about Executive

          3  Order 41, it just seems to me that we could probably

          4  do a more, if we put our mind to it and see

          5  trafficking as a problem, I think in the debriefing

          6  of these women after they get arrested, we could

          7  probably figure out a more comprehensive way of

          8  determining whether or not they are indeed a victim.

          9                 I mean, based on the experts that I

         10  think we'll hear from later on, the so-called

         11  prostitutes in this City, especially the ones who

         12  are arrested, there's an extremely high percentage

         13  of them who are victims of human trafficking. And so

         14  this is not something we're talking about maybe once

         15  in awhile you might arrest a woman and she's a

         16  victim of human trafficking. No, I think the experts

         17  will say that in almost all cases they are victims

         18  of trafficking. They are victims who were coerced or

         19  somehow lured here, never knowing or having any idea

         20  that someday they would be providing sexual

         21  services.

         22                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PETITO: I

         23  think the one comment I actually would add to that

         24  is that we actually don't know what the number is.

         25                 I understand that there are different
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          2  estimates, but based on our experience, knowing from

          3  the evidence we have before us and the people who

          4  come to us through a law enforcement capacity, we

          5  can't say that it's a majority or a particular

          6  number.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: I don't intend to

          8  fault you for not knowing the numbers. What I'm

          9  suggesting is that let's work together to figure out

         10  a way so that we can begin to identify the people so

         11  then we can truly understand the magnitude of the

         12  problem.

         13                 I think the advocates have a very

         14  deep understanding. What we need is for this City

         15  Council and for the City of New York and the Police

         16  Department, and everybody with the power to address

         17  this problem, to understand the magnitude of this

         18  problem.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Mr. Chairman, if I

         20  can just interrupt for a moment?

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Okay, Madam

         22  Chairperson.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Maybe we'll come

         24  back to you?

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Sure.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Because we have

          3  other questions.

          4                 Thank you very much.

          5                 But I think for follow-up for just a

          6  moment, I think what it shows is that human

          7  trafficking has not been identified as just that. It

          8  is so liked to prostitution, and prostitution is

          9  another dimension of human trafficking, and the fact

         10  is that perhaps after this hearing, the Department

         11  will realize that there needs to be training among

         12  the staff to be able to identify those very wounded

         13  victims of human trafficking, and their physical

         14  signs throughout, and for those who have been on the

         15  street because for one reason or another, that is

         16  something that they're there for, but they're not

         17  involved in the trafficking ring. And I really would

         18  suggest very strongly that the measures be taken as

         19  a first step to do that. Because it is only that

         20  hopefully this hearing is going to do that, the

         21  federal government is certainly recognizing that,

         22  and we really have a state of slavery in the country

         23  and certainly New York City is the area where it is

         24  developing, and I do think that your agency needs to

         25  be a vital part of exactly how you separate those
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          2  who are in human trafficking and those that are not.

          3  They are two I think very distinct differences,

          4  although they are part of that organized crime. And

          5  it's another division of it that has to be treated

          6  really differently.

          7                 Before we go on, I wanted to

          8  introduce Councilman Barron, who is from Brooklyn,

          9  and he's a member of the Committee, and I thank you

         10  very much for doing that.

         11                 I have a few questions, but I'm going

         12  to yield to my colleagues for a moment. Oh, we're

         13  all just joined by Councilwoman Mealy. Thank you

         14  very much for being here.

         15                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PETITO: Madam

         16  Chair, if I may interrupt a moment?

         17                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Yes.

         18                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PETITO: I

         19  think your staff was advised that Chief Conroy will

         20  need to leave at 11:00.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Yes, I'm very much

         22  aware of that.

         23                 Letitia James. Okay, Councilwoman

         24  James.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Thank you. Good
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          2  morning, Deputy Chief Conroy and Ms. Petito, and let

          3  me just thank the Chairmember for convening this

          4  hearing on a very important issue.

          5                 Deputy Chief, I understand that you

          6  have a Vice Squad which is primarily on

          7  prostitution. The question that I have, is there a

          8  specialized unit within NYPD focused on the issue of

          9  human trafficking?

         10                 DEPUTY CHIEF CONROY: Formally we have

         11  been formulating a team that will address that issue

         12  specifically.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And it's my

         14  understanding that NYPD just recently received a

         15  federal grant in the amount of $450,000. What is the

         16  purpose of that grant or can you tell us what the

         17  monies will be used for?

         18                 DEPUTY CHIEF CONROY: They're going to

         19  be used for investigating human trafficking and

         20  develop information. We are in kind of a learning

         21  process also here, and that information is building

         22  a team, training for the team, getting the necessary

         23  equipment they may need and conducting

         24  investigations.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And as of right
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          2  now it's my understanding that you sort of adopted

          3  this broken window type of approach to this issue of

          4  human trafficking when individuals are arrested for

          5  patronizing and/or engaging in the crime of

          6  prostitution. They are debriefed, and unfortunately,

          7  it has not yielded much information; is that

          8  correct?

          9                 DEPUTY CHIEF CONROY: Again, it's a

         10  problem that we're taking a strong look at it. We

         11  hope to learn more as we go along. We have some

         12  things to learn here, and we're hoping that by

         13  talking to people, working with various community

         14  groups and other agencies that we'll learn more and

         15  develop more people willing to come forward and tell

         16  us about this.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Because we're

         18  on the learning curve, are we working with any

         19  federal agencies to address this issue?

         20                 DEPUTY CHIEF CONROY: We work very

         21  closely with the US Attorneys' Office, plus our own

         22  local District Attorneys, in addition to, as we

         23  mentioned, the CRT team. So, we have a working group

         24  with them also again. So, we do work with other

         25  agencies and other private groups.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And according

          3  to a recent article in the Brooklyn Rail, I

          4  represent part of downtown Brooklyn and Central

          5  Brooklyn. It's my understanding that certain parts

          6  of Brooklyn and Queens are hot bed of activity. Are

          7  you aware of that?

          8                 DEPUTY CHIEF CONROY: I'm not aware of

          9  any specific area. I mean, prostitution is

         10  throughout the City. Yes, Queens does have, and

         11  Brooklyn does have areas of prostitution, but so did

         12  the other boroughs also. So, we have not identified

         13  one specific area that is, as you recall, a hot

         14  spot.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: So, you, and I

         16  don't mean to be disrespectful and/or rude, but you

         17  focused primarily on prostitution; is that your

         18  primary means of addressing the issue of human

         19  trafficking, which is separate and apart from the

         20  crime of prostitution?

         21                 DEPUTY CHIEF CONROY: Well, again, the

         22  human trafficking team will eventually get any form

         23  of human trafficking.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And when

         25  individuals are arrested and/or convicted, or
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          2  acquitted of the crime of prostitution, are there

          3  any social services available within NYPD? Or are

          4  you in touch with any social services to offer these

          5  individual services, such as housing, immigration,

          6  et cetera?

          7                 DEPUTY CHIEF CONROY: Well, that's how

          8  we work with other groups and the court system,

          9  hopefully they'll be offered these services. But the

         10  NYPD itself does not do it, it's more the other

         11  agencies.

         12                 That's why it's important for us to

         13  work with other groups to address this problem.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And what groups

         15  do you currently work with? Do you have the names?

         16                 DEPUTY CHIEF CONROY: No. But we have

         17  the District Attorneys' office, the US Attorneys'

         18  office, there's Safe Horizon, members of the CRT

         19  team, who all come together to kind of work together

         20  to address these issues.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And are you

         22  aware that according to this trafficking victims

         23  protection act, which was signed into law in 2000,

         24  and in order for an individual to receive support

         25  services according to this document that has been
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          2  handed to me, in order for an individual to get

          3  services they have to be certified or subject to a

          4  severe form of trafficking. Are you aware of that?

          5                 DEPUTY CHIEF CONROY: No, I'm not.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Okay.

          7                 Thank you. No further questions.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Thank you very

          9  much, Councilwoman.

         10                 I have one question before I call on

         11  Councilwoman Gonzalez.

         12                 Do you also work with the

         13  Congressional Delegation from New York City? Because

         14  the federal government does have a law, and you've

         15  mentioned everyone on the local level, but since

         16  there is an existing law in Congress, I would think

         17  that our Congressional Delegation would be very

         18  important for you to link up with to do that. Is

         19  that a possibility?

         20                 DEPUTY CHIEF CONROY: That's why I

         21  mentioned that we do work with the US District

         22  Attorney, and that's how we prosecute the cases

         23  federally.

         24                 If we have a case like that, we would

         25  turn it over to them and work with them to prosecute
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          2  the case.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: And what about

          4  getting information from our congressional people in

          5  their communities and making them far more aware of

          6  this issue?

          7                 DEPUTY CHIEF CONROY: We haven't done

          8  that up to this point, but it's something we sure

          9  can look into.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: I'm glad that

         11  you're here testifying, because I can see that there

         12  are many gaps that hopefully we will be able to

         13  shrink them, and work with identifying and what

         14  really trafficking is, and it's far more than the

         15  prostitution.

         16                 Councilwoman Gonzalez. Do you have a

         17  question?

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GONZALEZ: Yes. Good

         19  morning, Deputy Chief.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Be brief, because

         21  he's here for just a few minutes more.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GONZALEZ: Okay, I'll

         23  try to be brief.

         24                 I just want to go back to what you

         25  spoke about, about the specialized team. I'd like to
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          2  understand, because in District 38 in our precincts.

          3  We have had a lot of problems with brothels and I

          4  have to say they worked really well and they were

          5  able to, it took time and it took like many, many

          6  arrests, and then they were gone. We'd go back,

          7  because we would pass by just to make sure and they

          8  were gone, but then they would reopen elsewhere,

          9  okay, we know we have that problem. But the

         10  community police work very well in our district, and

         11  I've noticed, and I've seen throughout the years,

         12  that experienced police officers that know the

         13  communities is what works for us, because they're

         14  able to identify, they know, and they collaborate

         15  with community-based organizations, community

         16  boards, so that definitely works.

         17                 But I wanted to ask you, in respect

         18  to your specialized team, is there a manner, or do

         19  you have a formula or something in respect to

         20  identifying the problem targeting certain

         21  communities? Or is that still something that's in

         22  the process?

         23                 DEPUTY CHIEF CONROY: That's still in

         24  the process of being developed. And we also do have

         25  vice squad teams in each borough. So, those
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          2  particular teams are familiar with the particular

          3  borough conditions. Each borough has a vice team

          4  that works, and they'll also be involved in this

          5  issue. We're not just going to narrow it down to the

          6  one team.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GONZALEZ: Okay. Well,

          8  I certainly welcome the specialized team, but I do

          9  want to say what works and what's working for us is

         10  to have the collaboration of a community, the

         11  community boards, to have community-based

         12  organizations that already are dealing with the

         13  problem, and I'll try to make it brief, but many

         14  years ago in my past life, I'm a clinician, so I did

         15  a lot of work with counseling, and we were able to

         16  go out with the precincts. We worked in a van, as a

         17  counselor I went out there and we reached out and we

         18  had a major problem with prostitution.

         19                 We were able to reach over 210

         20  prostitutes and bring them through the whole entire

         21  treatment, because a lot of them were addicted, a

         22  lot of them had other problems, they had no place to

         23  live, whatever, so it works. So, what I'm saying is,

         24  this is great, the specialized team, and I thank

         25  you. And I definitely want to say publicly that I

                                                            35

          1  COMMITTEE ON WOMEN'S ISSUES

          2  thank the Police Department in District 38.

          3                 But I suggest that you continue to

          4  collaborate, reach out to community-based

          5  organizations, even block associations. That's very

          6  important, because on our block, everybody stays

          7  vigilant. I mean, if there is something going on

          8  they come to me and they say, Councilwoman,

          9  something is going on, or we talk to each other. So,

         10  it can't just be solely a Police Department thing,

         11  although we need the federal and everyone to kick

         12  in, but we have to do it at a local level and I want

         13  to say that in Community Board 7 and District 38,

         14  these things work. It's not that we don't have

         15  problems, we continue to have the problems, but

         16  we're staying alive and we're staying vigilant, and

         17  we want to protect this, because we have a lot of

         18  community-based organizations that are identifying

         19  human trafficking, that they're aware of it, they

         20  know what to look for. So, I just want to say to the

         21  folks here, that that's what works and we need to

         22  keep doing it, and thank you.

         23                 Thank you, Chair. Thank you for this

         24  topic. It's excellent. Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Thank you very
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          2  much.

          3                 Before I call on Councilman Charles

          4  Barron, we are joined by Councilwoman Mark-Viverito.

          5  Thank you very much for being here.

          6                 Councilman.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Well, thank

          8  you, Madam Chair, and I thank you for this timely,

          9  timely topic.

         10                 You know, I'm just a little amazed

         11  with? This stuff has been around for a long time,

         12  this didn't happen yesterday, but yet it seems like

         13  all the questions that we're asking you, we're just

         14  beginning to look at this, just beginning to put

         15  this in place, haven't began this process yet. I

         16  mean, human traffick, in all good fairness to you,

         17  is more of an economic issue than it is a policing

         18  issue. I think the larger question is why do people

         19  have to be put in this position where they are due

         20  domestic work, and even if it's coerced or forced,

         21  or the prostitution, I think it's more of an

         22  economic issue.

         23                 But getting back to the enforcement,

         24  policing of it, it seems it's almost like we're just

         25  getting into this. This stuff has been around for
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          2  awhile, and a lot of the questions that are being

          3  asked and we'll look into that, we don't have these

          4  numbers yet, yes we got the money but we haven't

          5  begun the process for this and that, everybody else

          6  is commending you, but I think that's a problem,

          7  that something so serious in so many of our

          8  communities is just getting a look into, and

          9  domestic trafficking occurs from

         10  community-to-community, not just an international

         11  proposition, but even from community-to-community.

         12                 And I also think it's a supply an

         13  demand issue. The suppliers are more prosecuted and

         14  more pressure on than the johns that are out there

         15  demanding, utilizing the service.

         16                 And as a matter of fact, when I spoke

         17  to the DA, they even have a john school, where, you

         18  know, if a john gets picked up, the men, they go to

         19  school. They have an option. They don't have to go

         20  to jail, they'll get a fine, they take them to john

         21  school and they stay in class for a little while,

         22  but when it comes to the women, they take them to

         23  jail and like you just said, 1,200 arrested, and

         24  500, those using the service, I don't understand

         25  what the 1,200 -- what about the other five or
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          2  six-hundred or seven-hundred that use the other

          3  prostitutes that you arrested them for?

          4                 So, I just think that there's some

          5  chauvinism in this when it comes to putting pressure

          6  on the men that use the service as they're doing to

          7  the females who engage in prostitution. And I just

          8  wanted some of your comments on that.

          9                 DEPUTY CHIEF CONROY: It may be just a

         10  little misunderstood. We have been working on this

         11  issue for a long time. Since 2002, as I mentioned,

         12  we've been working with the New York City Community

         13  Response to Trafficking. We are right now in the

         14  process of creating a team that's going to

         15  specifically work on this particular issue.

         16                 Our vice squads throughout time have

         17  always worked on the issue of prostitution and on

         18  the issue of trying to identify people who are from

         19  under-age, being kind of brought into prostitution,

         20  to other people who -- again, it's not just an issue

         21  of being transported or from overseas or from other

         22  states, it's also a local issue of people being

         23  forced into prostitution.

         24                 So, we recognize that, and certainly

         25  something we've worked on for years. We're trying to
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          2  actually get better at it, and that's part of what

          3  the grant will help us to do, putting a team

          4  together, working with other agencies. Again, it's

          5  something that we worked on for a long period of

          6  time, as I just said, 2002 we were involved with

          7  this CRT team.

          8                 But again, to further acknowledge

          9  that we have more to learn, and we will do that.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: What has been

         11  your experience of what happens to the buyers of

         12  this service? Have they been repeat offenders? Or

         13  have they gone to the buyer school that the DA has

         14  hooked up? Are they being prosecuted, going to jail,

         15  or being fined? What has been your experience?

         16                 DEPUTY CHIEF CONROY: I don't have any

         17  statistics on what happens to them. But it's a

         18  low-level charge, so it's not going to be something

         19  you're going to spend any, you know, significant

         20  time in jail for.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: All right.

         22  Thank you very much.

         23                 DEPUTY CHIEF CONROY: Yes, sir.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Thank you,

         25  Councilman.
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          2                 We have a question from Councilwoman

          3  Mark-Viverito.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO: Yes,

          5  thank you, Chair. And I apologize for coming late.

          6                 In looking over and reading your

          7  testimony, just a couple of quick questions, and I

          8  may have more of ongoing.

          9                 But with regards to this New York

         10  City Community Response to Trafficking Project, it's

         11  a working group; who heads that? Is that out of the

         12  NYPD?

         13                 DEPUTY CHIEF CONROY: Various agencies

         14  we work with. Again, we work with the US Attorneys'

         15  Office, private groups.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO: But in

         17  terms of, like who has ultimate authority over that

         18  working group.

         19                 DEPUTY CHIEF CONROY: I don't have

         20  that information with me here today.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO: You

         22  don't know?

         23                 DEPUTY CHIEF CONROY: There's people

         24  here from that organization, I'm sure, today.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO: Are you
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          2  testifying later on? Okay, so then we can probably

          3  get that info. Thank you.

          4                 And who does form part of the working

          5  group to your knowledge? I know you just mentioned

          6  some individuals, you may have mentioned this

          7  earlier, but if you could just --

          8                 DEPUTY CHIEF CONROY: I'm sure later

          9  on they would be able to give you more on exactly

         10  the people who are in it.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO: Okay.

         12                 Do you personally participate in

         13  that, or a representative?

         14                 DEPUTY CHIEF CONROY: A representative

         15  of mine will attend the meetings.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO: Okay.

         17                 And then with regards to, you know,

         18  this issue as my colleague, Councilman Barron was

         19  saying, obviously it's not new, but with regards to

         20  what other models in other cities? Have you studied

         21  any models with regards to how this issue is being

         22  addressed in other cities? Things that might be

         23  successful in other cities that we could implement

         24  here?

         25                 Is any of that happening? Any kind of
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          2  sharing of information?

          3                 DEPUTY CHIEF CONROY: As we move

          4  forward that's what we hope to get into. We have not

          5  -- we hopefully will attend a conference down in

          6  New Orleans starting next week, where we're sending

          7  my representatives from my office there, again, to

          8  meet with other people from all over the country to

          9  learn more about this issue and see how people are

         10  addressing this.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO: Are you

         12  currently part of any national working group on this

         13  issue?

         14                 DEPUTY CHIEF CONROY: No, I'm not.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO: Okay.

         16  So, you hope to do that soon.

         17                 Has any additional monies from the

         18  NYPD been allocated specifically to the issue of

         19  human trafficking?

         20                 DEPUTY CHIEF CONROY: Well, as

         21  mentioned, we have a grant that we've been given

         22  from the federal government, $450,000.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO: Right,

         24  that's a grant that's coming from the feds. I'm

         25  asking about locally.
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          2                 DEPUTY CHIEF CONROY: Well, there is a

          3  matching part of that where the New York City Police

          4  Department would contribute to that also.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO: Do you

          6  know what that amount is?

          7                 DEPUTY CHIEF CONROY: The exact

          8  figure, no, I don't have. But there is a certain

          9  percentage --

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO: So,

         11  outside of the matching, is there a concerted effort

         12  that you're aware of within the NYPD to allocate

         13  more resources, more time, more money, specifically

         14  to this issue, which I assume is on the rise?

         15                 DEPUTY CHIEF CONROY: Part of the --

         16  and I don't have any information of it being on the

         17  rise, but part of this what we're doing is creating

         18  a specialized team that will be our local experts on

         19  this issue, and that's part of what the Department

         20  is contributing to this.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO: So

         22  those are my questions at the moment. Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Thank you very

         24  much.

         25                 I have a question before you leave,
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          2  but John Liu has a very, very short five-word

          3  question.

          4                 So, you may make that very, very

          5  brief, because I choose to honor the time that you

          6  have to leave.

          7                 Councilman Liu.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Thank you, Madam

          9  Chairperson. Five words is not easy. Here it is --

         10                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: I trust in you,

         11  though.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Should

         13  trafficking be a defense? Is it too short and not

         14  clear?

         15                 DEPUTY CHIEF CONROY: I think you need

         16  more than five words for that. I'm not sure what you

         17  mean by it.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Okay. You're not

         19  sure of the question, or you're not sure of the

         20  answer?

         21                 DEPUTY CHIEF CONROY: I'm not sure of

         22  your question. What you mean.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Add another word

         24  to it.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: If we come to

                                                            45

          1  COMMITTEE ON WOMEN'S ISSUES

          2  understand that we're not talking about people,

          3  women, sometimes children, who are doing this

          4  because they want to, but because they have been

          5  lured and subjected to intimidation to the point

          6  where they have no choice but to engage in these

          7  sexual services. Should being a victim of

          8  trafficking be a defense?

          9                 Because right now, I mean before you

         10  talked about the debriefing, there's no incentive

         11  for any person to admit or to talk about the

         12  experiences that they went through because there is

         13  no gain. There is only a potential loss that they

         14  might be deported.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: And if I may?

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Yes.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: If I may add to

         18  that, to clarify, when they are picked up, they are

         19  picked up because they have committed an offense. I

         20  understand what you're saying, and I think that we

         21  need to turn it around a minute and look at how can

         22  they be placed as a defendant in that sense and not

         23  be accused of what they're doing. When they're

         24  picked up, and it's known as the revolving door and

         25  it's in every other borough, they're picked up
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          2  because they have committed an offense. Trafficking

          3  is very different. It is extremely different. They

          4  haven't committed any offense, and, yet, they can be

          5  picked up and there is no incentive for them to even

          6  identify -- and, so, I think that is the point that

          7  Councilman Liu is on. And that we're really asking,

          8  I can tell you this Committee is going to monitor

          9  this very closely during the year, that there needs

         10  to be a shifting of gears in separating human

         11  trafficking and prostitution, even know they come

         12  under the same umbrella, they must be separated as

         13  to exactly how they get treated, what services are

         14  there for those that are in human trafficking, and

         15  for those that are in prostitution, although

         16  prostitution is one aspect of human trafficking. It

         17  is not the entire aspect. And we are talking about

         18  children.

         19                 I mean, Sara Gonzalez is Chair of the

         20  Juvenile Committee, when the Commissioner comes to

         21  testify, they're getting incarcerated at the age of

         22  11. What kind of a system do we have in this City

         23  that we can't even protect 11-year-olds?

         24                 So, I think that in identifying, we

         25  will be able to do more. Which leads to my question
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          2  is, you talked about public awareness and you talked

          3  about education; can you tell us, if any, what

          4  activities you have planned to develop this public

          5  awareness? Or is this something that will be coming

          6  forth?

          7                 DEPUTY CHIEF CONROY: I believe the

          8  public awareness has to come from a lot of different

          9  areas, not just the Police Department.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: I understand. But

         11  what about your particular area?

         12                 DEPUTY CHIEF CONROY: No. That's

         13  something we would have to look at. And you bring up

         14  an interesting point, and it's something we would

         15  have to look at also.

         16                 But I can say that if somebody did

         17  come forward to us and tell us during a debriefing

         18  that they were a victim here, we certainly would

         19  take different measures. With working with the local

         20  US Attorneys' office to treat this person as a

         21  victim and now look to go after who is putting them

         22  in this position.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Except they don't

         24  know that they're victims.

         25                 DEPUTY CHIEF CONROY: I understand
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          2  that. I said, again, it's a difficult issue.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: That's very true.

          4  And also, you mentioned that you weren't, you didn't

          5  have information of how this is a growing issue.

          6  When the Justice Department has over 600- to

          7  800,000, and New York City is identified as the main

          8  source of entry, I don't see how these numbers could

          9  be so small. The Justice Department is telling us

         10  that those numbers are huge and they're getting

         11  bigger, and that New York City, with its two

         12  airports in Queens, with the ports that we have, I

         13  don't see how we could not begin to develop a very

         14  major serious program that, quite frankly, because

         15  we haven't looked at human trafficking as it really

         16  and truly should look at, I have to say this, and I

         17  say this clinically, is that we have been assisting

         18  the growth, due to the neglect of the recognition of

         19  how crucial it is, we have assisted this growth.

         20                 Because the 600 to 800,000, not too

         21  many places that they can get through, and New York

         22  City is one of them.

         23                 So, I'm really asking you to take

         24  back the message from this Committee, is that we

         25  consider this to be a major criminal offense that is
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          2  heaped predominantly upon women and young female

          3  children, and we have to recognize that and treat it

          4  accordingly. And I do want to thank you for your

          5  testimony. And I hope you take the message back,

          6  because we're not going to sit on it, I can tell

          7  you.

          8                 DEPUTY CHIEF CONROY: Yes, Ma'am.

          9  Thank you for having us.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Thank you.

         11                 Do you have a question?

         12                 Could you take one question?

         13                 DEPUTY CHIEF CONROY: Yes.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY: What percentage

         15  of that money, the 450, will be going towards

         16  advertising, letting smugglers or traffickers out

         17  there know there's help out there for them? Do you

         18  have any set-aside money for counseling after they

         19  are caught? Are there any counseling for these

         20  individuals?

         21                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PETITO: Well,

         22  the grant money is for the Police -- the 450,000, as

         23  I understand it, is for the Police Department's

         24  generally enforcement efforts.

         25                 It's through our work with the other
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          2  organizations, such as Safe Horizon and the other

          3  members of the CRT, that additional resources may

          4  come into play that I'm not aware of. I don't know

          5  whether or not other entities have received grant

          6  money to do those kinds of things as well, but the

          7  $450,000 that the Police Department is receiving is

          8  for enforcement efforts.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY: Totally?

         10                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PETITO:

         11  Mm-hmm.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY: Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Thank you very

         14  much.

         15                 DEPUTY CHIEF CONROY: Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: I really thank you

         17  for joining us.

         18                 DEPUTY CHIEF CONROY: Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: And be sure you

         20  take the message back.

         21                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PETITO: Yes.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Because it's going

         23  to echo throughout the City. Thank you.

         24                 We have been joined by Assemblyman

         25  William Scarborough. I'm going to ask you to come
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          2  up. And have him speak because he is from Albany and

          3  he has to go back, but has worked, and this issue is

          4  very close to his heart.

          5                 So, I thank you, Assemblyman, for

          6  joining us.

          7                 It has to be off to be on.

          8                 ASSEMBLYMAN SCARBOROUGH: Oh.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: We do things a

         10  little differently in this chamber.

         11                 ASSEMBLYMAN SCARBOROUGH: Thank you

         12  for having me. As you mentioned, I'm William

         13  Scarborough, the Assemblyman for the 29th Assembly

         14  District, from your home Borough of Queens. And I'm

         15  also a Chairperson of the Assembly's Committee on

         16  Children and Families.

         17                 I am extremely pleased, and let me

         18  commend the Council and this Committee for

         19  considering this resolution to encourage the State

         20  to take action on this issue. I heard a bit of the

         21  testimony of the questioning with the police at the

         22  end there, and I can see that you're aware that this

         23  is a huge problem. It is one of those things that

         24  has kind of flown beneath the radar screen for a

         25  long time, but you have hundreds of thousands, if
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          2  not millions, of people who are either brought into

          3  this country or are native-born and are put into

          4  human trafficking situations.

          5                 As I'm sure you know, the two major

          6  uses, or the two major reasons that people are put

          7  into this situation are either for labor, to become

          8  domestic servants or so on, or for sex, to be put

          9  into the commercial sex trade.

         10                 I don't know if Assemblyman Dinowitz

         11  or anybody from our Committee testified today --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: No, he's on his

         13  way down.

         14                 ASSEMBLYMAN SCARBOROUGH: Okay. I am a

         15  co-sponsor with him on the bill that he authored,

         16  Assembly 1898, which is the Human Trafficking Law,

         17  and I think that that is a tremendous deterrent to

         18  this kind of activity.

         19                 I am sad that we didn't get it

         20  through last session, but I know that all of us are

         21  determined to continue to push that and to try to

         22  get it signed into law.

         23                 This unifies and codifies a lot of

         24  different laws on the books concerning human

         25  trafficking, and brings them all together, increases
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          2  the penalties, and I think will be a great deterrent

          3  and a great tool for law enforcement and in our

          4  effort to stop this activity.

          5                 I came into this I guess in a

          6  different direction from a lot of other people. I

          7  know a lot of the concern has to do with people

          8  being brought into the country, smuggled in, and

          9  then being forced into servitude, you know,

         10  passports taken away and so on and so forth, and a

         11  lot of that happens.

         12                 The other side of it is that there

         13  are hundreds of thousands of native-born people,

         14  mostly young women, sometimes men, but mostly young

         15  women, in this country, of all different ethnic

         16  groups, all backgrounds, who are also victims of

         17  this.

         18                 It was brought to my attention by a

         19  group who works with what's called "Sexually

         20  Exploited Youth." There are hundreds of thousands of

         21  young ladies, wayward young ladies, runaways, coming

         22  from dysfunctional homes, looking for love, so on

         23  and so forth, who end up at some place like 42nd

         24  Street bus station, run into some guy who tells them

         25  he's going to give them love, he's going to take
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          2  care of them and so on, and they are eased into this

          3  whole process of sexual servitude. Some of them as

          4  young as nine and ten years old.

          5                 We had hearings where we talked to

          6  some of these young ladies and the stories that we

          7  heard were heartbreaking. Kids running away from

          8  home, ten years old. Started out by being nude

          9  pictures, dancing at a strip club, a massage parlor,

         10  and eased into a life of sexual servitude.

         11                 We had testimony from one young lady

         12  who had been carried around the country, arrested in

         13  ten different states, between the ages of 12 and 14

         14  years old.

         15                 The anomaly is, the current law says

         16  that any child under the age of 17 years old in the

         17  State of New York, whether they're engaged in sexual

         18  activity or not, it's considered statutory rape if

         19  the person is older, because they are not by law

         20  considered able to make their judgment. The only

         21  exclusion is people who are involved in commercial

         22  sex. They are considered, the law culls them out and

         23  considers them to be adults.

         24                 So, what we have been trying to do,

         25  it's a two-part piece. I have a bill that would
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          2  change the way these young ladies were treated, you

          3  know, treat them as the youth that they are, and

          4  give them a second chance to get their lives

          5  together, and by the same token change the

          6  punishment and put it where it belongs, which is on

          7  the enablers, the pimps and those who put them into

          8  that life.

          9                 So, this bill not only deals with the

         10  kids, or the people who are smuggled into the

         11  country, put into domestic labor and so on, but with

         12  the hundreds of thousands, and the figure is about

         13  300,000 kids a year who are put into sexual

         14  exploitative situations, and for many years, you

         15  know, cannot get out. I think that this will be a

         16  tremendous benefit to helping not only the

         17  foreign-born who come here for a better life, but

         18  the native kids who we are not aware of, and I will

         19  tell you, it's shocking once you start to look at

         20  it, because I found a situation, maybe about the

         21  beginning of this year, which perhaps otherwise I

         22  might not have known about or noticed. There was a

         23  situation within five blocks of my house.

         24                 A fifteen-year-old girl,

         25  American-born, sold to a 24-year-old man. Sold for
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          2  $500. Kept her in bondage for ten days, rented her

          3  out to his father, to his friend, for sex, and she

          4  was only able to break out in the dark of night

          5  naked to get away. And these things are happening

          6  all the time. You would be surprised at what is

          7  going on next door to you, in terms of servitude,

          8  either labor or sexual.

          9                 So, again, I commend you for looking

         10  into this. I look forward to you supporting us in

         11  this effort, and I think together we can make a

         12  difference.

         13                 Thank you very much.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Thank you very

         15  much. We have several questions from my colleagues.

         16  But I just want one question to you.

         17                 What has been the difficult, and I

         18  understand the legislative process, and we go

         19  through that, but what has been the difficulty in

         20  Albany in really recognizing, coming together and

         21  recognizing that this is a major issue in the State

         22  and certainly in the City, and why have not been

         23  able to come together to give New York State a law?

         24                 ASSEMBLYMAN SCARBOROUGH: Well, the

         25  difficulty I don't think has been in recognition.
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          2  The difficulty is in Albany.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Okay.

          4                 ASSEMBLYMAN SCARBOROUGH: There is one

          5  bill that is supported by the Assembly. There is

          6  another bill that's in the Senate. And there are

          7  differences in the way these bills are written, and

          8  they were just never able to come together and, you

          9  know, work out those differences, which is why I'm

         10  hopeful that we can do it this year.

         11                 Also, within the Assembly there was,

         12  you know, Assemblyman Dinowitz in our bill, which

         13  was supported by most of the advocates in the field.

         14  And there was another bill that was supported by the

         15  District Attorney, and so you had that back and

         16  forth.

         17                 So, I mean, it's just these kind of

         18  things, you know, from the outside it might look

         19  trivial, and it is, but those are the things we have

         20  to work with.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: All right. Thank

         22  you. We have a question from Councilman Barron.

         23                 ASSEMBLYMAN SCARBOROUGH: Mm-hmm.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Thank you very

         25  much, Madam Chair. And thank you, Assemblyman, for
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          2  being here today. This is a critical issue.

          3                 Some of the concerns about the bill

          4  in like three areas --

          5                 ASSEMBLYMAN SCARBOROUGH: Mm-hmm.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: One is the

          7  punishment is not severe enough. The treatment of

          8  victims, services for victims, and then the

          9  definition of human trafficking, there's some

         10  concerns in the bill about that.

         11                 So, could you tell us more about the

         12  punishment, the penalty aspects of your bill,

         13  definition of human trafficking, and the services

         14  that will be provided for the victims.

         15                 ASSEMBLYMAN SCARBOROUGH: Okay.

         16                 The punishment, there might be some

         17  truth to the fact that the punishment may not be

         18  severe enough. As part of the discussion, some of

         19  the felonies that were originally put in were

         20  downgraded one level as a result of discussions and

         21  concerns.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Well, they

         23  were downgraded to misdemeanors?

         24                 ASSEMBLYMAN SCARBOROUGH: No, no.

         25  Still felonies.
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          2                 For example, from a B felony to a C

          3  felony, in some instances from a C to a D felony,

          4  and I know that those are again things that we want

          5  to discuss, because our original intent was to make

          6  these very stiff punishments.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Right.

          8                 ASSEMBLYMAN SCARBOROUGH: And we

          9  continue to go forward to look to do that.

         10                 What the bill does do, though, even

         11  though there is some downgrading --

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: I don't mean

         13  to interrupt you, but can I just stay with the

         14  penalty thing for a minute?

         15                 ASSEMBLYMAN SCARBOROUGH: Right. Okay.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: You know, when

         17  people come before us and tell us the horror stories

         18  that you just expressed to us, and then when it

         19  comes to the penalty, you know, it's not meeting the

         20  horror story.

         21                 So, what are some of the reasons that

         22  people want to downgrade the penalty?

         23                 ASSEMBLYMAN SCARBOROUGH: Well, one of

         24  the problems that you have is that oftentimes you

         25  have a victim who by legal definition has committed
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          2  a crime. You know, the victim, even though they were

          3  smuggled in here, has actually come into the country

          4  illegally, so people want to look at that as a

          5  litigating factor. These young women, you know,

          6  regardless of how they got into that life, and let

          7  me tell you, once they get in it, they have less

          8  free choice than your average 16 or 17 year old.

          9  They are looked upon as prostitutes. You know,

         10  they're looked upon as people who have committed the

         11  crime of prostitution. And, so, those who would

         12  defend them, you know, are those, the criminal

         13  defense bar and others, who will say, well, you have

         14  to look at the fact that the victim is not an

         15  innocent victim.

         16                 So, those are some of the things that

         17  you're running into.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Yes, I can

         19  understand the victim, but what about the human

         20  trafficker? The person who is engaging in the

         21  selling, the trafficking and the penalties toward

         22  them?

         23                 ASSEMBLYMAN SCARBOROUGH: Well, there

         24  is that attempt to try to share the blame, you know.

         25  Okay, this person is guilty but the victim also is
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          2  not blameless.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: So they're

          4  saying because the victim is not blameless, we've

          5  got to --

          6                 ASSEMBLYMAN SCARBOROUGH: Yes, that

          7  there should be some shared blame, and all of this

          8  should not fall on that person. I mean, I disagree.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Yes, me too.

         10                 ASSEMBLYMAN SCARBOROUGH: Because once

         11  you hear the stories of how these people get into

         12  this, how they're enticed, and induced, and the kind

         13  of life they live once they're in there.

         14                 I mean, it's not even servitude, it's

         15  slavery, you know? It really is. But those are the

         16  kind of arguments that we hear.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Okay, thank

         18  you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Thank you, Council

         20  member.

         21                 Council Member Mark-Viverito has a

         22  question.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO: Yes,

         24  thank you, Madam Chair.

         25                 Thank you, Assemblyman, for being
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          2  here today.

          3                 ASSEMBLYMAN SCARBOROUGH: Thank you

          4  for having me.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO: Just

          6  for a couple of questions at the State level. We've

          7  talked a little bit there about the legislation and

          8  solutions with it. But I'm trying to understand from

          9  your perspective, if there has been any commitment

         10  from the Governor in terms of the budget process and

         11  monies allocated to address this issue specifically.

         12                 I know at the federal level there is

         13  a law that has been signed, that one of the elements

         14  of it is to provide services to the victims of

         15  trafficking. And so to what extent, if you're

         16  familiar, I know I'm not and that's why I guess I'm

         17  asking, are you aware of that those services are

         18  being provided? Is money being allocated at the

         19  State level to really assist in providing those

         20  services?

         21                 We've talked and alluded to the need

         22  for an educational campaign, to really raise

         23  awareness, not only as a community and as a City but

         24  also to raise awareness maybe among the victims that

         25  know, to know that there is help out there in some
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          2  way, although I'm sure it's very difficult

          3  sometimes. To what extent are we as a State really

          4  allocating any sort of money to assist in this?

          5                 ASSEMBLYMAN SCARBOROUGH: Well, the

          6  truth of the matter is that there is not a lot, if

          7  any, funding allocated for this specific problem.

          8                 The Office of Children and Family

          9  Services allocates a certain amount of money, for

         10  example, runaway and homeless youth. You know, and

         11  oftentimes these people can be put under this

         12  category.

         13                 There are funds for victims of

         14  violence, domestic violence and so on, but you know,

         15  it's kind of generally spread within the budget, and

         16  these funds are not specifically allocated for

         17  victims of human trafficking, whether it be labor

         18  servitude or sexual servitude. And so that's part of

         19  what we're working on also, is to get those services

         20  in place.

         21                 We have, I have a companion bill

         22  which was passed in the Assembly, which would

         23  specifically provide services, you know, would

         24  provide short-term housing, for example, if this

         25  person needed to testify on the criminal enterprise.
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          2  I mean, for example, in the case of a prostitute,

          3  you know, the pimp is not only her abuser, and is

          4  victimizing her, he's often her landlord. And, so,

          5  you know, if she has to testify in a criminal

          6  prosecution, oftentimes she has no place to go, and

          7  she needs to have short-term housing. She needs to

          8  be able to get an education, she needs to be able to

          9  get counseling for the traumatism that she's gone

         10  through, and in the case of let's say a young person

         11  who comes from a dysfunctional family and can't go

         12  back, or somebody who comes here from another

         13  country and has no contacts, they need relatively

         14  long-term housing.

         15                 So, we have to have those facilities

         16  in place, and that's what we're working on right

         17  now.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO: I guess

         19  a question, and maybe we would need to look into

         20  this more, is that, yes, we have this federal law

         21  that has these different components, and how does

         22  that translate at the State level, therefore then at

         23  the City level, in terms of money? Is it an unfunded

         24  mandate? Or is it that this law allows for

         25  additional resources to come to the State to really
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          2  serve this population and these victims. So, I think

          3  that's something that I'm kind of curious about.

          4                 ASSEMBLYMAN SCARBOROUGH: Yes.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO: Just

          6  one last question.

          7                 ASSEMBLYMAN SCARBOROUGH: Yes, go

          8  ahead.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO:

         10  Obviously we know that in the hopes here to raise

         11  visibility and really address this issue seriously

         12  here in the City, sometimes when you squeeze a

         13  certain area, you know, you see this surge in other

         14  areas. Have you seen that the human trafficking

         15  issue has really grown in any specific areas outside

         16  of New York City? I'm just kind of curious at the

         17  State level. We've seen this become a real problem

         18  in other key areas in the State.

         19                 ASSEMBLYMAN SCARBOROUGH: It's been a

         20  problem.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO: Where?

         22                 ASSEMBLYMAN SCARBOROUGH: It's a

         23  problem across the State. Are you talking about

         24  outside of New York itself?

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO: Right.
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          2  Outside of New York City.

          3                 ASSEMBLYMAN SCARBOROUGH: Well, yes.

          4  You have this issue Upstate, you know, just in

          5  general with the crackdown on crime in New York City

          6  and the pressure that has been put upon all

          7  criminals that has included pimps and so on, and so

          8  you see them now setting up in Albany, in Buffalo,

          9  in other parts of the State and they move around.

         10  And I guess that's the nature of their business,

         11  when it gets too hot in one place, they're going to

         12  take it some place else. So, yes, we're saying that.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO: Thank

         14  you, Assemblyman. Thank you, Madam Chair.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Thank you,

         16  Councilwoman.

         17                 Councilwoman Mealy, you have a

         18  question?

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY: Good morning.

         20                 ASSEMBLYMAN SCARBOROUGH: Good

         21  morning, Councilwoman.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY: It's good to

         23  have you, Senator.

         24                 I'm kind of going on Councilman

         25  Charles Barron. Could you explain to me -- you said
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          2  they change it from a B felony to a C felony. Some

          3  of these trafficker people are the ones who are

          4  getting victimized over and over again.

          5                 ASSEMBLYMAN SCARBOROUGH: Right.

          6  Mm-hmm.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY: Could you

          8  explain to me what is the penalty for the individual

          9  who brings someone over here and then put them into

         10  prostitution? What will be as saying a term, do they

         11  get one year?

         12                 ASSEMBLYMAN SCARBOROUGH: Yes. Let me

         13  go to --

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY: You never gave

         15  us a real answer on that.

         16                 ASSEMBLYMAN SCARBOROUGH: All right.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY: And we need to

         18  know that, because why they are getting off so

         19  easily -- and some of the individuals are here,

         20  they're here not because they want to. Some people

         21  probably was taken from their homes and their family

         22  and brought over here. Once they get here then

         23  they're sold into prostitution, and then when they

         24  get caught, then we penalize them. We put them

         25  through the whole process.
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          2                 ASSEMBLYMAN SCARBOROUGH: Right.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY: That should not

          4  be so. They should not be victimized again.

          5                 ASSEMBLYMAN SCARBOROUGH: I agree.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY: They didn't

          7  want to come here. Some wanted to stay in their

          8  country and stay with their family.

          9                 So, what are the terms. I know it

         10  changes from a B felony to a C felony specifically,

         11  how much time do they get?

         12                 ASSEMBLYMAN SCARBOROUGH: Let me

         13  clarify also, the penalty for let's say the original

         14  offense, the first offense is second degree. But in

         15  the instances either of labor servitude, or sexual

         16  servitude, where you're talking about somebody who

         17  has done this over and over, or if there are certain

         18  aggravating circumstances, it then becomes the first

         19  degree, human trafficking in the first degree, and

         20  that gives them the highest penalty.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY: Which will be?

         22                 ASSEMBLYMAN SCARBOROUGH: Yes, you're

         23  talking in some instances up to 25 years.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY: Do we have any

         25  statistics how many people really got 25 years?

                                                            69

          1  COMMITTEE ON WOMEN'S ISSUES

          2                 ASSEMBLYMAN SCARBOROUGH: Well, the

          3  law is not in place now. That's part of the problem.

          4  I mean, in the case of the pimps, I guess that's

          5  where I've studied the most, the frustrating thing

          6  is in many instances let's say that the child, the

          7  child prostitute and the pimp are arrested together,

          8  and the pimp is out the door before the prostitute,

          9  you know? And that is the issue that we're dealing

         10  with now. That's why we need to strengthen these

         11  penalties.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY: Okay. And

         13  that's really to me on a small local level, the

         14  pimps are small time to me. The traffickers are the

         15  ones who have enough money to get a boat and bring

         16  over at least 100 young ladies from other countries,

         17  and bring them here. How do we stop them? What kind

         18  of penalty do we have on people such as that?

         19                 ASSEMBLYMAN SCARBOROUGH: They are

         20  subject to the same penalty.

         21                 I personally don't make the

         22  distinction that you just made, I understand that.

         23  But to me, you know, based on what I've seen, it's

         24  equally heinous.

         25                 But the point is that that person
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          2  that you're talking about and the pimp, who has, you

          3  know, a harem of ten, 15 girls, they are both

          4  subject to the highest penalty under this bill.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY: Okay, then.

          6                 So, could you explain to me that bill

          7  that you passed already, in regards to you give them

          8  counseling.

          9                 ASSEMBLYMAN SCARBOROUGH: Right, okay.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY: Could you

         11  explain that to me a little bit more? How long do

         12  you give them their housing?

         13                 ASSEMBLYMAN SCARBOROUGH: Well, this,

         14  again, it applies to under-age people, and in most

         15  instances they're eligible up to age 18, because at

         16  that point --

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY: After 18 you

         18  send them out on their own?

         19                 ASSEMBLYMAN SCARBOROUGH: That's a

         20  whole another issue. We can talk about that a long

         21  time also.

         22                 But what the bill does, and it's

         23  Assembly 11365, and it develops short-term safe

         24  houses, which provides a facility that provides

         25  safe, secure, immediate and appropriate housing and
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          2  24-hour crisis intervention access, various medical

          3  care and other supportive services to the victim

          4  upon being taken into custody by law enforcement and

          5  during relevant legal proceeding it provides the

          6  victim with an advocate or employee who will

          7  accompany them through all legal proceedings. It

          8  provides for a safe house, which is a multi-purpose

          9  facility that provides safe, secure and appropriate

         10  potentially long-term housing for the victim and

         11  will make available diagnostic assessments,

         12  individual case management, medical care, substance

         13  abuse servicing, individual counseling, therapeutic

         14  services and educational services.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY: I have a last

         16  question.

         17                 Out of that program, what is your

         18  success rate with the individuals who never go back

         19  to that lucrative business. They find a nine to five

         20  job.

         21                 ASSEMBLYMAN SCARBOROUGH: You're

         22  talking in the hypothetical?

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY: Yes.

         24                 ASSEMBLYMAN SCARBOROUGH: Because for

         25  this most part, these services don't exist now.
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          2                 The sad thing, the type of services

          3  that I just described to you, there is only one

          4  place in the State of New York right now that

          5  provides that kind of service, specifically for this

          6  population, and it's an organization by the name of

          7  GEMS, Girls Educational Mentoring Services. They're

          8  located on, I believe 149th Street, in Manhattan.

          9  And they have had tremendous success. They are one

         10  of the groups that brought this whole situation to

         11  my attention, and their success rate has been

         12  tremendous. The problem is they're doing it all by

         13  themselves, and until this year they were doing it

         14  without any government support or funding.

         15                 So, we need to change that

         16  environment.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY: Thank you so

         18  much. Looking forward to it.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Thank you.

         20                 We have been joined by Councilman

         21  Sanders. And before I call on him, because I know

         22  you're his assemblyman --

         23                 ASSEMBLYMAN SCARBOROUGH: He's my

         24  Councilman.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: That John Liu has
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          2  a brief question.

          3                 ASSEMBLYMAN SCARBOROUGH: John.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Thank you very

          5  much, Madam Chairperson.

          6                 And thank you, Assemblyman, for

          7  joining us today.

          8                 ASSEMBLYMAN SCARBOROUGH: Thank you.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Unfortunately, I

         10  had to step out for a few minutes during your

         11  testimony.

         12                 Did we ask about the penalties for

         13  the buyers? And the disparity between the penalties

         14  for people who pay to have sex with a child, versus

         15  people who rape a child?

         16                 ASSEMBLYMAN SCARBOROUGH: Yes. That is

         17  also addressed in the bill. I would have to find

         18  these specifics. But I do know that A.1898 increases

         19  the penalties for engaging in sex with a child, or,

         20  you know, for the person who is at the other end of

         21  this transaction. If you want to give me a minute, I

         22  can probably find it for you.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Okay.

         24                 And then I heard you read off the

         25  litany of provisions in the bill, including
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          2  services, and services for the trafficking victims

          3  and helping them through the legal process. What

          4  about a criminal defense against charges of

          5  prostitution? If you are indeed the victim of

          6  trafficking?

          7                 ASSEMBLYMAN SCARBOROUGH: Well, the

          8  bill allows the person, victim -- I'm trying to find

          9  the exact sentencing. But anyway, it allows that

         10  person's status as a victim to be an affirmative

         11  defense against the crime. So, the fact that they

         12  are a victim, if this bill is passed, would be a

         13  legal defense against being charged with those

         14  crimes.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Okay, great.

         16  Thank you very much, Madam Chair. And thank you,

         17  Assemblyman.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Thank you.

         19                 Councilman Sanders, you have a

         20  question?

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS: Thank you,

         22  Madam Chair. I think that this hearing is very, very

         23  important to the people of New York City and to the

         24  people of this country, as should be to the people

         25  of this world. I believe that you're doing an
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          2  excellent job. It's good to see you, Assemblyman.

          3                 ASSEMBLYMAN SCARBOROUGH: It's good to

          4  see you, Mr. Councilman.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS: We're going

          6  to have to call you in more often so I can see you

          7  more.

          8                 ASSEMBLYMAN SCARBOROUGH: I don't

          9  usually get to roam these halls that often.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS: We'll work on

         11  that. We'll see what we can do about that, but we

         12  have to find a more comfortable chair for you, not

         13  on that side. We'll figure something out.

         14                 ASSEMBLYMAN SCARBOROUGH: Okay.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS: I do want to

         16  confirm your commitment to this issue where this is

         17  not just something that you have came up here and

         18  made a presentation.

         19                 ASSEMBLYMAN SCARBOROUGH: No.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS: This is

         21  something that you do in your own district. This is

         22  something that your commitment to the community and

         23  to this particular community speaks well of you,

         24  sir, and we are very grateful to have you as our

         25  Assemblyman down in there, in the 31st, or my
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          2  portion of it.

          3                 I would, of course, remind all of us

          4  that this is all, this international problem has

          5  local manifestations. We occasionally have trouble

          6  with our airport hotels in other places in our own

          7  district, so this is not just some Manhattan or

          8  Upper Queens problem. This is a problem that sadly

          9  seeps into the life of every community and we need

         10  to work on it.

         11                 I'm wondering, is there a way, and I

         12  suspect that you have to work more with a federal

         13  government to this, that not only do we increase the

         14  penalties on the suppliers, on the big suppliers,

         15  this is a big international business, that we not

         16  only increase the penalty on the suppliers, we, of

         17  course, as Council Member Liu has pointed out, we

         18  just increase the penalties on those who participate

         19  in such a wretched trade. But I'm not sure if this

         20  nation has a list of countries that condone or

         21  participate in the trafficking of its own citizens.

         22  I know that there is a list for countries that in

         23  theory participate in terrorism, and there are lists

         24  of countries that participate in drug smuggling, and

         25  we have sanctions against those countries. I'm not
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          2  sure if we have such a list on human trafficking,

          3  and if we do, what type of sanctions we can impose

          4  on these countries to ensure that they get out of

          5  the trade completely. If you knew, this would be

          6  great. If you don't, then let's work together to

          7  find out.

          8                 ASSEMBLYMAN SCARBOROUGH: You're right

          9  that it would be, of course, federal jurisdiction,

         10  but what we have found, and I think maybe contrary

         11  to popular belief, is that human trafficking happens

         12  in almost every country in the world. You know, we

         13  kind of think of it in terms of coming from certain

         14  places, developing countries or the far east and so

         15  on and so forth, but it occurs in every country in

         16  the world. And many of them from many different

         17  countries are coming here to the United States, and

         18  this is why I say the frustrating thing is that this

         19  has kind of flown under the radar screen for a long

         20  time, but it is a worldwide problem.

         21                 I mean, you're dealing with

         22  oftentimes when you talk about the international

         23  trade, simply the fact that people wanted to go

         24  through the one place to another place where they

         25  feel they can find a better life and be seduced and
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          2  coerced, you know, in the course of taking that

          3  action.

          4                 So, you know, again when you're

          5  talking about whether or not the government condones

          6  or assists or looks the other way, you know, you're

          7  talking about a whole huge problem. Certainly need

          8  to look at it, and I'm hopeful that as a result of

          9  these hearings, the publicity and the spotlight that

         10  we're trying to put on this problem and the steps

         11  that hopefully will be taken will continue to go up

         12  the line so that those issues can be addressed also,

         13  what's happening in the home country, what are they

         14  doing, you know, to prevent this from happening.

         15                 But you can't just localize it to a

         16  few countries. It's everywhere.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS: Well, then,

         18  assemblyman, I will continue to work with you on

         19  this one and other problems that we confront. Keep

         20  up the good work. This is a great issue -- a

         21  horrific issue, if you wish.

         22                 ASSEMBLYMAN SCARBOROUGH: It is.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS: A great issue

         24  to put attention to. Thank you very much.

         25                 ASSEMBLYMAN SCARBOROUGH: Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: I really want to

          3  thank you for coming down from Albany and for really

          4  speaking on this.

          5                 It hasn't surprised the Committee

          6  really, but it's amazing now this issue has been, as

          7  you said, everybody's radar. And when the Justice

          8  Department says 600 to 800,000 annually, and that

          9  New York City is the port of entry for most of them,

         10  80 percent of that number are women and children,

         11  it's pretty staggering that we have really not

         12  brought to light. So, what you're doing in Albany

         13  helps greatly.

         14                 And I know in Congress, Carolyn

         15  Maloney has also introduced a bill there, and she

         16  was here the other day. So, hopefully, and with this

         17  Committee, we will look at, what do you think we can

         18  do on the City level? Recognizing that there is a

         19  State law and there's a federal law and hopefully

         20  there will be a State law and your bill will get us

         21  further to that point, what can we do in the City

         22  that can be the responsibility of City government in

         23  order to make this a three level responsibility?

         24                 ASSEMBLYMAN SCARBOROUGH: Well,

         25  certainly what you're doing to date by raising
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          2  awareness and putting the spotlight on what's being

          3  done, it would help if City government could find

          4  funds to assist local law enforcement, and local

          5  community groups that are working on this issue.

          6                 It would help if the City itself

          7  would take this as part of their legislative

          8  priorities. As you know, the City has a legislative

          9  office in Albany, and they are very effective in

         10  lobbying for City issues, and if that can become

         11  part of their official agenda, and if they would

         12  take that on as a lobbying and a priority item, that

         13  would certainly help us move it along in Albany.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: We have proposed

         15  that for our agenda, for getting up to Albany coming

         16  from this Committee.

         17                 ASSEMBLYMAN SCARBOROUGH: We're on the

         18  same page.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: So, we're right on

         20  target with you then. I appreciate that.

         21                 I think we're joined by your

         22  colleague, Assemblyman Dinowitz.

         23                 ASSEMBLYMAN SCARBOROUGH: Well, he can

         24  certainly speak with more authority than I can.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: No, but I really
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          2  want to thank you. I mean, we have lots of

          3  questions, but we're not going to detain you any

          4  longer. I think that certainly what we can do in

          5  Albany, we will do. If it means testifying, if there

          6  are hearings on those bills, certainly we will look

          7  to do that.

          8                 ASSEMBLYMAN SCARBOROUGH: Okay.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: And I think the

         10  Committee is very committed to advancing this issue

         11  and to see that we get those numbers reduced

         12  tremendously.

         13                 So, thank you very much for coming.

         14                 ASSEMBLYMAN SCARBOROUGH: I'm pleased

         15  that you're taking this on, and I'm sure it's going

         16  to help us to move it ahead.

         17                 And Jeffrey and I are committed to

         18  doing that.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Thank you. We'll

         20  keep letting you know exactly what the City is

         21  doing.

         22                 ASSEMBLYMAN SCARBOROUGH: Okay, thank

         23  you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: I'm sure you'll

         25  hear about that.
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          2                 Thank you very much.

          3                 ASSEMBLYMAN SCARBOROUGH: Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: And before I call

          5  on Assemblyman Dinowitz, who has just arrived,

          6  anybody who wants to speak and who has not signed

          7  up, now is the time to do that, because we do have

          8  panels of speakers.

          9                 Assemblyman Dinowitz, here you are.

         10  Thank you for joining us, really. Thank you very

         11  much.

         12                 I have to say that you will find

         13  colleagues coming in and out. There are so many

         14  hearings here this morning and they're at 250

         15  Broadway. So, the members come and they go and they

         16  come back again. So, thanks for your patience. Good

         17  morning. Or good afternoon, almost, right?

         18                 ASSEMBLYMAN DINOWITZ: First of all,

         19  thank you for having this hearing. I didn't actually

         20  know about it until yesterday afternoon, so I don't

         21  have any written statement for you, so I'm just

         22  going to kind of just make a few remarks off the top

         23  of my head.

         24                 First, I just want to thank you for

         25  putting forth this resolution because I think
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          2  everything that can be done to bring to life the

          3  issue of human trafficking in the State of New York

          4  is very Important, and although laws have to be

          5  passed, I guess for the most part, on the federal

          6  and state levels, it's important for every level of

          7  government to be engaged in this process and

          8  involved in this issue.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Excuse me. If I

         10  can interrupt you, if you can just announce your

         11  name for the record.

         12                 ASSEMBLYMAN DINOWITZ: Oh, okay. I

         13  thought we did that. Assemblyman Jeffrey Dinowitz,

         14  part of the Bronx.

         15                 In 2000, the United States Congress

         16  passed a law which was signed by President Clinton

         17  addressing the issue of human trafficking and was a

         18  hope that that law would help, what we suspect are

         19  many thousands and thousands of victims of human

         20  trafficking throughout the United States, and these

         21  victims are people who come from both outside the

         22  United States as well as people within the United

         23  States. As it turned out, it became clearer and

         24  clearer over the past few years that we needed to

         25  pass laws on the State level as well, in order to
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          2  bring State and local law enforcement into the

          3  process, because the federal government just didn't

          4  have enough resources to really address the issue in

          5  the way that it needs to be addressed, because as I

          6  said, we believe there are many thousands of victims

          7  of trafficking, both for purposes of sexual

          8  servitude, as well as labor servitude.

          9                 At the end of 2004, I introduced

         10  legislation in the State Assembly on the issue of

         11  human trafficking, and, in fact, in 2005, we had two

         12  bills, one dealing with criminal statute and a

         13  second one dealing with services to victims. I

         14  believed at the time, and still very much strongly

         15  believe that when we pass a law in New York, we need

         16  to both enact very strong criminal penalties, but

         17  also ensure that those people who are victims are

         18  going to receive services to address their needs,

         19  and if we do one without the other, we're really not

         20  doing a complete job. There are two sides of the

         21  coin and we have to deal with both sides of the

         22  coin.

         23                 In 2005, the second of the two bills

         24  dealing with services was introduced later in the

         25  session in the State Assembly, and nothing much was
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          2  done in Albany, except the bill is being introduced.

          3  We worked with a number of people, with a lot of

          4  groups, various advocate groups, some of whom I see

          5  are here today, have been working on this issue for

          6  a long time. We've reached out to a lot of

          7  organizations and many people that are involved in

          8  this process, but of course, things creep along in

          9  the State capital.

         10                 But what the Speaker of the Assembly

         11  did promise, and what we did do in 2005 was we first

         12  held a roundtable bringing together any experts on

         13  the issue, because the truth is, even though this is

         14  such a terrible problem, most people are unaware of

         15  it, very few legislators even know about it, and,

         16  therefore, what to do about it. And then that was

         17  followed by a hearing by the State Assembly last, I

         18  think it was last November, at 250 Broadway, and the

         19  Assembly Codes Committee, the Assembly Labor

         20  Committee and the Children and Families Committee,

         21  Chaired by Assemblyman Scarborough, held a joint

         22  hearing and we heard the testimony of a number of

         23  experts on this issue and so it became very clear to

         24  many of my colleagues in the State Assembly that

         25  this is not an issue which can be ignored.
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          2                 Even though many, if not most of the

          3  victims are not, you know, they're not on the front

          4  page, they're not the type of victims that you're

          5  going to see Fox News covering for two months,

          6  they're not the typical poster children that make

          7  the news, you know, I mean I don't want to

          8  characterize some of the people you see on TV,

          9  sometimes if somebody is, you know, a kidnapping

         10  victim, it's like the front, the lead story on some

         11  of these TV stations for months. Well, the people

         12  who are victims here just don't fit that profile. In

         13  any case, they're not always, it's not always

         14  apparent to most people that this is even a problem.

         15  But it is a problem.

         16                 In fact, earlier this year, in

         17  Rockland County there was an arrest made of people

         18  who were perpetrators of this terrible crime, except

         19  in New York this is not a crime as such. There are

         20  crimes that people can be charged for when engaged

         21  in trafficking, perhaps promoting prostitution, for

         22  example, in some cases kidnapping, but there is

         23  nothing in the law that specifically refers to human

         24  trafficking. It's not all put together in the law in

         25  one place in the State and it's important that we do
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          2  that.

          3                 So, we went through a process this

          4  year in the State Legislature. The bill that I

          5  introduced went through several changes, some for

          6  the better, some not for the better, and we combined

          7  the two bills into one bill, dealing with services

          8  and dealing with criminal penalties.

          9                 By the end of the legislative session

         10  what happened is the State Assembly passed one bill,

         11  the State Senate passed a different bill, neither of

         12  which, in my opinion, were totally adequate to deal

         13  with the issue. But I think the assembly bill was a

         14  good bill, but it wasn't -- I think we can do even

         15  better. And the State Senate bill didn't really deal

         16  with the issue of services to victims, whether it's,

         17  you know, medical services, psychological, legal

         18  help. But our bill not only creates a number of new

         19  categories of crimes and felonies ranging from E

         20  felonies up to B felonies, but it also has other

         21  aspects that are very important.

         22                 For example, it's very important, in

         23  my view, to treat the people who are victims as

         24  victims, and right now many people are treated as

         25  criminals, arrested as prostitutes, for example.
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          2                 Getting back to what I was starting

          3  to say in Rockland County, when they recognized that

          4  this was a serious problem, the Rockland Legislature

          5  passed a resolution asking the State to pass our

          6  bill, and I think as other jurisdictions experienced

          7  this issue, they're going to come to the same

          8  conclusion.

          9                 In the Assembly, we've put together a

         10  coalition of, I think we're up to 108 Assembly

         11  members who are sponsors of this bill now. Now,

         12  that's quite unusual. We have people on both sides

         13  of the aisle, most of the democrats and most of the

         14  republicans. We have, you know, over two-thirds of

         15  the Legislature on the bill because I think that

         16  people of both political parties have seen the

         17  tremendous need for New York to address this issue.

         18                 In fact, a couple of the people I see

         19  here brought one of the survivors of trafficking to

         20  the floor of the Assembly and she was introduced by

         21  myself and other colleagues, and after hearing her

         22  story, the Assembly gave her a standing ovation. And

         23  it really touched a lot of people, and made people

         24  realize that we have to act.

         25                 And what hasn't happened is for there
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          2  to be an agreement between two Houses, and while

          3  that's not unusual in Albany, sometimes things take

          4  a lot longer than we'd like it to take, I don't

          5  think that we need to take any longer. Because by

          6  not passing a law this past session, that will mean

          7  another six months to a year for more people to be

          8  victims of this heinous crime.

          9                 And I think by the Council passing a

         10  resolution and speaking out very strongly on the

         11  issue, hopefully that will be another ingredient to

         12  push the Legislature to understand that this has to

         13  be a top priority, just like we addressed other

         14  types of crimes this year, whether it's DNA database

         15  or eliminating the statute of limitations on rape,

         16  other important things, this has to be important

         17  also. And because the victims aren't necessarily the

         18  people that we read about all the time, doesn't mean

         19  that it doesn't deserve the full attention of the

         20  Legislature.

         21                 So I hope that you will pass this

         22  resolution. I will be very pleased and happy to work

         23  with you, as we have been with many of the advocates

         24  that are here today.

         25                 And if we can make this my bill, and
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          2  even a stronger version of the bill, I hope, into

          3  law in the State of New York, we will have made a

          4  difference in the lives of thousands of people for

          5  the better, and therefore, what else are we in

          6  business here for as elected officials but to try to

          7  help people and to try to make people's lives

          8  better.

          9                 So, again, thank you for having a

         10  hearing on your resolution, and I hope you will pass

         11  it and then we can all work together to try to make

         12  a law in New York.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Thank you very

         14  much. It's really good to hear you emphasize just

         15  how serious this issue is, because it's kind of

         16  amazing that the awareness of it is so small, if at

         17  all, and hopefully we are doing that by having this

         18  hearing, and by having government officials and the

         19  advocates whom you will hear from very shortly. And

         20  you can be assured the Committee is going to do all

         21  that it has to do and can do, so that we can have

         22  this recognized and treated as it should.

         23                 I made the comment earlier that I had

         24  read some numbers from the Department of Justice

         25  calling this issue the third largest in organized
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          2  crime of revenue. Worldwide it's eight- to

          3  ten-billion dollars.

          4                 ASSEMBLYMAN DINOWITZ: It's behind the

          5  selling of illegal arms and illegal drugs, the

          6  selling, or trade of people is number three

          7  worldwide. That's absolutely correct.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Though it seems

          9  like we cannot ignore it any further.

         10                 Are there any questions from my

         11  colleagues for the Assemblyman? You've been very

         12  clear and concise and we really appreciate your

         13  coming.

         14                 Just one. Councilwoman.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO: Thank

         16  you, Madam Chair, and I think it's more of a

         17  statement.

         18                 I had made a note here before you

         19  spoke that I wanted to at least talk about that we

         20  just not need to look at this as a criminal issue,

         21  that we really do need to also look at it from the

         22  social service aspect, as well, which is what you

         23  highlight, and I'm really encouraged to hear that

         24  and that your legislation is presenting it that way

         25  and I think it's very critical.
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          2                 I know that we've spoken a lot about

          3  the criminal aspects here, and in terms of terms and

          4  when people are arrested, et cetera, but I don't

          5  really want to forget that we need to allocate money

          6  to address the victims and to help the victims, and

          7  also to educate ourselves as a City about this

          8  issue, because I think as we raise awareness about

          9  it and talk about this, the victims won't feel alone

         10  in this process, and maybe they hopefully would be

         11  somewhat encouraged to seek help at some point. But

         12  we obviously need to outreach to them.

         13                 I think that looking at it from that

         14  angle is very important and not to be overlooked,

         15  that it's not just an enforcement issue alone. So, I

         16  want to thank you for all the efforts that you've

         17  taken on this issue and your leadership on it.

         18                 ASSEMBLYMAN DINOWITZ: Okay, thank

         19  you. Thank you very much.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Thank you.

         21                 Our next speaker is from the Brooklyn

         22  DA's office. Deidre Bialo-Padill? Thank you for

         23  being so patient.

         24                 MS. BIALO-PADILL: My name is a

         25  mouthful. First of all, I'd like to say on behalf of
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          2  District Attorney Hynes that we really appreciate

          3  the opportunity to talk on this issue before the

          4  Council this morning, and heading towards this

          5  afternoon.

          6                 Since this is on short notice, I

          7  apologize I don't have any written notes, but I

          8  think I'm just going to --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: We're just

         10  delighted you're here. That's fine.

         11                 MS. BIALO-PADILL: Okay, thank you.

         12                 I will start off with, I know many

         13  people in the audience are much more involved on a

         14  grassroots level with working directly with victims

         15  of human trafficking. It's a very complicated issue.

         16  And I would like to start off by using an example of

         17  a case that our office prosecuted as a way of

         18  highlighting many of the issues.

         19                 So, to start off with, in late 2001,

         20  two Mexican teenagers were found wandering in the

         21  area of 42nd Street in Manhattan. One was 15, one

         22  was 16. And they had been traveling the subway all

         23  night. They didn't speak English. They were

         24  exhausted, in pain, lost, very poorly dressed for

         25  the weather, hungry and scared.
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          2                 As the business, as the commuters

          3  started coming into the subway early in the morning,

          4  they finally stopped somebody, because according to

          5  them, she looked like she came from the same town

          6  they did in Mexico. According to the story that they

          7  told this good samaritan, they had just escaped from

          8  a brothel, that they had been forced to prostitute

          9  themselves for three weeks straight, working 24

         10  hours a day. They serviced 50 men. And as a result

         11  of that, they were in physically poor condition,

         12  with extensive internal injuries.

         13                 This is an example of how our office

         14  found out about the trafficking, purely by accident,

         15  because it turned out that the good samaritan was,

         16  herself, a former victim of domestic violence. I

         17  should say that I am the Chief of the Domestic

         18  Violence Bureau in the District Attorney's Office,

         19  and we have a counseling unit that works with all

         20  victims of crime, but we also have counselors that

         21  work specifically with domestic violence.

         22                 So, this good samaritan had had,

         23  since she had been a domestic violence victim, had

         24  had prior contact with my office, specifically had a

         25  very good experience with one of our counselors,
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          2  Deli Perez, and the good samaritan took in these two

          3  young ladies and provided them with shelter and

          4  food. The two young ladies were very scared and

          5  reluctant to talk to anybody but because of the

          6  woman's previous excellent experience working with

          7  one of our counselors, she persuaded them to come

          8  with her. She didn't know Deli's address, but she

          9  knew that she had met her at the 72nd Precinct in

         10  Brooklyn.

         11                 So, the two teenagers were brought to

         12  the precinct and were persuaded to talk to the

         13  detective there, who is also a member of our office,

         14  in order to sort out the details of what had

         15  happened to them, and also one of them was sent to

         16  the hospital for some medical treatment.

         17                 And their story was that in Mexico

         18  the oldest teenager had been courted for three

         19  months by the person who I guess we would

         20  characterize as the trafficker and pimp. He gave her

         21  gifts. He met with her parents in a very formal

         22  traditional manner, and from her perspective she

         23  thought that they were boyfriend and girlfriend.

         24                 After about three months he brought

         25  her to an apartment in Mexico, left her alone for
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          2  about two weeks. She was given food but she was

          3  locked in, and there was no access by telephone and

          4  no visitors.

          5                 She was then brought to a brothel in

          6  Mexico where she was repeatedly raped and then he

          7  brought her to his mother's house, and locked her

          8  in.

          9                 In the meantime, he went searching

         10  for other additional vulnerable teenagers. He did

         11  the same thing in courting in developing a

         12  boyfriend/girlfriend relationship with a 13-year-old

         13  who will figure into the story that I'm telling. And

         14  then finally he met with a 15-year-old teenager who

         15  was vulnerable because she did not have a good

         16  relationship with her father. He was in a bar, and

         17  he overheard a conversation that she was having with

         18  friends. She was drunk. She didn't get along with

         19  her dad. She missed her mom who was living in New

         20  York City, and spoke of her desire to be with her

         21  mother and see her.

         22                 And while an accomplice separated her

         23  sister from her side and kept her distracted, the

         24  pimp pretended, using the information that he had

         25  heard in this conversation, that he was, in fact, a
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          2  long distant cousin. And he offered to take her to

          3  New York for nothing, for free, and she agreed.

          4                 And he then took her to her (sic)

          5  mother's house. He separated all three girls and

          6  told them that they couldn't talk to each other. And

          7  he took all of their possessions, including all of

          8  their personal documents that they had with them,

          9  and repeatedly beat them and raped them in Mexico.

         10                 He then took them to the United

         11  States, a long and convoluted route, and brought

         12  them to a safe home in Brooklyn.

         13                 None of them spoke English, nor could

         14  they read it or write it, and they had no idea where

         15  they were. They had been moved from one place to

         16  another, and because they had been kept in the

         17  brothel, they couldn't even name streets. They

         18  didn't know Queens, you know, maybe they thought it

         19  was a small town. They knew that one of the mothers

         20  lived in Queens. No address, no phone number, and no

         21  idea where to go looking for her.

         22                 So, there they were in a safe house

         23  in Brooklyn. He took all of their clothing and made

         24  them wear scanty lingerie and no underwear to make

         25  sure that any money they might earn as a result of
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          2  prostituting themselves, they wouldn't keep for

          3  themselves.

          4                 They were escorted everywhere, and

          5  they had no contact with anyone that might be able

          6  to offer them assistance. It was a matter of pure

          7  accident that a prostitute who was willingly in the

          8  brothel recognized their situation and that it was

          9  not legal, and using a ruse she gave them an

         10  opportunity, the two older teenagers, the 15 and the

         11  16 year old, to leave the brothel for chips and a

         12  soda. And the 13 year old saw what was happening and

         13  accompanied them out, and that's when they escaped.

         14  They fortunately had a little bit of money they

         15  hadn't turned over yet. And that's the situation

         16  they found themselves in. They were wandering the

         17  subway system and were lost, didn't know what to do.

         18                 The 13 year old at some point left

         19  them and we've never been able to find her or help

         20  her. Neither has the Police Department.

         21                 So, the Police Department took this

         22  story. They had no idea of where to begin looking

         23  for the pimp that had done this to these two young

         24  ladies. It's pure accident that when one of them

         25  went to the hospital she recognized the building
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          2  because she had seen that building from the window

          3  of the brothel.

          4                 She, as a result of what she had been

          5  through, was so traumatized -- and I should say,

          6  getting this information to begin with was

          7  incredibly difficult, because these two teenagers

          8  had essentially been beaten into submission. They

          9  would not voluntarily talk to law enforcement, had

         10  it not been that they developed a feeling of trust

         11  for the good samaritan, who facilitated their

         12  willingness to talk to anybody.

         13                 So, the teenager recognized the

         14  hospital and they still had the phone number for the

         15  pimp. The teenagers, scared but willing, telephoned

         16  him from the hospital, lured him to the hospital

         17  where he was subsequently arrested.

         18                 What I should say is that while the

         19  case was pending, he did ultimately go to trial and

         20  he was convicted, and I'm going to address the

         21  results of that in a moment, because, again, it

         22  highlights other issues that the statute needs to

         23  take into consideration.

         24                 While the Defendant was in jail, he

         25  telephoned his father in Mexico, and the father then
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          2  went to the families of these two young girls in

          3  Mexico with the attempt to intimidate them.

          4                 Fortunately for the two teenagers,

          5  these parents were very concerned, very active in

          6  the children's lives, and turned it around and

          7  intimidated the father. That's not always the case.

          8  So, here we have, in an effort to intimidate the

          9  families in the country of origin.

         10                 We were then faced, while the case

         11  was pending, with the issue of how do you provide

         12  services and protection for teenagers, specifically

         13  undocumented, under-aged immigrants? And, frankly,

         14  if you're an undocumented alien, there are

         15  practically no services that are available. Okay? No

         16  social services at all.

         17                 If you are working with a counselor,

         18  you get access to perhaps a food pantry. If you can

         19  fit under the category of a domestic violence victim

         20  maybe there's a shelter, but as any service provider

         21  in this room will tell you, there are never enough

         22  beds, period. And if you are a teenager underage,

         23  and who has perhaps committed a crime, you're not

         24  going to get access to those shelters. They really

         25  have no place to go.
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          2                 Temporarily my office, and, remember,

          3  we're a City agency with very limited funds, put

          4  them up in a hotel room and recognized how much that

          5  cost, the money was provided for food and

          6  transportation. That's only a temporary measure

          7  because those teenagers were entitled for

          8  assistance, for education, you know, job training.

          9  And we couldn't find the mother. It took us a couple

         10  of years before we found her, and as I said, the

         11  domestic violence shelters couldn't take them. If

         12  you put them into the general population shelter

         13  they would disappear, just as the 13 year old

         14  disappeared, and perhaps they'd be in even more

         15  physical danger.

         16                 So, there we were.

         17                 Fortunately, Deli Perez, who is a

         18  very determined and assertive advocate, persuaded

         19  the Mexican Consulate to offer assistance. That was

         20  not a sure thing at all and it took some

         21  negotiation.

         22                 The Mexican Consulate was able to

         23  provide shelter for these two young girls in a

         24  convent, provided money for counseling. Juhu Thukral

         25  (phonetic) of the Urban Justice Center took on their

                                                            102

          1  COMMITTEE ON WOMEN'S ISSUES

          2  immigration issues and sought two visas for both of

          3  them and the process took years.

          4                 As I said, we obtained a conviction,

          5  and he went to jail for four to 12 years. He was

          6  charged with many offenses that could have gotten

          7  him significantly more time in jail.

          8                 The counselors that I spoke with that

          9  had worked with these two teenagers and observed the

         10  trial, their impression was that a jury had a

         11  problem with a lot of the statutory definitions, was

         12  force used, because, remember, to some extent they

         13  entered the country voluntarily. And then their

         14  biggest hurdle was the activity these two teenagers

         15  were engaged in. So, we're talking about people's

         16  preconceptions and prejudices towards prostitutes,

         17  and they were concerned with that they had entered

         18  the country illegally. And from the counselor's

         19  perspective, they thought that that might have

         20  something to do with why he wasn't convicted of the

         21  more serious offenses.

         22                 So, what this does is highlight some

         23  of the issues. The hurdles that law enforcement

         24  faces with engaging the trust and cooperation of

         25  someone who is a victim of human trafficking. The

                                                            103

          1  COMMITTEE ON WOMEN'S ISSUES

          2  recognition that someone who is a victim of human

          3  trafficking may have only very limited information

          4  about the structure of the ring or, and this is a

          5  very small organization, basically a family member,

          6  a father and his son. But because of their being

          7  isolated and many other hurdles, they may be able

          8  only to identify the immediate person who is

          9  supervising their behavior.

         10                 Then you've got the issue of how do

         11  you go investigating something where that person

         12  could only provide limited information, and then you

         13  have the social issue of what do you do to overcome

         14  the inherent prejudice that our society has?

         15                 You've got an issue as a prosecutor

         16  of the credibility of the witnesses that you put on

         17  the stand. In order to have a viable prosecution, we

         18  would need more than the victim's testimony,

         19  especially somebody who has been convicted of

         20  crimes, repeatedly provide various aliases, entered

         21  the country illegally. Even if she, herself, is a

         22  victim and my office recognizes obviously that these

         23  two children were victims of crime.

         24                 In order to prosecute and get

         25  significant jail time, there needs to be an
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          2  extensive investigation.

          3                 Here we have the corroboration

          4  because one of the teenagers actually ended up in

          5  the hospital with even more long-lasting injuries,

          6  and so her case was compelling.

          7                 What you also have here is presented

          8  the classic scenario of the danger of cooperating

          9  with law enforcement because families in the home

         10  country can themselves be endangered. And while we

         11  can protect the victims here in the United States,

         12  there is not much that we can do for the very

         13  realistic threat facing families in the home

         14  country.

         15                 So, with that example in mind, what

         16  Mr. Hynes wants to communicate is that, yes, he

         17  supports human trafficking State legislation because

         18  there may be human trafficking victims whose

         19  situations don't comfortably fit into other offenses

         20  listed in the penal law, and these cases may not,

         21  some cases may not be suitable for federal

         22  prosecution because you're talking a small number of

         23  individuals. And the enactment of State legislation

         24  will raise public awareness and perhaps change some

         25  of the preconceptions that the public has about who
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          2  is being trafficked and what's being happened to

          3  them, and what's more, to also encourage training,

          4  public education initiatives and enable us to begin

          5  the quantifying of the extent of human trafficking

          6  in New York State. The numbers that you quoted,

          7  they're all soft numbers, whether you're talking the

          8  City, the State, the nation or internationally, and

          9  it's soft, because as a speaker before me said, this

         10  is happening below the radar.

         11                 What he feels, what Mr. Hynes feels

         12  is that it's important to bring everybody to the

         13  table to draft the actual language of the statute.

         14  As I said, it's a complicated issue, needs to be

         15  consensus among victim advocates, immigration

         16  attorneys working with human trafficking victims and

         17  you need to bring federal and State law enforcement

         18  and prosecutors to the same table, because there

         19  needs to be an understanding of how State

         20  legislation interfaces with federal laws. There has

         21  to be a collaborative approach to human trafficking

         22  to ensure the safety of the human trafficking victim

         23  because we have to make sure that a human

         24  trafficking victim can access services, and there

         25  may be a decision ultimately that cases may be more
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          2  appropriately should be handled on the federal

          3  level, and that there is no question that there are

          4  more services available right now for human victims

          5  -- for human trafficking victims on the federal

          6  level.

          7                 So, if you're going to go forward

          8  with the State prosecution, it's a very complicated

          9  process.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Okay, if I can

         11  interrupt you?

         12                 MS. BIALO-PADILL: Sure.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: And ask you a

         14  question so you can summarize.

         15                 What would the District Attorney like

         16  to see very specifically in State legislation that

         17  would be able for you to adopt a policy about human

         18  trafficking?

         19                 MS. BIALO-PADILL: You'd have to start

         20  off with money.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Identify it. We

         22  know about the budgets and what you need for money.

         23  But what would you like to see that would be more of

         24  a tool than what you have now that would be able to

         25  prosecute very comfortably, once you identify human
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          2  trafficking, is the problem.

          3                 MS. BIALO-PADILL: I would say I don't

          4  think it would be useful right now to talk about the

          5  actual language of the statute.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: I'm not talking

          7  about the actual language. I'm talking about what

          8  would be necessary in any kind of legislation that

          9  would enable you to identify the human trafficking

         10  and to be able to prosecute legally?

         11                 MS. BIALO-PADILL: What international

         12  visitors to my office have told me, I would say that

         13  in Europe and other parts of the world they are very

         14  familiar with human trafficking because the borders

         15  are closer. And it's really about tracing the money.

         16  It is a very extensive investigation, and whether

         17  it's the prosecutor or the Police Department, we're

         18  talking about surveillance, we're talking about

         19  identifying through videotape, eavesdropping,

         20  warrants, financial checks, and to corroborate the

         21  allegations, the victim's whose is going to be

         22  questioned, and also to identify the major players.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Okay. All right, I

         24  think you've made your point. And your testimony is

         25  very helpful to us. We're going to have to move on
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          2  because we have other speakers.

          3                 I think you've made some very

          4  specific points. Any questions any members of the

          5  Committee have?

          6                 MS. BIALO-PADILL: Let me just comment

          7  briefly, because I think --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Would you sum up

          9  very quickly?

         10                 MS. BIALO-PADILL: Sure.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Because we have a

         12  lot of speakers.

         13                 MS. BIALO-PADILL: The one thing is

         14  that we wind up identifying trafficking victims

         15  because they present as victims of assault, sexual

         16  offenses, immigration fraud, et cetera.

         17                 What we also have contact with,

         18  traffic victims through programs as alternatives to

         19  incarceration because we discovered that many

         20  defendants, for example, prostitutes, are themselves

         21  trafficking victims, and these programs are designed

         22  to not only reduce recidivism but also to provide

         23  information and medical assistance for prostitutes

         24  in order to persuade them not to engage in the

         25  activity.
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          2                 But it's very limited what we can do.

          3  We're talking about six weeks, which is never a

          4  six-weeks program. We have individuals who speak

          5  Russian, Spanish, various dialects of Chinese, and

          6  who are not going to trust law enforcement. There

          7  has to be collaborative effort. It's going to be the

          8  information from grassroots organizations who can

          9  work with the victims simultaneously as law

         10  enforcement.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: We're going to

         12  hear from them and I think they will add to what

         13  you're saying.

         14                 Thank you very much. If there are no

         15  questions for this witness --

         16                 MS. BIALO-PADILL: Thank you for the

         17  opportunity.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Thank you. Thank

         19  you very much.

         20                 Okay, we have a panel. We're going to

         21  call GEMS, The Door, and Safe Horizon at the same

         22  time. You can come up together.

         23                 Okay, if you can all introduce

         24  yourself, for the record, and then we will hear from

         25  anyone who wants to start first.
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          2                 MS. VILLAREAL: Good afternoon. My

          3  name is Gabriela Villareal. I am the Coordinator of

          4  National Training and Technical Assistance for Safe

          5  Horizon's Anti-Trafficking Program.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Okay, and you?

          7                 MS. VICKERS: Good afternoon --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Can you speak up

          9  so that I can hear you, because it's being recorded.

         10  Make sure your mic is on.

         11                 MS. VICKERS: My name is Dominique

         12  Vickers, and I'm the Outreach Coordinator of Girls

         13  Educational and Mentoring Services.

         14                 MS. GIANELLA: My name is Natalia

         15  Gianella. I'm the Outreach worker and advocate for

         16  victims of human trafficking at The Door.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Okay, which one

         18  wants to go first?

         19                 All right, you start.

         20                 MS. VILLAREAL: Good afternoon. I

         21  wanted to thank the members of the Committee on

         22  Women's issues for providing the context for these

         23  remarks.

         24                 It is a pleasure to be here with you

         25  this afternoon to discuss the need for New York
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          2  State to recognize that  human trafficking is a

          3  crime and that there is a need for service program

          4  for survivors of this kind of human trafficking.

          5                 My name is Gabriela Villareal, and

          6  I'm the Coordinator of National Training and

          7  Technical Assistance for Safe Horizon's

          8  Anti-Trafficking Program.

          9                 Safe Horizon is the Nation's largest

         10  non-profit Victim Assistance Organization, where

         11  each year we serve more than 350,000 New Yorkers

         12  that experience a wide range of violence and abuse

         13  in their lives, including domestic violence, rape,

         14  sexual assault, homicide of a loved one, stalking,

         15  child physical and sexual abuse and human

         16  trafficking.

         17                 Trafficking of persons is a violation

         18  of human rights, the right to liberty and the right

         19  to live your life free from slavery.

         20                 Whether the issue is criminalization

         21  of human trafficking or the development of service

         22  programs for survivors, all responses to the

         23  trafficking of people must be based upon

         24  international human rights standards.

         25                 We support the New York City
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          2  Council's resolution to call upon New York State to

          3  appropriately react to the trafficking of persons.

          4                 Since the passage of the federal

          5  Trafficking Victims Protection Act in 2000, our

          6  anti-trafficking program has provided services to

          7  over 230 survivors of human trafficking. We have

          8  assisted people from over 50 countries, women, men

          9  and children, who were forced into sexual

         10  exploitation, domestic servitude, and a variety of

         11  forced labor situations, including sweatshop labor,

         12  factory work, restaurant work, migrant farm labor,

         13  hotel work and finally, servile marriage.

         14                 Currently, 78 percent of our caseload

         15  is female, and 22 percent is male. Fifty-two percent

         16  of our cases involve forced labor, domestic

         17  servitude. Thirty-nine percent involve forced sexual

         18  exploitation and five percent represents servile

         19  marriages.

         20                 Our multi-lingual highly-trained

         21  staff assist survivors in gaining access to housing,

         22  both immediate and long-term; food, clothing and

         23  other basic needs; medical and mental health care,

         24  legal representation, ESL classes, vocational

         25  assistance, preparation for trial, undergoing
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          2  supportive counseling and access to services that

          3  will foster independence and stability.

          4                 This comprehensive program model is

          5  successful in many ways. For identification of

          6  victims, promoting independence and collaboration

          7  with law enforcement.

          8                 Survivors of the crime of human

          9  trafficking are subjected to force, fraud or

         10  coercion, as they are put to work in sectors where

         11  access to information and helping networks is

         12  limited, making them even more vulnerable to

         13  exploitation and violence.

         14                 They are under the control of their

         15  traffickers and their freedom is limited, documents

         16  are withheld, and they experience debt bondage.

         17                 Many of the cases we have assisted

         18  with have been successfully prosecuted under federal

         19  law. Services for survivors of human trafficking are

         20  both intensive and expensive. However, when trained

         21  personnel deliver these needed services, they are

         22  cost effective as they promote independence and the

         23  ability to function without support in the long

         24  term. It has been documented that those individuals

         25  who do not receive the necessary services are more
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          2  apt to disappear, return to the trafficker, return

          3  to commercial exploitative situations and/or need

          4  public assistance for a long time.

          5                 There is a need for the provision of

          6  various services to survivors of human trafficking.

          7  Current barriers to services are lack of resources

          8  for agencies to provide intensive case management

          9  demanded by this complex situation.

         10                 It is difficult to find safe housing

         11  as a means for survivors to be protected from the

         12  traffickers and their associates while they become

         13  stable.

         14                 Currently, there is not a shelter

         15  dedicated specifically for survivors of this crime

         16  on the East Coast.

         17                 It is a constant challenge to find

         18  emergency, safe housing for vulnerable survivors

         19  that includes the other necessary supports.

         20                 It is not enough to have a place to

         21  sleep. These survivors often are rescued or escape

         22  without any personal belongings or personal

         23  identification, figuratively and realistically,

         24  since a trafficker usually confiscates all identity

         25  documents.

                                                            115

          1  COMMITTEE ON WOMEN'S ISSUES

          2                 Rapid assessment and access to needed

          3  ancillary services is critical.

          4                 Legal representation is important to

          5  assist the survivor through the process.

          6                 It is imperative that these services,

          7  as well as City and State benefits are provided for

          8  survivors, regardless of immigration status, or

          9  their participation in a law enforcement

         10  investigation.

         11                 Safe Horizon Anti-Trafficking Program

         12  coordinates and partners with many local agencies

         13  providing services to crime survivors. However,

         14  survivors of trafficking are denied access to public

         15  benefits until they are provided with certification

         16  from the federal government.

         17                 This leaves many vulnerable survivors

         18  without resources for food, housing, medical and

         19  mental health intervention. And it's hoped that New

         20  York State will soon have a human trafficking law

         21  that provides for a survivor-centered approach to

         22  services.

         23                 Safe Horizon supports legislative

         24  reforms that would promote self-sufficiency and

         25  independence for survivors of human trafficking.
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          2  This includes the criminalization of human

          3  trafficking involving force, fraud or coercion;

          4  ensures social and legal services to survivors of

          5  trafficking are available, regardless of a person's

          6  immigration status, cooperation during an

          7  investigation, or on the prosecution or conviction

          8  of the traffic person's traffickers.

          9                 And, finally, provides for training

         10  of law enforcement agents, service providers and

         11  other relevant state personnel.

         12                 And I'd also like to note, as Deputy

         13  Chief Conroy mentioned in his testimony, the

         14  existence of two working groups here in New York

         15  City. Safe Horizon is a member of the Community

         16  Response to Trafficking, as well as the federal and

         17  New York City Human Trafficking Task Force.

         18                 Thank you for your time.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Thank you very

         20  much. Next.

         21                 PARTICIPANT: (Not identified for the

         22  record.) I just want to start off by saying thank

         23  you for allowing me --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Yes, bring it

         25  closer to you, because we want to hear what you have
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          2  to say.

          3                 PARTICIPANT: Thank you for this

          4  opportunity.

          5                 Just five years ago, I found myself

          6  at GEMS, a member, who was escaping from sexual

          7  exploitation as a child, and being that GEMS is the

          8  only non-profit organization in New York State that

          9  focuses only on sexual exploitation of children, my

         10  options of help was slim.

         11                 Now working there, I realize that

         12  many young women, like myself, that are from the

         13  ages of 11 to 21, share the same story as I do, and

         14  they are not as recognized as victims as any other

         15  person who was forced into human trafficking.

         16                 Many children are taken from their

         17  high schools, junior high schools, and shipped into

         18  different states, and find themselves brutally

         19  victimized and sexually exploited by many exploiters

         20  who are not arrested or who are not penalized for

         21  buying and selling children, yet many of our

         22  children are arrested 13 and 14 years old and

         23  considered as criminals or child prostitutes and not

         24  as victims.

         25                 No services are offered to them. No
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          2  counseling, no advice, no housing. Why do we exempt

          3  children who are in our streets and in our homes who

          4  are forced and coerced into the sex trades? Why do

          5  they exempt them from services and from help?

          6                 Why do we look at international

          7  trafficking as victims, and only victim of human

          8  trafficking? When many of our children, who reside

          9  in Brooklyn, who now have crossed three different

         10  state lines, who share the same story and the same

         11  experiences as international victims.

         12                 If we offer more services to children

         13  in our states, offer them safe ways to exit, and

         14  many of our services, that we offer it to different

         15  international victims. I believe many wouldn't

         16  continue to be victimized, and many wouldn't be left

         17  alone or felt like they had no, any other options

         18  but to live in the sex trade.

         19                 As of January 2006, we have service

         20  to 80 children and to now, September, we have

         21  service to 80 children under the age of 21 who are a

         22  victim of sexual exploitation and human trafficking.

         23  From June of last year to June of this year, 83 of

         24  our young women have been arrested and been referred

         25  to us, and they are all under the age of 21. But
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          2  because we are the only non-profit organization who

          3  focuses on this issue, many of our children slip

          4  through our streets and many of our children will

          5  never receive help, that children who are being

          6  trafficked -- who our internationally trafficked

          7  victims receive.

          8                 If we stop trafficking here, it will

          9  limit the international trafficking that is --

         10  sorry, I get so --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Take your time.

         12  It's all right.

         13                 PARTICIPANT: Thank you.

         14                 If we stop the traffic here, amongst

         15  our own streets and own states, we can help limit

         16  the intake of young women and children being brought

         17  from other countries. I believe if we take the

         18  children here and look at them as victims, and give

         19  them services, and offer them more support, that we

         20  can stop a lot of other gateways to different ways

         21  of how people are being sold and brought here.

         22                 A lot of the times people consider

         23  the children here as child prostitutes, but I

         24  believe that those two words should not be combined

         25  because a child cannot be a prostitute. And any
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          2  child under the age of 21, under the age of 18,

          3  should be considered as a victim to any of these

          4  brutal crimes that are being forced on them.

          5                 I'd just like to thank you for giving

          6  me the opportunity to share my testimony.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Thank you very

          8  much.

          9                 MS. GIANELLA: As I mentioned, I work

         10  as the outreach worker and advocate for victims of

         11  human trafficking at the Door Legal Services Center,

         12  and I was formerly the outreach coordinator for the

         13  New York City Community Response to Trafficking

         14  Project, as well, sponsored by IOFA and ECPAT-USA.

         15  And thank you for allowing me to testify today.

         16                 The Door was founded in 1972 with the

         17  mission of empowering young people to reach their

         18  potential by providing comprehensive and integrated

         19  youth development services in a caring, supportive

         20  environment, where young people are treated with

         21  respect and confidentiality.

         22                 To accomplish this goal, The Door

         23  provides a full array of essential social services

         24  free of charge to New York City's underserved youth

         25  ages 12 to 21.
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          2                 Last year alone, over 7,500

          3  low-income young people, most referred by their

          4  peers, came to The Door for education and career

          5  services; primary health care; food and nutrition

          6  services; mental health counseling; and recreation

          7  and arts programs, in addition to legal assistance.

          8                 Critical to The Door's model of

          9  service delivery is the agency's provision of

         10  integrated services across a wide range of program

         11  areas, allowing for each young person to receive

         12  comprehensive assistance specific to his or her

         13  particular needs. This also puts us in an unusually

         14  good position to reach trafficked youth through a

         15  variety of programming designed to assist young

         16  people in crisis.

         17                 For example, a Door member receiving

         18  legal assistance to obtain appropriate foster care

         19  services can also engage in counseling to gain

         20  essential life skills, attend an ESL class or a

         21  college preparation workshop, meet with an

         22  employment counselor, receive health care, or obtain

         23  assistance and support through a variety of other

         24  programs.

         25                 By providing an accessible, long-term
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          2  support network, The Door provides disadvantaged

          3  youth with a means to empower themselves to enter a

          4  productive, fulfilling adulthood.

          5                 Out of all Door members, 43 percent

          6  are African American, 31 percent are Latino and 11

          7  percent are Asian. Most come from low-income,

          8  fragmented homes, or live in foster care or

          9  independently. Most Door members attend schools with

         10  low graduation rates, and live in neighborhoods with

         11  low employment, and high rates of violence and

         12  crime. One-third are foreign-born, and many of these

         13  youth are recent immigrants lacking English language

         14  skills.

         15                 Unfortunately, many Door members are

         16  survivors of human trafficking, and other human

         17  rights abuses.

         18                 The following are composite "case

         19  studies" --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: If I can just

         21  interrupt?

         22                 MS. GIANELLA: Yes.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Your statement is

         24  going to be in the record, so perhaps you might want

         25  to just put together the case study so that you
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          2  don't read those and just summarize and then go on

          3  with your testimony, because it's very lengthy and

          4  we'll put those case studies, and we appreciate your

          5  bringing that and we'll read them and have them in

          6  the record.

          7                 MS. GIANELLA: All right.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Thank you.

          9                 MS. GIANELLA: These I'm not going to

         10  mention then. So, you want me to read the cases?

         11                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: You have four case

         12  studies, there must be some common theme of, why not

         13  how they got to you?

         14                 And the case studies demonstrate the

         15  complexities of human trafficking, that's your study

         16  --

         17                 MS. GIANELLA: Right.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Of your statement.

         19  And the immediate intervention. Why don't you say

         20  exactly how you did that, and where they came from.

         21                 MS. GIANELLA: Actually, the case

         22  studies, they vary a lot. That's why I'm saying it's

         23  a very complex issue, because each story is very

         24  different.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: I understand that.
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          2  I do. And I think that rather than your going

          3  through that, just because of your time, and we

          4  appreciate your being here, I think you should deal

          5  with exactly where do they come from? You got them,

          6  where did they come from? Do you think you can say

          7  that? Because certainly they had to come from

          8  somewhere. They had to be brought into the business

          9  they were in by what? And how were they able to get

         10  to you?

         11                 MS. GIANELLA: Well, like I said, they

         12  come from different places.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Are they all from

         14  New York?

         15                 MS. GIANELLA: They're all in New

         16  York.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Okay.

         18                 MS. GIANELLA: They were brought to

         19  New York.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: They were brought

         21  to New York City.

         22                 MS. GIANELLA: Yes.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Okay, from

         24  different countries.

         25                 MS. GIANELLA: Yes.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: All right. How do

          3  they get in? Let me ask you some of the questions,

          4  how do they get into New York City? The airports,

          5  the ports, boat, flying? How do they get into New

          6  York City?

          7                 MS. GIANELLA: Road, flights, boats.

          8  It's different in each case. And most of the cases

          9  are people that they are related to in some way or

         10  another. It's someone that they trusted in their own

         11  place or origin, place where they came from.

         12  Sometimes they are boyfriends, someone they have a

         13  relationship with, emotional relationship, and

         14  sometimes family members. In some cases they have

         15  been diplomats that have in domestic --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Diplomats have

         17  brought them in?

         18                 MS. GIANELLA: Yes, as domestic

         19  servants, or domestic workers.

         20                 Others came by boat, especially you

         21  have the Asian cases that by boat and then took

         22  planes, but they are in the bondage situation, which

         23  the trafficking defines also, as a form of

         24  trafficking.

         25                 So, from Mexico, from Latin American
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          2  countries, Africa, Asia, it's really former Soviet

          3  Union countries. That's why examples we were showing

          4  really show how complex is the issue, and you cannot

          5  say it happens in one way, in only one form or a

          6  couple.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Okay. But that was

          8  very helpful for us. So, if you will continue with

          9  your testimony.

         10                 MS. GIANELLA: Yes, okay.

         11                 So, as I said, it's important to have

         12  an appropriate and immediate intervention with

         13  supportive services.

         14                 The Door has recently expanded its

         15  existing outreach program in order to establish

         16  significantly greater awareness of the presence of

         17  trafficking among at-risk youth.

         18                 I think broadly from the cases that

         19  can show that how they came in contact with us, also

         20  through service providers as referred to us, but

         21  also, as Deidre mentioned before, the role of the

         22  good samaritans is crucial.

         23                 That's why the community location and

         24  outreach is also very important.

         25                 My experience working for the New

                                                            127

          1  COMMITTEE ON WOMEN'S ISSUES

          2  York City CRT project talking of the importance of

          3  involving members of the communities affected by

          4  human trafficking in the development of the outreach

          5  process.

          6                 The CRT's model is community-based,

          7  and works in partnership with existing networks and

          8  local organizations to identify and serve

          9  trafficking victims.

         10                 CRT's day-long event in Sunset Park

         11  last year illustrated one of the best practices for

         12  raising awareness among vulnerable communities.

         13                 CRT worked with neighborhood

         14  organizations and leaders to raise awareness and

         15  develop a variety of outreach techniques, including

         16  producing a trilingual theater performance presented

         17  at a local public park.

         18                 The Door's Trafficking Outreach

         19  Project uses a similar community-based model but

         20  focuses on a specific target population, young

         21  people. We engage service providers and leaders

         22  already connected with at-risk immigrant youth and

         23  involve young Door members themselves in the design

         24  and process of our outreach campaign.

         25                 Both models, engaging young people
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          2  and engaging local communities in outreach efforts,

          3  are crucial in making sure that Human Trafficking is

          4  being perceived and named in the terms and

          5  experiences of affected communities.

          6                 I particularly would like to make the

          7  following recommendations:

          8                 Comprehensive legislation is required

          9  to adequately address the needs of trafficked

         10  persons, funding services and sanctions against

         11  traffickers should be combined.

         12                 It is not enough to sanction

         13  traffickers. We must expand services for victims. As

         14  cases come forward with new criminal sanctions in

         15  place, it is best that services are in place to

         16  handle the needs of trafficked persons.

         17                 The definition of trafficking should

         18  be as inclusive as possible as trafficking cases are

         19  nuanced and involve a range of actions, as well as

         20  repercussions.

         21                 As explained in the cases,

         22  trafficking takes place across sectors and in a

         23  variety of ways. Sex trafficking is not the only

         24  form of trafficking. Sexual assault and exploitation

         25  may be present in forced labor cases, as well. For
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          2  children and youth, it is imperative that the

          3  definition capture as many of the acts that are

          4  realistically faced in each scenario.

          5                 Agencies and entities charged with

          6  the care and oversight of children and youth need to

          7  be involved in the process of identification and

          8  care of trafficked youth.

          9                 Service providers in New York need to

         10  be funded to address the many needs of traffic

         11  persons.

         12                 Specialized and dedicated services

         13  need to be available, especially for trafficked

         14  children. From outreach programs to shelters that

         15  can specifically address trafficked persons housing

         16  needs, services must be in place to deal with this

         17  enormous human rights abuse.

         18                 Funding for outreach and awareness

         19  raising should be available for projects that

         20  guarantee the participation of the targeted

         21  population. Any community, whether it exists in the

         22  form of a neighborhood, an ESL class or a community

         23  center, can be engaged in building awareness of

         24  human trafficking.

         25                 They have proven to be an immediate
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          2  and important resource for many of the victims of

          3  human trafficking, linking them to services and

          4  safety.

          5                 Thank you very much.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Councilwoman Mealy

          7  has a question.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY: Good afternoon.

          9  I'm glad to see you all here.

         10                 I just have about two questions. Are

         11  you talking about The Door in Manhattan. You have

         12  the programs there. What kind of programs do you

         13  have there that can help if this resolution is

         14  passed, or this law is passed, a legislation is

         15  passed, can The Door handle a floodgate of people

         16  coming there for help at this point in time?

         17                 MS. GIANELLA: Well, at this point in

         18  time we have too many cases, but for immigrant

         19  youth, just talking about immigration services,

         20  legal assistance, we have only one attorney on site

         21  and we are hiring another attorney. But, you know,

         22  the funding issue is very crucial for this, being

         23  able to serve.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY: Okay. I'm

         25  sorry, I don't know your name, I have one question
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          2  for you just as well.

          3                 What is the percentage of young men

          4  in trafficking?

          5                 MS. VILLAREAL: We capture age groups

          6  and then by gender, so I don't have a specific

          7  number related to young men under the age of 21. But

          8  our latest statistics show that our caseload

          9  involves 22 percent men.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY: So, do you know

         11  if it's for labor or sexual exploitation, or both?

         12  The majority.

         13                 MS. VILLAREAL: Labor exploitation.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY: Labor?

         15                 MS. VILLAREAL: For men.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY: For men?

         17                 MS. VILLAREAL: Yes.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY: Okay.

         19                 And what needs to be done in order to

         20  encourage trafficking victims to come forward,

         21  particularly when a majority of victims are not

         22  being identified through criminal justice or the

         23  court system? How can they be encouraged to come

         24  forward?

         25                 MS. VICKERS: (Not identified for the

                                                            132

          1  COMMITTEE ON WOMEN'S ISSUES

          2  record.) I believe that they can be encouraged to

          3  come forward if you offer them more protective

          4  services.

          5                 A lot of times young women want to

          6  share their stories and what to have their voices

          7  heard, but we don't offer them any services like the

          8  cops, they have testimony, they have to testify in

          9  court in front of their perpetrators, they're being

         10  arrested.

         11                 This is the further line of questions

         12  you want answered, right? A lot of times there are

         13  no homes for them. We collaborate with Safe Horizon

         14  but sometimes they're not looked at domestic

         15  violence, even though they are brutally beaten in

         16  the situation, a lot of times the girls are

         17  underneath the age of 17 and they need consent from

         18  their parents, a lot of times they're forced to

         19  testify and they don't have any safety from the

         20  pimps, or the johns, the people who are exploiting

         21  these young women, don't get enough time served. A

         22  lot of times they see their girlfriends who have

         23  testified for their pimps and their pimps get out in

         24  six months to a year, so they feel like their safety

         25  is in jeopardy. You know, they're not being
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          2  protected, so why should they tell?

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY: Thank you. It

          4  really takes courage to come forward and I'm glad

          5  that we are making a real case with this and are

          6  working diligently on it.

          7                 Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Thank you,

          9  Councilwoman. And I want to thank all of you. And I

         10  know it's not easy for you to sit there and talk

         11  about your experience like that, but as difficult as

         12  it was, you have to know that you have been an

         13  impetus for us to really be dealing with this issue

         14  on the level that it should, and for all the work

         15  that the advocates do. We have really, I hope,

         16  brought this out to where it should be and to take

         17  the action that is necessary. And I thank you,

         18  because you've been very helpful in doing that.

         19                 And I know it's been a long morning,

         20  and you'll wait all morning and I've sat out there

         21  and I'm sitting here, so I know how it feels on that

         22  side, and I don't like to rush the remaining

         23  panelists, but I thank you.

         24                 MS. VILLAREAL: Thank you for your

         25  time.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: And our next panel

          3  is the National Organization for Women and Equality

          4  Now.

          5                 I saw you sitting in the back there,

          6  and very patient. And while they're getting to the

          7  table, we have letters that are going into the

          8  record from Manhattan DA Morgenthau, Hillary Rodham

          9  Clinton, Manhattan Borough President Scott Stringer.

         10  And in Washington, D.C. there are votes today, so we

         11  appreciate the Senator and her interest. She has had

         12  great interest in this issue, and they will go into

         13  the record.

         14                 Thank you.

         15                 You will identify yourself for the

         16  record, and if you have lengthy testimony, if you

         17  could sort of concise it, that would be very much

         18  appreciated. Thank you very much. You start.

         19                 MS. OSSORIA: I'm Sonia Ossorio,

         20  President of the National Organization for Women

         21  here in New York City, and I will be brief. I mostly

         22  heard a lot of great testimony today, and I mostly

         23  would like to just talk about how and why New York,

         24  and particularly New York City figures so

         25  prominently in what is very clearly a booming
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          2  international trade in women and children, for both

          3  sexual and labor servitude, as you've heard of.

          4                 So, I'd like to start with a case. In

          5  April the largest sex trafficking case ever

          6  concluded. And in this case, three Mexican men pled

          7  guilty and admitted to forcing young Mexican women

          8  into prostitution into brothels throughout New York

          9  City.

         10                 They recruited young, poor women in

         11  Mexico, and it's the story that you've already heard

         12  tonight, today, about, you know, offering them

         13  better opportunities. They seasoned the women by

         14  raping them first. They made them work seven days a

         15  week, servicing up to 25 men a day. They operated

         16  for the last 13 years and here's what's most

         17  heartbreaking to us, is that that ring operated

         18  between Tanansingo, Mexico (phonetic) and Queens,

         19  and that's been their business for the last 14

         20  years. They charged $25 to $35 per customer. The

         21  brothel, the local brothel got $25 and -- I'm sorry,

         22  they split it 50/50.

         23                 This is just one example of many, and

         24  in terms of what's been happening here in New York

         25  City, it's just such a great market for traffickers
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          2  for a couple of reasons. First of all, you have a

          3  lot of immigrant men that are working here. You have

          4  a large City where you can easily transport, shuttle

          5  women around without much notice. You have the

          6  infrastructure of a large, well-established sex

          7  industry that operates pretty easily, and you have a

          8  lot of small, neighborhood and ethnic newspapers

          9  where they can advertise and this is exactly what is

         10  happening.

         11                 Currently, according to Editor and

         12  Publisher Magazine, 35 percent of revenues, ad

         13  revenues for magazines and newspapers, are adult

         14  advertising.

         15                 And as we know from the cases that

         16  the feds have got before us, a lot of traffickers

         17  operate with connections with the established

         18  brothels here, and they supply a number of women and

         19  they are constantly taking them from one brothel to

         20  another, keeping them isolated this way.

         21                 So, this is a big and growing

         22  problem, it's not going to go away, and at this

         23  point the US Attorney's Office has been really

         24  aggressively pursuing it, and we certainly have the

         25  opportunity at the State level to create this

                                                            137

          1  COMMITTEE ON WOMEN'S ISSUES

          2  legislation that will give us the tools for local

          3  prosecutors and law enforcement to do something, but

          4  clearly the funding is going to have to be there,

          5  which I won't reiterate, because we know that at

          6  this point we need funding for police training, a

          7  lot of what we see now is almost where we were with

          8  domestic violence 25 years ago. A lot of awareness.

          9  We need police to be able to understand and

         10  recognize trafficking victims. And some of this has

         11  already been done. Carol from ECPAT, her group has

         12  been doing some wonderful things in this area. She

         13  also needs funding to do this.

         14                 So, just in the last year, here in

         15  New York City, in Queens, in New Jersey, there have

         16  been cases, and I mean these take a long time to

         17  come to fruition, the wire tapping, the

         18  investigation, and if these are just the ones that

         19  they brought that the feds find, you can imagine all

         20  the smaller operators that operate, just like

         21  someone mentioned earlier, he works with one woman

         22  at a time or two or three at a time, but we've had

         23  women from the former Soviet Union, a rescue in

         24  Elmhurst, Corona. We have had Mexican women

         25  throughout New York City that I just described.
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          2  We've had Honduran women in New Jersey. We've had

          3  Peruvian women on Long Island, and Korean women in

          4  both Manhattan and Flushing. And the one I mentioned

          5  earlier was the largest ever yet under the U.S.

          6  Victims of Trafficking and Violence Protection Act.

          7                 So, just last month there was a very

          8  big case here in which two brothels, which were part

          9  of a larger trafficking were rated. There were more

         10  than 30 people arrested in that, and that's the

         11  brothel owners, the transport people, you know, who

         12  would pick them up. This operation was either

         13  bringing the women in who had documents, or bringing

         14  them in through the Canadian and Mexican border and

         15  then bringing them to New York.

         16                 The operations in Norwalk, for

         17  instance, had names, you know, this acupuncture

         18  center, this massage parlor. Interesting enough, the

         19  brothels that were part of New York City didn't have

         20  names, because they operate right in front of us

         21  here with impunity.  They don't even need a name.

         22                 You know, by the structure of our

         23  City, where you can walk down a block and almost

         24  wonder what's in this building, and what was

         25  incredibly startling with this case, is that one of
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          2  the brothels that was rated was two blocks from my

          3  office. So, I'm at the National Organization for

          4  Women working on women's rights, and this was

          5  happening two blocks away. Who would have known it?

          6  The other one that was busted, two blocks from

          7  Equality Now. It's almost as if they're taunting us.

          8                 And this case they were making tends

          9  of thousands of dollars a month. Some of the

         10  brothels had secret compartments, secret rooms where

         11  in the case of a raid, they would funnel the

         12  trafficked women.

         13                 You know, and as we've seen today

         14  through some of the other examples, trafficked women

         15  are funneled into the whole host of network of

         16  brothels. So, it's not as if it's an entire brothel

         17  of just trafficked women, and it's one of the

         18  reasons why they're able to operate.

         19                 This case was actually busted because

         20  of a case that happened in March in Flushing. And in

         21  this case there were 16 women who were rescued, and

         22  the first one I just mentioned, the tristate area

         23  one, 67 women were rescued and put into protective

         24  services.

         25                 In the brothel in Flushing, 16 women
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          2  were rescued. They were Korean. They spoke no

          3  English. They had a boarding house attached to the

          4  brothel where the women lived, and they were

          5  generating revenue of $4,000 a day.

          6                 I know this because in the vault they

          7  had the records for the business. Four-thousand

          8  dollars a day. There was $800,000 in cash. You can

          9  think about it. I mean, at $25 per customer, the

         10  amount of women and the amount of forced sex that

         11  was going on, is almost too hard to imagine. We

         12  heard earlier, you know, 25 men a day, 50. It's

         13  almost too much to bear to think about.

         14                 And in the Flushing case, there were

         15  two New York City police detectives who were

         16  actually taking bribes on a weekly basis to ensure

         17  that this brothel was not busted, and I know that

         18  earlier, which I missed that testimony, I think the

         19  New York Police Department was here. I know that

         20  they've recently gotten funding for their operation

         21  and I think this is going to be a key here in New

         22  York City moving forward.

         23                 Because as we've seen, the feds have

         24  moved aggressively on it. This Police Department is

         25  going to be key in investigating and finding women
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          2  to rescue. And then we have to give the tools to the

          3  prosecutors to be able to indict and put these

          4  traffickers away.

          5                 And I'll stop because I know I'm

          6  running over my time.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Thank you very

          8  much. We'll go on to you, but just one question.

          9                 The way it has so developed around --

         10  it really has to be organized.

         11                 MS. OSSORIO: Yes.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: It's not just

         13  something that erupts. So, that I read the Justice

         14  Department and it says that human trafficking is

         15  their third highest industry of organized crime, it

         16  isn't something that just erupts and a store opens

         17  here and a brothel opens there. It's very well

         18  constructed, very well thought out. The areas are

         19  very well identified.

         20                 MS. OSSORIO: Yes.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Would you say that

         22  that's the case?

         23                 MS. OSSORIO: Yes, absolutely. It's

         24  just too good of a business model, in terms of --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Exactly, that's
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          2  why I asked the question.

          3                 MS. OSSORIO: Not even like dealing

          4  drugs, which, you know, you can use the product over

          5  and over. You can certainly, you know, dealing drugs

          6  here in New York, you can go to jail for decades.

          7                 We don't even have a law on the books

          8  for trafficking women.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: In human

         10  trafficking, they have to keep replenishing their

         11  supply, because they wear out very quickly.

         12                 All right, thank you.

         13                 MS. OSSORIO: You're welcome.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Good afternoon,

         15  Madam Chair and distinguished members of the

         16  Council.

         17                 I'm Jane Manning, and I'm the Chair

         18  of the National Organization for Women's New York

         19  City Chapter. I also am an attorney with the

         20  International Human Rights Organization Equality

         21  Now.

         22                 Thank you for your demonstrated and

         23  passionate commitment to addressing this human

         24  rights scourge of trafficking. And I think because

         25  of that demonstrated passion, you will agree with me
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          2  when I say that it is not enough simply for New York

          3  State to pass a bill that has the words

          4  "anti-trafficking" at the top of it. It matters

          5  what's in the bill.

          6                 And I'd like to talk to you, use my

          7  few moments to talk in substance about exactly what

          8  a bill needs to be an effective tool against

          9  traffickers.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: And if you could

         11  in that, what constitutes human trafficking?

         12                 MS. MANNING: Certainly.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Because it's

         14  really got to be identified and not be ambiguous and

         15  why there's so many loopholes.

         16                 MS. MANNING: Certainly. What

         17  constitutes human trafficking? Modern day

         18  anti-trafficking movement defines human trafficking,

         19  not in terms of whether somebody was moved across

         20  the border, but in terms of whether somebody is

         21  being made to do something they don't want to do,

         22  where they're essentially being bought and sold as a

         23  trafficked commodity.

         24                 It doesn't matter whether the girl

         25  started out in Brooklyn and ended up in Brooklyn. If
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          2  she's being bought and sold under circumstances

          3  where she's not acting of her own free will, she is

          4  a trafficking victim.

          5                 You actually touched upon what I

          6  think is the number one criterian for a good

          7  anti-trafficking bill, and that is how do you define

          8  trafficking?

          9                 I think the answer to that is, we

         10  need a definition of trafficking that looks like

         11  what traffickers do and not what other kinds of

         12  criminals do.

         13                 In a street corner robbery, you have

         14  the knife at the victim's throat the moment they're

         15  being forced to hand over the money.

         16                 That's not true in a trafficking

         17  situation. You don't have the knife at the woman's

         18  throat at the moment she's being forced to strip to

         19  work in a sex, in a brothel or to work in a

         20  sweatshop. What's much more typical is the type of

         21  situation we've heard about today, where a young

         22  woman or a man is brought into a situation under

         23  false pretenses, thinking they're going to get a

         24  good job, and once they're in a situation where

         25  they're vulnerable, their passport has been taken
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          2  away, they spent their last $2,000 in the world on a

          3  plane ticket to get here. They don't speak the

          4  language. They don't know if the police are people

          5  that you run to or people that you run from and

          6  they're surrounded by people that they're quickly

          7  figuring out are criminals.

          8                 A person in that situation is so

          9  cornered that the trafficker may never need to put a

         10  knife to her throat. She is under his control

         11  effectively because his control over her was

         12  established gradually and systematically.

         13                 And, so, it is important to have a

         14  bill that defines trafficking according to the way

         15  victims tell us traffickers operate.

         16                 You need a bill that addresses things

         17  like taking away her passport, threatening to report

         18  her to the police or immigration, using fraud and

         19  deception.

         20                 I noticed that in the City Council's

         21  resolution the words "forced," "fraud," or

         22  "deception" are used, and those are useful words

         23  used colloquially, as we sit here talking about

         24  trafficking. But it's incredibly important that the

         25  bill go beyond those words and spell out what you're
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          2  talking about, when we talk about coercion. The

          3  traffickers who drug their victims to keep them

          4  quiet, who make vague threats about relatives back

          5  home.

          6                 There may not be an imminent threat

          7  of force that you would need to prove a robbery or

          8  prove a rape, and that's why trafficking needs to be

          9  defined the way trafficking happens. I think that's

         10  the number one essential of a good anti-trafficking

         11  bill.

         12                 Some other essentials of a good

         13  anti-trafficking bill, meaningful penalties. I think

         14  Councilwoman Mealy has already driven home the

         15  importance of a bill that doesn't let most

         16  traffickers off with a slap on the wrist. We think

         17  that trafficking should be at the very least a C

         18  felony, and that where there are aggravating

         19  factors, the aggravation should go up from there.

         20                 We believe it's imperative to address

         21  demand, as Council Member Liu had pointed out.

         22                 Why are women being forced or tricked

         23  or coerced into this industry? There are so many men

         24  looking to buy. It is hugely profitable if you can

         25  find women to feed that demand. And if you can cut
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          2  down on the demand, you take away a lot of the

          3  motive for these traffickers.

          4                 We need to do something about sex

          5  tourism. The businesses that openly advertise that

          6  they're taking men overseas to the Philippines and

          7  to the Dominican Republic and they openly brag about

          8  how compliant and submissive the women are overseas,

          9  when they know that the reason these women are

         10  compliant is because they have no options.

         11                 By allowing these businesses to

         12  operate in New York City, we're driving the

         13  trafficking industry overseas where the victims have

         14  no recourse here.

         15                 New York absolutely has the

         16  jurisdiction to say you can't operate that business

         17  in New York, and we believe that's an essential of a

         18  strong bill.

         19                 Two final things: We need to have a

         20  defense for victims. It's outrageous that victims

         21  are the ones who more often than not get arrested,

         22  instead of the buyers and sellers, the victims who

         23  are charged with prostitution, pressured by brothel

         24  defense attorneys into signing a plea bargain or

         25  into agreeing with a plea bargain and they end up
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          2  with the permanent criminal records that follow them

          3  around.

          4                 Finally, services are essential if

          5  these victims are to rebuild their lives, and if we

          6  are to have their cooperation into making effective

          7  cases against the traffickers who do so much damage

          8  to their victims and to us all.

          9                 Thank you once again for focusing on

         10  this problem, for your determination to address it.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Thank you very

         12  much.

         13                 We have a question from Council

         14  Member Liu.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Thank you very

         16  much, Madam Chairperson. And I want to thank these

         17  witnesses, and actually all the witnesses today for

         18  participating in today's hearing.

         19                 The cases that you have spoken about,

         20  which actually just occurred this year, drawing a

         21  blank on the names.

         22                 MS. MANNING: Jane Manning, Sonia

         23  Ossorio.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Okay, Ms.

         25  Ossorio, before you talked about how the women were
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          2  arrested, and then taken into protective custody.

          3  What exactly does that mean?

          4                 MS. OSSORIO: Actually, I didn't

          5  mention that, and I don't know. I would have to

          6  check the actual case.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Okay.

          8                 MS. OSSORIO: I know they were taken

          9  into protective custody officially, but that's all

         10  that I know.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Okay. Were the

         12  two of you here to hear the testimony of the Police

         13  Department?

         14                 MS. OSSORIO: No.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Okay. I think

         16  part of the exchange that we had early in the

         17  hearing, and I know that you were at the same

         18  meeting that I was at this morning, that's why you

         19  weren't here by 10:00. We did have some exchange

         20  with the Police Department about how, you know, I

         21  get this sense -- and I don't entirely fault them. I

         22  think this is an educational process for every one

         23  of us involved here, they just don't really see the

         24  problem of trafficking yet. They still see it as a

         25  vice issue. What do you think they could do with
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          2  $450,000 in the federal grant that they've done.

          3                 MS. OSSORIO: I am hoping that Carol

          4  will probably speak after me. She can publicly

          5  address that --

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Okay.

          7                 MS. OSSORIO: Better than I can and

          8  more specifically. But it is a very big educational

          9  aspect. And you know, just like with domestic

         10  violence 25 years ago, you know, cops that were

         11  called to a home because of a domestic dispute

         12  thought of it exactly that, well, you know, it's a

         13  husband and a wife and they'll handle it. They

         14  didn't see it for what it was until it was

         15  potentially an assault. And I think that when the

         16  police are raiding a brothel, they need to identify

         17  -- I mean, if there's three women in a corner that

         18  are more quiet than anyone else, they have a higher

         19  level, stress level. They don't speak any English.

         20  They're a little more dazed and confused than

         21  everybody else. They need to be pulled aside and

         22  interviewed, and there needs to be a protocol for

         23  interviewing them and just maybe like we have now,

         24  specialized practitioners to interview rape victims

         25  at hospitals. Maybe there is a special person that
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          2  then comes in to be able to speak with them.

          3                 They certainly need special services

          4  and they should begin there.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: And is there a

          6  sense as to how many of the people who are arrested

          7  for prostitution, how many of them are indeed

          8  victims of trafficking?

          9                 MS. OSSORIO: Not that I've seen. I

         10  don't have an indication.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Okay, my last

         12  question: Do you think that this newly-created unit,

         13  based on the federal grant, does that belong in the

         14  Vice Squad? Or does it maybe belong in a different

         15  part of the Police Department?

         16                 MS. OSSORIO: It's a great question,

         17  Councilman, and I'm not sure I'm prepared to speak

         18  to whether it should be organized as part of the

         19  Vice Unit, but I think it's imperative that that

         20  unit work closely with Vice and the Police

         21  Department.

         22                 One of the most important things I

         23  think the police can do with that money is to have

         24  an effective screening mechanism for of the women

         25  who were arrested when you bust a brothel on

                                                            152

          1  COMMITTEE ON WOMEN'S ISSUES

          2  Roosevelt Avenue, how do you figure out which of

          3  those women are trafficking victims?

          4                 That's where we're going to come into

          5  contact with most trafficking victims, within those

          6  vice operations, and it's incredibly important that

          7  this unit work closely with them.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Yes.

          9                 And Madam Chairperson, I've been

         10  thinking about it since, I didn't know about the

         11  federal grant and the new unit until the police

         12  testified earlier today, and just, you know, it

         13  seems, I mean the Vice Squad has a very specific

         14  goal, and they have to make arrests. But then to

         15  charge them with also kind of a maybe negating the

         16  effects of some of those arrests, it doesn't seem

         17  like it's in the right place.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: I think it's a

         19  very good question, and I think we need to follow

         20  very closely this Committee on when they start the

         21  use of those funds to really monitor exactly what

         22  they're doing with it, and if we are getting the

         23  most for what it's supposed to do.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: All right. But,

         25  for example, it might belong in the sex crimes unit,
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          2  as opposed to the Vice Squad.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: I think it's

          4  something that we need to look into, and I think

          5  that we certainly have the right to oversee exactly

          6  once they do that. I think they need a shot first at

          7  doing and planning what they're going to do with the

          8  money. But certainly if it's directed towards human

          9  trafficking and very little of that money is in that

         10  sense, because earlier it really was stated that

         11  there was a very distinct difference between

         12  prostitution and human trafficking.

         13                 Now, that may seem like a strange

         14  thing, but the fact is that when you defined human

         15  trafficking, it's deceitfulness, it's fraud, and so

         16  on.

         17                 When prostitution, which is probably

         18  one of the oldest professions anywhere, we need to

         19  separate -- women have voluntarily gone into

         20  prostitution and gotten out of that, I think when

         21  you're talking about those that are forced into it

         22  and that they're bought and sold for that, that's a

         23  whole different thing.

         24                 And one of the reasons is that -- and

         25  prostitutes get arrested and that may be one of the
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          2  reasons why that word was used, and then in speaking

          3  to them, separated them into something else.

          4                 And I think that the way that we're

          5  really going to have to deal with this, and get the

          6  results that we want, is to recognize what human

          7  trafficking really is. It's not just women out on

          8  the street. They're out on the street because of

          9  very specific reasons.

         10                 MS. MANNING: And I'd add to that,

         11  Madam Chair, I think if you actually did

         12  investigations and good interviews with a broad

         13  cross section of women arrested in prostitution,

         14  what you'd find is that the numbers of them who had

         15  experienced this trafficking-type situation would be

         16  overwhelming.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: I agree.

         18                 Questions?

         19                 Yes, Council Member Mealy has

         20  questions.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY: I just have one

         22  quick one. Since it's so much human trafficking, do

         23  we have any statistics on how many women make it

         24  back home after they are arrested or brought over

         25  here, and I guess they get the counseling they need.
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          2                 How many women go back to where they

          3  came from and get counseling? Do we have anyone

          4  looking into that follow-up on -- because it has to

          5  be some are taken from their families, and after

          6  they get here they are arrested and processed, and

          7  then they may be deported back. And any

          8  organization, maybe someone else who is coming up

          9  later on will answer that question for me, because

         10  it has to be some kind of way that we can keep up

         11  with these individuals and still continue helping

         12  them once they get back to their home country.

         13                 MS. MANNING: What I can tell you is

         14  that the availability of services makes an enormous

         15  difference to these victims in terms of whether they

         16  are able to rehabilitate their lives or whether they

         17  are sucked back into the underground economy and

         18  never able to reestablish themselves.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY: Thank you so

         20  much.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Thank you so much.

         22  You've been very, very help. We'll review this with

         23  you.

         24                 Our next panel is Sanctuary for

         25  Families. Thank you for sitting there so patiently.
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          2  I know this hearing has gone on longer than probably

          3  intended, but it's a very hypnotic issue, and people

          4  have been waiting long to testify, so we appreciate

          5  your patience.

          6                 And please identify when you all come

          7  together for the record. State your name.

          8                 MS. EISNER: Thank you so much for

          9  hearing us. We've been happy to wait patiently

         10  because we've learned a lot listening to the other

         11  speakers, some of whom are colleagues whom we work

         12  with and others where we've learned a great deal.

         13                 I'm Laurel Eisner. I'm the Executive

         14  Director of Sanctuary for Families. I have with me

         15  colleagues, Amairis Pena-Chavez, who is an attorney

         16  in our Legal Center, and the Co-director of our

         17  Community Liaison Project, which reaches out to

         18  various communities. Her role here is going to be to

         19  talk to you about a particular case we handled of a

         20  trafficking victim.

         21                 Also, and to my further left is

         22  Dorchen Leidholdt. She is the Director of our Legal

         23  Center, and she will talk to you about some of the

         24  broader legislative issues at the State and local

         25  level.

                                                            157

          1  COMMITTEE ON WOMEN'S ISSUES

          2                 I only want to make a few points, and

          3  I know the time is short. One I do want to say, of

          4  course, how glad we are that you are doing this.

          5  We're so delighted that you're spending all this

          6  time in really shedding a light on this huge problem

          7  that has been essentially in the dark with most

          8  people not knowing about it. It's wonderful that

          9  you're playing this role and we're delighted.

         10                 You may wonder why Sanctuary, which

         11  serves domestic violence victims, is interested in

         12  this issue. We do a great deal of domestic violence

         13  victims. We're a holistic service agency. I know

         14  many of you know about our services. We have a large

         15  legal center, lots of counseling, several shelters.

         16  Help with economic issues and a whole variety of

         17  matters.

         18                 What we have found is that a

         19  significant, a growing percent of our population

         20  that we serve are immigrant women, in both our legal

         21  and our counseling program. And they come from

         22  countries all over the world. A small but

         23  significant number of them turn out upon further

         24  exploration, although they came to us in many cases

         25  as domestic violence presenting as having been
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          2  abused, they turn out once we start to talk to them

          3  closely, and sometimes it takes awhile, as is

          4  evident from other speakers, that they, in fact,

          5  were victims of trafficking.

          6                 Not surprisingly, there is a big

          7  overlap between the techniques and the symptoms of

          8  trafficking and domestic violence. The tactics of

          9  power and control, which are employed by batterers,

         10  and those employed by traffickers are pretty much

         11  the same.

         12                 The physical and psychological

         13  injuries that are sustained by the victims are often

         14  indistinguishable, trafficking victims and domestic

         15  violence victims, depending, of course, on how long

         16  they have suffered in that division. If they were

         17  only a short time in the trafficking, we caught them

         18  early or they found us early, it's less severe. Same

         19  as domestic violence.

         20                 If it's gone on for a very long time,

         21  it could be extremely difficult to deal with and

         22  very hard for them to become, to feel whole again.

         23                 Over the years at sanctuary, through

         24  all of the domestic violence victims we have served,

         25  we have assisted some trafficking victims from the
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          2  Philippines, from Venezuela, Bellaruse, Mexico, the

          3  Dominican Republic, Sri lanka, Russia, and just this

          4  month the Ukraine, where a hospital social worker

          5  called us with a woman who had come in for abuse and

          6  turned out to be unable to speak English, very

          7  young, and a trafficking victim. And we can talk a

          8  little bit more about that later and the dilemma

          9  that we faced in how we could help her. And she was

         10  both a labor and a potential sex trafficking victim,

         11  but she started as a labor trafficking victim.

         12                 You heard, I don't really need to

         13  repeat about what makes women so vulnerable to this.

         14  You know, they want to come to our golden shores for

         15  all the opportunities that America provides, and

         16  then they come here and find they are in quite an

         17  astonishingly terrible situation.

         18                 One case I will talk about very

         19  briefly, a woman that I'll call Rya. This is an

         20  example that is not always a criminal enterprise,

         21  it's sometimes, and that's what makes this also

         22  insidious of how to find it.

         23                 Rya was an 18 year old living in an

         24  impoverished village in Sri lanka. She was

         25  approached by Sam, an affluent American man. He
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          2  offered her a job in the United States taking care

          3  of his elderly mother. She agreed.

          4                 He took her instead to a country in

          5  the Middle East where he imprisoned her in a house

          6  with other women he had lured from four Asian

          7  countries. She became his domestic and sexual slave.

          8                 When she fought off his advances, he

          9  tied her up and raped her. Eventually, after she had

         10  borne him two children, and was pregnant with her

         11  third child, for various reasons, he decided to

         12  bring her to the United States.

         13                 In a hospital in Queens, she was

         14  interviewed by a social worker who referred her to

         15  Sanctuary for Families. We have worked with her and

         16  her three children for a very long time.

         17                 We have made progress with them, but

         18  the trauma and the damage is really profound and

         19  quite likely in some aspects to be irreversible.

         20                 Finally, let me say, of course,

         21  clearly New York is a major port, much of these,

         22  many of these traffick victims, labor and sex, are

         23  coming through New York. You have all asked many

         24  times, how many? Who are they? Do they go back? What

         25  do we know about them? We don't know a lot, that's
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          2  what's so interesting. We know it's there. We hear

          3  all these stories you've heard today, but we don't

          4  really have the numbers.

          5                 And one reason that I want to focus

          6  on is, like in a situation with the Ukrainian woman

          7  who just came to us this month, she had an apartment

          8  where the trafficker and the abuser were, you know,

          9  sort of keeping a close eye on her. What do we say

         10  to her about escaping? Where should she go to live

         11  while we try to help her get the remedies that will

         12  be available to her over a period of time?

         13                 You know, our first thought that we

         14  have a victim that we helped several years ago, and

         15  she's working and she's fine, maybe she can live

         16  with her.

         17                 I mean, this obviously doesn't make

         18  sense for a large number of people. We did

         19  eventually find a place for her in a shelter,

         20  domestic violence shelter. But that is problematic.

         21  Technically those shelters are for domestic violence

         22  victims, not labor trafficked individuals, and

         23  they're really for families, and this woman left her

         24  children back in Ukraine. So, where does she belong

         25  in the scheme in safe haven in New York? And I think
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          2  that's one of the issues that New York City needs to

          3  look at on a State level. Where are possible sources

          4  of funding for housing, sheltering?

          5                 I mean, we have shelters at

          6  Sanctuary. We would love it if we could set aside

          7  some beds for traffick victims specifically, where

          8  we didn't have to say, well, they do have children

          9  with them. Well, they're really domestic violence,

         10  they're not really labor -- you know, that's the

         11  dilemma. If they're strictly labor traffick and they

         12  don't have kids with them, they don't really fit

         13  within the regulations for domestic violence

         14  shelters.

         15                 So, on that note, I just again want

         16  to thank you, and I want to turn this over, first,

         17  to Amairis Pena-Chavez. Thank you.

         18                 MS. PENA-CHAVEZ: Good afternoon. I'm

         19  going to dive right in because I know that there are

         20  other people that want to share their testimony. And

         21  I want to talk about one of our clients at Sanctuary

         22  for Families. I want to tell the story of Kika.

         23                 Kika experiences severe sexual and

         24  physical violence from an early age and throughout

         25  her life. She was born in Caracas, Venezuela in
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          2  1972. Her father abandoned her family when she was

          3  ten months old, and she grew up in poverty.

          4                 When she was only eight years old,

          5  this is hard for me because I have an eight year

          6  old, she woke up to find a man on top of her raping

          7  her. She remembers being in pain, crying and

          8  bleeding. The man was her stepfather's brother.

          9                 Because she was too afraid and

         10  ashamed to tell anyone, this man continued to

         11  frequent the house, and Kika grew up constantly

         12  fearing her safety.

         13                 When she was 14 she began dating a

         14  boy who treated her violently, got her pregnant, and

         15  tried to force her to have an abortion.

         16                 In the conservative culture that she

         17  grew up in, Kika's pregnancy called a scandal. Her

         18  mother threw her out of the house and only allowed

         19  her to return to the house after she gave birth to

         20  her first daughter Dana.

         21                 Alone and in desperate conditions,

         22  this was Kika's childhood. Despite these severe

         23  hardships and suffering, Kika was always determined

         24  to work hard and create a better life for herself.

         25  She managed to finish high school and also attend a
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          2  night program in booking, which landed her a good

          3  job in the Human Resources Department of the Caracas

          4  Hilton.

          5                 The person assigned to train her at

          6  the Hilton was a man named Daniel. Daniel was

          7  leaving his position at the Hilton to work for the

          8  Banco Latino, a bank. Daniel was very nice and kind

          9  to Kika, something she had not experienced before.

         10  They began dating seriously. He even agreed to

         11  recognize her illegitimate daughter, Dana, by

         12  allowing her daughter to use his last name, a

         13  gesture that won over Kika's heart.

         14                 Unfortunately, after Daniel left the

         15  Hilton to work for Banco Latino, the bank withdrew

         16  the job offer, leaving Daniel without a job.

         17                 In 1992, he traveled to the U.S. with

         18  the help of his second cousin, a woman named

         19  "Sandra," who lived in Queens, New York.

         20                 Daniel remained in touch with Kika,

         21  and repeatedly urged her to join him in the U.S. He

         22  told her that he had a good job, promised to take

         23  care of her and sent her an airline ticket.

         24                 After much hesitation, Kika came to

         25  the U.S. to be with Daniel. Once in New York, she
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          2  discovered that Daniel, in fact, did not work and

          3  owed Sandra money. Sandra took away Kika's passport

          4  and the approximately $2,000 in life savings that

          5  Kika had brought with her. Sandra and Daniel then

          6  made Kika prostitute herself to pay off Daniel's

          7  debts.

          8                 Kika states "the first night was the

          9  worst. In my entire life I had had sexual relations

         10  with only two men, Dana's father and Daniel. In this

         11  one night I was forced to have intercourse with

         12  almost 20 men."

         13                 Forced into prostitution, Kika felt

         14  trapped and desperate. Kika describes her life

         15  during this period as being serially raped,

         16  subjected to other terrible experiences, and

         17  constantly fearing for her life.

         18                 Kika has three convictions from this

         19  phase of her life: A conviction in 1993, 1994 and

         20  1995, and each case resulting from pleas under the

         21  New York Penal Law, Section 230. In connection to

         22  the 1995 arrest, Kika identified in a line-up a man

         23  who killed another woman working in the same brothel

         24  as Kika by shooting that woman in the head with a

         25  gun in front of Kika.
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          2                 Kika testified in court for the

          3  prosecution of this case by the Queens District

          4  Attorney's Office and the man was ultimately

          5  convicted and imprisoned. Today, this act likely

          6  would have made her eligible for a U visa and Kika

          7  would have been treated like the victim that she is

          8  instead of a criminal.

          9                 Kika met her husband Arthur some time

         10  in 1994 at a brothel in Corona. He pursued her

         11  relentlessly and proposed marriage to her about

         12  three months later.

         13                 Kika was terrified of him and tried

         14  to get away from him, but he kept on finding her and

         15  pursuing her. Faced with limited options and

         16  exhausted at his relentless pursuit of her, she

         17  relented and moved in with his mother.

         18                 She eventually had two children by

         19  him. They were married in 1999. Throughout their

         20  relationship there was severe domestic violence that

         21  included frequent repeated and regular beatings,

         22  kicking, punching, among other things.

         23                 Sanctuary began to represent Kika

         24  after she and her two children fled to a domestic

         25  violence shelter. The shelter sent her to a Family
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          2  Court to pursue an order of protection.

          3                 Kika is now divorced from Arthur and

          4  lives with her two children in Staten Island, and

          5  she continues to be a part of the Sanctuary Family

          6  participating in our events.

          7                 I just want to thank you for giving

          8  me the opportunity to share just one story of the

          9  thousands of women who are trafficked for sexual

         10  exploitation. Thank you for your time, energy and

         11  concern to this widespread and urgent issue.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Thank you very

         13  much.

         14                 MS. LEIDHOLDT: Thank you very much.

         15  In my remarks today, I'd like to focus on how our

         16  criminal justice system here in New York City deals

         17  with women like Kika.

         18                 Just first I'd like to say how

         19  honored I am to be testifying before the Women's

         20  Issues Committee. It's very, very clear that

         21  trafficking and women and girls for purposes of

         22  forced labor and sexual exploitation is one of the

         23  most urgent issues facing women's rights advocates

         24  today.

         25                 While women and girls are not the
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          2  only victims of human trafficking, they constitute

          3  the largest percentage of victims. According to the

          4  State Department, 80 percent of victims of human

          5  trafficking are women and girls, and of these, 70

          6  percent are victims of sex trafficking.

          7                 In addition to ensuring labor or sex

          8  slavery, these victims also routinely suffer rape,

          9  battering, sexual abuse, sexual harassment and even

         10  femicide, as Kika's story demonstrates.

         11                 Make no mistake, human trafficking,

         12  like domestic violence, is profoundly gendered, and

         13  requires us to draw on all of the skills and all of

         14  the knowledge we developed addressing other and

         15  related forms of violence against women.

         16                 What is human trafficking? The truth

         17  is, there is not a single legal definition, and it's

         18  very, very important to think about the definition

         19  that we use for human trafficking, but as we need to

         20  think about are we excluding trafficking victims,

         21  and are we providing traffickers with loopholes? The

         22  first internationally agreed upon definition is

         23  contained in the trafficking protocol to the UN

         24  convention on transnational organized crime that was

         25  ratified by the US government this past year. And it
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          2  defines trafficking and persons, and just listen to

          3  this definition, as quote, the recruitment,

          4  transportation, transfer, harboring or receipt of

          5  persons by means of the threat or use of force or

          6  other forms of coercion of abduction, of fraud, of

          7  deception, of the abuse of power or of a position of

          8  vulnerability, or the giving or receiving of

          9  payments or benefits to achieve the consent of a

         10  person having control over another person for the

         11  purpose of sexual exploitation or forced labor.

         12                 Under the protocol the consent of a

         13  victim is irrelevant if any of these means have been

         14  used. The Trafficking Victims Protection Act was

         15  passed by Congress in the Year 2000, has a

         16  definition of sex trafficking, which defines sex

         17  trafficking as the recruitment, harboring,

         18  transportation provision or attaining of a person

         19  for the purpose of a commercial sexual act, and it

         20  also defines severe forms of trafficking when force,

         21  fraud or coercion have been used, or when the victim

         22  is under the age of 18, and we need to acknowledge

         23  something and that is a force-based definition of

         24  trafficking can be an obstacle to prosecuting

         25  traffickers and to protecting victims.
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          2                 None of these definitions, however,

          3  define trafficking in terms of movement. Although

          4  trafficking across international borders has

          5  dominated the media's attention, it is clear that

          6  cases of domestic trafficking far outnumber those of

          7  international trafficking, with these victims even

          8  more likely than their internationally trafficked

          9  counterparts to be misidentified simply as

         10  quote/unquote willing prostitutes, or as

         11  quote/unquote willing workers.

         12                 And just to address the term willing

         13  prostitute, which I think we've heard at the

         14  hearings here today, we found that that willing

         15  prostitute is likely to have entered the sex

         16  industry as a trafficking victim.

         17                 While immigrants are especially

         18  vulnerable to human traffickers, something we need

         19  to focus on in our City with so many immigrants here

         20  in New York City, many immigrants become trafficking

         21  victims after they arrive in their new country. In

         22  other words, they are not trafficked here across

         23  international borders as Kika was, and actually as

         24  Rya was in the earlier examples.

         25                 But my focus here is to focus on
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          2  response of the New York City's Criminal Justice

          3  System to trafficking and persons. It's clear that

          4  local law enforcement officials are far more likely

          5  to encounter cases of human trafficking than their

          6  federal counterparts, and we've heard some examples

          7  here today, the example that you used, Council

          8  Member Liu, a homeowner becomes suspicious when a

          9  parade of strange men enter and leave the nearby

         10  apartment all night. He calls the City Council

         11  member who contacts the local precinct. A police

         12  officer on a routine radio run encounters a

         13  terrified, disheveled woman whose body is covered

         14  with bruises. A customer calls 9-1-1 when a grocery

         15  store worker assisting her passes out from

         16  exhaustion.

         17                 But in spite of their proximity to

         18  the crime of human trafficking, local police are

         19  often far less likely to correctly identify human

         20  trafficking cases than are their federal

         21  counterparts.

         22                 At Sanctuary, we have seen cases

         23  where our clients who have been trafficked were

         24  arrested and prosecuted for prostitution, with no

         25  investigation whatsoever made into how they got into
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          2  prostitution, and what was keeping them there.

          3                 Kika, for example, was arrested and

          4  convicted of prostitution four times, even though

          5  the indicia of human trafficking were clearly

          6  present, and a young immigrant woman clearly

          7  traumatized who didn't speak a word of English, and

          8  even when another trafficking victim was murdered in

          9  front of her and she became a cooperating witness

         10  with the District Attorney's Office, the authorities

         11  did not think to inquire into her circumstances.

         12                 I'd like to stress that evidence that

         13  a prostitute woman or girl is under the control of a

         14  pimp, is a tell-tale sign of human trafficking and

         15  should in and of itself prompt further

         16  investigation. Alas, it rarely does.

         17                 Like local police, local prosecutors

         18  and judges also frequently fail to identify

         19  trafficking victims. The experience I had one night

         20  as a criminal defense attorney for The Legal Aid

         21  Society remains with me to this day. Working

         22  arraignments, I encountered a group of Latina women

         23  huddled together in the pens. A brothel had been

         24  busted and the women, all from the Dominican

         25  Republic and speaking only Spanish, had been
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          2  arrested for prostitution.

          3                 Before I began to interview them, a

          4  male attorney swept past me, informed me that he was

          5  representing the women. When I asked him who he was,

          6  he told me that he had been hired by the manager of

          7  the brothel.

          8                 I immediately went to the arraignment

          9  judge and informed him that the lawyer for the women

         10  appeared to have a conflict of interest. I pleaded

         11  with the judge to interview the women in camera to

         12  see if they actually wanted to be represented by

         13  this lawyer who had been hired by the brothel

         14  owners.

         15                 The judge ignored my pleas and the

         16  women were released back into the control of the

         17  brothel owner.

         18                 My experience was far from an

         19  isolated incident. Each time Kika pled guilty to

         20  prostitution, and we're talking about four separate

         21  times, in Queens Criminal Court, the lawyer

         22  representing her was hired by the people who had

         23  trafficked her.

         24                 Prosecutors, judges and the defense

         25  bar must wake up to the fact that the cases like
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          2  these which are heard every day in the New York City

          3  courts, trafficking victims are not only being

          4  denied protection, they're being denied their

          5  fundamental right to due process.

          6                 The consequences of treating

          7  trafficking victims as criminals are extremely,

          8  extremely serious. Trafficking victims who are

          9  mothers have been charged with child neglect, after

         10  convictions for prostitution, and have had these

         11  convictions used against them in child custody often

         12  by the very men who participated in their

         13  exploitation.

         14                 Kika's husband pursued custody of

         15  their two children, her abusive husband, and

         16  ultimately won custody, raising the issue that she

         17  had prostitution convictions. Immigrant trafficking

         18  victims with convictions of prostitution are

         19  considered under current immigration law to have

         20  committed crimes of moral turpitude and are subject

         21  to deportation.

         22                 As GEMS has pointed out, trafficked

         23  girls who are charged with prostitution in our

         24  juvenile justice system, are designated juvenile

         25  delinquents, and sent to punitive group homes where
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          2  their sexual exploitation often continues.

          3                 While local criminal justice

          4  authorities tend to treat trafficking victims as

          5  criminals, punishing them, stigmatizing them and

          6  inadvertently intensifying their trafficker's

          7  control over them, police and prosecutors tend to

          8  ignore the real criminals, both the pimps and other

          9  sex industry entrepreneurs who profit from

         10  trafficking victims' abuse and exploitation, and

         11  often blatantly advertise their businesses in our

         12  local newspapers, and the buyers who create the

         13  economic incentive for the traffickers and subject

         14  their victims to an experience that has been called

         15  tantamount to rape, as this is how the UN Special

         16  Rapporteur on Trafficking has described what buyers

         17  do to trafficking victims. While Kika was arrested

         18  no less than four times, none of the criminals in

         19  the enterprise that recruited, enslaved and pimped

         20  her, were ever arrested.

         21                 Kika's husband, who regularly

         22  committed the crime of patronizing a prostitute, has

         23  never been arrested.

         24                 Without a doubt, the absence of a

         25  state anti-trafficking law that clearly and
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          2  comprehensively defines the crime, that directs

          3  meaningful penalties against the perpetrators, and

          4  that provides a defense to victims contributes to

          5  this miscarriage of justice. But even now under

          6  existing law New York City's police prosecutors and

          7  judges, in concert with relevant New York City

          8  agencies, can do so much more to hold traffickers

          9  accountable and to protect their victims.

         10                 Instead of misdirecting scarce

         11  criminal justice resources against the victims,

         12  police and prosecutors need to focus their

         13  investigations and prosecutions on the buyers and

         14  sellers in human merchandise, for example, by

         15  enforcing the law against patronizing and promoting

         16  prostitution. Training for police and prosecutors on

         17  investigating human trafficking cases, and

         18  identifying victims, is urgently needed, as has been

         19  pointed out here over and over again.

         20                 Some training that has taken place

         21  has misguidedly emphasized screening out victims

         22  when there are not readily apparent indicia of

         23  force, rather than recognizing the more subtle

         24  tactics of power and control the traffickers

         25  frequently employ.
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          2                 The juvenile justice system needs to

          3  recognize that prostituted children are by

          4  definition trafficking victims and victims of child

          5  rape.

          6                 While those who buy and sell them

          7  must be charged with felony level crimes and

          8  prosecuted zealously, these child victims should

          9  never be the subjects of juvenile delinquency

         10  adjudications.

         11                 It is not an exaggeration to say that

         12  our criminal justice system systematically fails the

         13  victims of the crime that human trafficking much in

         14  the same way that a little over a decade ago our

         15  criminal justice system systematically failed

         16  victims of domestic violence.

         17                 Our hope is that these hearings today

         18  can be a first step to rectifying the situation, and

         19  to effecting the kind of transformation in law and

         20  in public policy that domestic violence victims have

         21  brought about over the last three decades.

         22                 Thank you so much.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Thank you very

         24  much.

         25                 Do you have a question?
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          2                 I just want to say that I think you

          3  brought up -- I also serve on the Juvenile Justice

          4  Committee, and I think that you raised a very good

          5  point, because interesting, the numbers that came

          6  before the last hearing was that the incarcerations

          7  of the young boys was going down, but with the young

          8  girls it was going up.

          9                 So, I think that there's an

         10  interesting correlation here, and I'm going to see

         11  what -- we should have had the Commissioner of

         12  Juvenile Justice here, I think.

         13                 MS. LEIDHOLDT: And not long ago, a

         14  Family Court judge who presides over juvenile

         15  delinquency proceedings actually pleaded with me to

         16  see if I knew of resources for the girls who were

         17  being brought before her in PINs cases and juvenile

         18  delinquency proceedings, because the girls were

         19  being charged with prostitution, and there were

         20  absolutely no services, but they were being treated

         21  and stigmatized as perpetrators and not as the

         22  victims they are.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: You're right. And

         24  that's something that was addressed much earlier,

         25  but certainly we're going to really look. There
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          2  needs to be a better coordination of the different

          3  agencies I think, because in one area juvenile

          4  justice is rising, and particularly among the 11

          5  year olds and 12 year olds, and we heard the

          6  testimony of trafficking with the 11 and ten year

          7  olds. So there has to be a correlation.

          8                 Thank you very much for testifying

          9  and for waiting to do so.

         10                 MS. LEIDHOLDT: Thank you so much.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: The next panel is

         12  Carol Smolenski and the Advisory Council of

         13  Coalition for Trafficking, Norma Ramos, and we're

         14  going to ask Suzanne Tomatore, the New York Bar

         15  Immigrant Women's and Children's Division. And also

         16  Sapna Patel, the Urban Justice Center. I think we'll

         17  ask all of you to come up at once.

         18                 Please introduce yourselves for the

         19  record, and I gather we're getting testimony. Thank

         20  you.

         21                 MS. RAMOS: Norma Ramos, Environmental

         22  and Feminist Attorney.

         23                 MS. TOMATORE: Suzanne Tomatore,

         24  Director of the Immigrant Women and Children Project

         25  at the City Bar Justice Center.
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          2                 MS. SMOLENSKI: I'm Carol Smolenski,

          3  Executive Director of ECPAT-USA.

          4                 MS. PATEL: Good afternoon. I'm Sapna

          5  Patel. I'm a staff attorney with the Sex Workers

          6  Project at the Urban Justice Center.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Who wants to go

          8  first? Anyone can be aggressive and say I'll go

          9  first.

         10                 MS. RAMOS: I was moved to testify

         11  this afternoon, because I've been here from almost

         12  the beginning listening to the testimony, for

         13  instance, of the New York PD, and I am a founding

         14  member of the Board of Advisors of the Coalition

         15  Against Trafficking and Women. And for me, I want to

         16  start out by saying that I began my career as a

         17  public interest attorney doing direct service to

         18  poor people as a legal services attorney, before I

         19  then went on to do environmental work. But I've

         20  always devoted a portion of my career to work to

         21  ending violence against women, and for me, that is

         22  what prostitution has always been.

         23                 As a college student, I volunteered

         24  at Legal Aid to decide whether or not I wanted to

         25  become an attorney, and I began to see the number of
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          2  prostitutes that were being arrested. At this time I

          3  was in the Bronx. And it was always clear to me, the

          4  distinction between other criminals that were being

          5  processed and the prostituted women. And that's what

          6  I want to talk about today, what is prostitution?

          7  Because I think that there are a lot of myths around

          8  prostitution, and I heard some of them come out

          9  today.

         10                 First and foremost, prostitution is a

         11  social justice and a human rights issue.

         12  Prostitution is never a choice from my point of

         13  view. It always comes out of negative social

         14  conditions that work to impair or eliminate this

         15  whole notion of choice that we enjoy in a democratic

         16  country, and as human beings. We get to grow up, we

         17  all hope, and begin to move and operate in the world

         18  all in a way that defines our humanity and honors

         19  the creativity and the talents that we've been given

         20  in the world.

         21                 And I don't think anybody comes into

         22  the world saying, gee, I think maybe I want to be a

         23  lawyer, a doctor or maybe I'll be a prostitute. So,

         24  I've never understood prostitution to be a function

         25  of choice. It's always been a function of lack of
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          2  choice and underlying inequality of women.

          3                 Keeping in mind that the average

          4  prostituted woman enters prostitution at age 14. And

          5  more than 70 percent, and this is a conservative

          6  estimate, because from what I've understood from

          7  interviewing prostituted women, every one I have

          8  ever spoken to has been sexually abused in

          9  childhood.

         10                 In other words, it is severe

         11  childhood trauma that sets a woman up for being

         12  vulnerable to prostitution. And trafficking is the

         13  mode of entry into prostitution and prostitution is

         14  built on a foundation of sexual abuse, and is a form

         15  of violence against women.

         16                 Some prostituted women have

         17  themselves described prostitution as prepaid rape.

         18  We need to change the way that we language and talk

         19  about prostitution that reflects the reality of

         20  prostitution, which is all designed to hide the role

         21  of men in prostitution, both the fact that men

         22  create the institution of prostitution and keep

         23  going.

         24                 And that is mostly hidden from view.

         25  So, when I talk about prostituted women, I say
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          2  prostituted women, which reflects the fact that

          3  prostitution is something that is done to women,

          4  it's not something that a woman is.

          5                 I also refer to the men who would

          6  exploit women in this way, which is the ultimate

          7  denial of a woman's humanity as users, not as

          8  buyers, which serves to legitimize prostitution by

          9  talking about it as a profession, when, in fact, it

         10  is the oldest oppression.

         11                 And I think that for me, I was kind

         12  of taken aback listening to the Police Department

         13  testimony, because they are very archaic in the way

         14  that they are relating to this, and I think for the

         15  City Council to pass this resolution, I think there

         16  also has to be some local action that the City

         17  Council moves forward with in a leadership role to

         18  get the New York PD to understand that the way that

         19  they're dealing with prostitution is only going to

         20  serve to keep the victims of prostitution in that

         21  track and to keep the men's role in keeping it alive

         22  and keeping this oppression going.

         23                 And I'm going to end on that note.

         24                 MS. TOMATORE: Good afternoon, Madam

         25  Chairperson, Council members, staff, ladies and
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          2  gentlemen. Thank you for allowing me the opportunity

          3  to testify today.

          4                 My name is Suzanne Tomatore, and I'm

          5  the Director of the Immigrant Women and Children

          6  Project, IWC, at the City Bar Justice Center, which

          7  is a non-profit legal services arm of the New York

          8  City Bar Association.

          9                 This project provides direct legal

         10  services to immigrant survivors of domestic

         11  violence, gender-based violent crimes and human

         12  trafficking.

         13                 We would like to thank the City

         14  Council for partially funding our program over the

         15  past five years.

         16                 IWC provides assistance with various

         17  legal matters, including immigration and public

         18  benefits advocacy, as well as advice and counsel on

         19  criminal and civil matters.

         20                 We receive referrals from federal and

         21  local law enforcement, service providers, ethnic

         22  community-based or religious organizations and good

         23  samaritans.

         24                 Over the past four years, I have

         25  worked with almost 80 victims of human trafficking
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          2  as defined by the federal Trafficking Victims

          3  Protection Act. I have also acted as a consultant on

          4  numerous cases of human trafficking throughout the

          5  United States.

          6                 In addition, we were also part of the

          7  CRT Project, which was discussed earlier.

          8                 I have worked on both forced labor

          9  and sex trafficking cases, and I have represented

         10  women forced into prostitution, exotic dancing, and

         11  with women who are mail order brides who are

         12  trafficked into servile marriages.

         13                 However, the majority of the

         14  trafficking cases that I see in my office are people

         15  who are trafficked into forced labor.

         16                 Here in New York City we have

         17  documented cases of people trafficked into debt

         18  bondage, restaurant labor, begging, street peddling

         19  and domestic workers.

         20                 In Upstate New York there have been

         21  documented cases of human trafficking among

         22  agricultural workers as well.

         23                 Most of my clients who are trafficked

         24  into forced labor are domestic workers, and, in

         25  fact, are really enslaved in these traffickers'

                                                            186

          1  COMMITTEE ON WOMEN'S ISSUES

          2  households.

          3                 Generally they are offered a job

          4  abroad, either an agency or answering a newspaper

          5  advertisement. The employer promises to pay them

          6  better than the standard wage in the home country.

          7                 The worker generally plans to work

          8  for a few years and then return home.

          9                 However, when they arrive in the US,

         10  their passports are withheld, they are physically or

         11  sexually abused or there is a threat of abuse

         12  against themselves or family members who remain in

         13  the home country.

         14                 Typically they are told they cannot

         15  go outside or have a day off, or even to go to

         16  church. They may be permitted to take children in

         17  their charge to the park or to school, but that is

         18  often the only time that they're allowed outside.

         19                 These trafficked domestic workers are

         20  forced to work 15 or more hours a day, as a maid,

         21  nanny, cook and caterer of parties for little or no

         22  pay. They may have no way to call their families

         23  back in the home country, or their calls are closely

         24  monitored. They often do not speak English or know

         25  anyone who could help them here in this country.
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          2                 There may be threats against family

          3  members in the home country, and these violations

          4  really rise above and beyond just labor violations.

          5  They're human rights violations. In addition, a

          6  large percentage of our domestic worker clients were

          7  trafficked by UN or consulur officials.

          8                 While the New York State law is not

          9  able to address diplomatic immunity, I want to

         10  stress how important it is that we adopt a

         11  comprehensive human trafficking law for New York

         12  State similar to the federal Trafficking Victims

         13  Protection Act, and in that, it should include

         14  different types of forced labor and address more

         15  than just sex trafficking.

         16                 Human trafficking is a series of

         17  human rights violations and may not always be

         18  obvious or clear. There is no profile of a victim as

         19  human trafficking is a global issue with many

         20  different faces working in many different

         21  industries.

         22                 I have clients from many different

         23  countries with each situation and story slightly

         24  different.

         25                 This is why training for first
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          2  responders, such as law enforcement, prosecutors,

          3  health care and social service providers is

          4  essential to victim identification.

          5                 There is limited federal funding in

          6  this area, and New York City and State must step in

          7  by providing this funding to ensure training so that

          8  the penal and other aspects of this proposed law

          9  could be effectively carried out.

         10                 Comprehensive training modules, such

         11  as one developed by the Freedom Network, a national

         12  coalition of over 25 agencies that serve victims of

         13  trafficking already exist, but funding must be

         14  available for trainers to reach a broad audience of

         15  first responders.

         16                 Funding for direct service providers

         17  is essential as well, including legal and social

         18  service providers who have ties within various

         19  communities to provide linguistically and culturally

         20  appropriate services to victims.

         21                 There are many benefits available to

         22  victims who are willing to cooperate with law

         23  enforcement under the federal legislation.

         24                 However, State and local law

         25  enforcement and service providers are not aware of
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          2  these benefits, then victims are often in danger of

          3  being abused and exploited again if they do not know

          4  their legal rights.

          5                 Some victims who do not receive

          6  social service and legal counseling continue to seek

          7  employments in the fields that they were trafficked

          8  into, such as prostitution or nude dancing, in order

          9  to support themselves because they are not informed

         10  of their rights.

         11                 Social service issues must be

         12  addressed by the State and there must be adequate

         13  funding to do so.

         14                 This proposed legislation, with

         15  funding for training and for social services is

         16  essential to battle this global phenomenon and is

         17  necessary that New York, the State of New York

         18  become a leader in this battle.

         19                 I also urge the City Council to

         20  follow-up with NYPD and monitor what they're

         21  actually doing with that federal funding.

         22                 I was under the impression that

         23  funding was to continue the work of the Community

         24  Response to Trafficking in continuing that

         25  collaborative effort that actually ended a little
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          2  over a year ago, and I thought that funding was to

          3  ensure that that collaboration continue, and I'm

          4  sure Carol will talk a little bit more about that.

          5                 In addition, NYPD had a human

          6  trafficking division within the vice unit, from

          7  about 2002 to 2004, and that unit was dissolved.

          8                 I'm not really sure why it was

          9  dissolved, and the person that was here today

         10  speaking on behalf of NYPD kept talking about it as

         11  if it was something forming in the future.

         12                 I believe they got the funding last

         13  year, so I'll defer to Carol to continue that.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Thanks for

         15  bringing that here and we certainly will follow-up

         16  on that.

         17                 Carol, you're next.

         18                 MS. SMOLENSKI: Thanks, Suzanne, and

         19  thank you, Madam Chairperson, for this opportunity

         20  to talk to you.

         21                 I'm Carol Smolenski, Executive

         22  Director of ECPAT-USA. And, God, I have so many

         23  things to say, and I know you don't have time.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: No, that's okay.

         25  You've waited a long time. Maybe you might be able
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          2  to say some of the things that we have heard and

          3  what we haven't heard. I would appreciate that.

          4                 MS. SMOLENSKI: Yes. I'm actually

          5  going to skip the list of our credentials of having

          6  worked on this and information about what human

          7  trafficking is, because you're all experts on that

          8  by now. I mean, I'm actually very impressed by --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Yes, because the

         10  testimony has been really excellent.

         11                 MS. SMOLENSKI: Yes, you had great

         12  informants. But I also found that the Council

         13  Members actually all were very well informed.

         14                 So, I really just wanted to cut right

         15  to the chase here. We're talking about the CRT

         16  program and I'm really sorry that the other Council

         17  members aren't here, because I have answers to some

         18  of their questions.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: We have so many

         20  hearings, and it's not right in this building, they

         21  go across the street, so I know.

         22                 MS. SMOLENSKI: Okay, I'm going to

         23  describe the CRT project and what's going on now as

         24  far as we know it with the NYPD.

         25                 In 2002, as we've all talked about --
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          2  oh, my introductory comment was going to be that I

          3  was pleased but shocked to hear the NYPD talking

          4  about their great cooperation with the CRT project,

          5  because it's been about a year or so since we've

          6  actually heard from them on what they're doing and

          7  how they're following up and we've been trying to

          8  reach out to them and we're not really getting much

          9  of a response.

         10                 So, let me describe the project.

         11                 In 2002, ECPAT-USA and our partner

         12  organization IOFA, who unfortunately could not be

         13  here today, received funding from the Department of

         14  Health and Human Services to create the New York

         15  City Community Response to Trafficking Project. The

         16  philosophy behind the project is that no one

         17  organization or group alone can effectively prevent

         18  human trafficking, protect victims and prosecute

         19  traffickers. The only way to accomplish these

         20  objectives is through a coordinated, collaborative

         21  effort, and that's what CRT is.

         22                 The CRT model had three components:

         23  training, outreach into at-risk communities, and

         24  development of the multidisciplinary CRT working

         25  group.
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          2                 During the three years of our

          3  project, CRT created outreach materials in eight

          4  languages that helped community-based organizations

          5  reach out to and identify victims of human

          6  trafficking. Two of these are in your packets.

          7                 I just gave the Spanish language and

          8  the Chinese language outreach materials.

          9                 We trained hundreds of NYPD officers,

         10  Assistant DAs, staffs of hospitals, other service

         11  providers, community-based organizations and others

         12  in New York City about the Trafficking Victims

         13  Protection Act, the federal law, how to identify

         14  victims and what to do, what victims are identified.

         15  And then we organized the country's first working

         16  group of local and federal law enforcement officers,

         17  service providers and community-based organizations.

         18                 I'm proud to say that the CRT working

         19  group became the model for DOJ-funded task forces

         20  around the country. So, Council member earlier had

         21  asked, well, are there other models? Well, in fact,

         22  New York City has been in the lead for a long time

         23  and is the model for how this work can go forward in

         24  a coordinated way.

         25                 So, I want to elaborate on the
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          2  working group model for a minute. It's important

          3  because we want to see New York City retain its

          4  position as in the lead on human trafficking.

          5                 The working group members were, and

          6  they are listed in the guidelines on page five,

          7  NYPD, four of our five District Attorneys, New York

          8  State Attorney General, FBI, ICE, US Department of

          9  Labor, US, Assistant US Attorneys from both the

         10  southern and eastern districts, service providers

         11  funded to provide services to trafficking victims in

         12  New York City.

         13                 Other service providers and community

         14  groups from neighborhoods with large populations at

         15  risk for human trafficking. The group met every two

         16  to three months for two and a half years with

         17  remarkably consistent membership and committed

         18  participation. The initial tensions around the

         19  table, not only between community groups and law

         20  enforcement groups, but also between local and

         21  federal law enforcement, which was very prevalent,

         22  gradually melted away under the professional

         23  leadership and facilitation that we provided.

         24                 The working group succeeded in

         25  creating a set of guidelines. Again, these are in
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          2  your packet, for responding to cases of human

          3  trafficking. Again, it's the first in the country.

          4  It was the first set of written guidelines that were

          5  created, and a lot of groups have asked us for them,

          6  although they can't just be replicated, every city

          7  does need to come up with their own guidelines, but

          8  we're the first.

          9                 Because of the unique nature of the

         10  crime of trafficking, and I know you know all about

         11  that now, dealing with human trafficking cases

         12  requires a collaboration of law enforcement at local

         13  and federal levels and with service providers.

         14                 Because, as you've heard, human

         15  trafficking is a crime that will often be discovered

         16  first by local law enforcement, they play a crucial

         17  role.

         18                 However, at this point it's still a

         19  federal crime, and because the perpetrators and the

         20  victims are very often from other countries, federal

         21  investigative prosecutorial and immigration

         22  officials are necessarily involved.

         23                 Finally, because victims of human

         24  trafficking are usually abused, exploited,

         25  traumatized and terrified, there's a crucial role
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          2  for service providers in assisting victims, for two

          3  reasons: the victims deserve the social support and

          4  aid that they can get, and their cooperation is also

          5  needed in making a case against their traffickers.

          6                 The working group promoted

          7  communication and trust, helped to establish

          8  relationships and formal collaboration among

          9  community groups and law enforcement, clarified the

         10  roles and responsibilities of each sector, and

         11  strengthened the commitment of both in their work

         12  with trafficking victims and with each other.

         13                 It was a very important forum for

         14  people to talk across the barriers that usually

         15  exist between those different groups.

         16                 Because these key players in the

         17  anti-trafficking movement are often isolated from

         18  one another, unable to draw from each other's unique

         19  strengths, while sharing their own experience,

         20  stories and lessons, the working group placed a

         21  crucial role in correct this problem and easing the

         22  treatment of trafficking victims and prosecutions of

         23  traffickers in New York City.

         24                 And, again, turning to your packets,

         25  there's a brochure, a booklet in here that has kind
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          2  of testimonials in a way from working group members

          3  about why the working group worked and how it helped

          4  them in their work, whether they were a prosecutor,

          5  an investigator or a service provider.

          6                 Unfortunately, for us, the CRT

          7  project funding ended at the end of 2005, but we

          8  were pleased that the NYPD had applied for funding

          9  to continue the collaboration and work with Safe

         10  Horizon in continuing the service provision part of

         11  the work.

         12                 The US Department of Justice gave, as

         13  you've heard, a lot now, NYPD, $450,000.

         14                 We know, as far as DOJ is concerned,

         15  the money was given to New York City last September,

         16  and when you talk to NYPD, they say, well, we just

         17  got the money in July. So, you know, I can't match

         18  up those two sides of the story, but that's what

         19  they say.

         20                 We found that Safe Horizon continued

         21  its superlative work in aiding trafficking victims,

         22  but the NYPD does not seem to be carrying out its

         23  responsibility to continue the innovative CRT

         24  approach.

         25                 Part of the grant was, some of it was
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          2  to go for supplementing NYPD's ability to do

          3  investigations, but part of it was also supposed to

          4  be to continue the collaboration that had been so

          5  successful in New York City.

          6                 Now, this is my first time actually

          7  speaking out about it in this way. We've had a very

          8  good relationship with NYPD. I haven't wanted to end

          9  the relationship we've had, but it really is

         10  important that other people now know that we haven't

         11  heard from them in something like almost a year, as

         12  we have reached out with them, encouraged them to

         13  try to do this, trying to get them to get training

         14  because there's been lots of turnover in cops who

         15  are doing this, they need training, they need to be

         16  continual training, actually would love to get it

         17  into the academy, but that's also been difficult.

         18                 Things that they should be doing. As

         19  continuing the working group, the guidelines need to

         20  be updated because there's been turnover. If State

         21  Legislation is passed, it will change the guidelines

         22  dramatically. The funding environment for services

         23  has changed, as federal funding has changed, and

         24  these guidelines are sort of based on what was a

         25  year ago. Things are changing fast in the
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          2  trafficking field, and so NYPD, once again has the

          3  funding to work on this type of thing, and we just

          4  haven't heard from them about how they will do it.

          5                 Let's see, I think I was going to say

          6  one other thing. I mean, I guess that's it. It's

          7  just that the environment is changing. I hope that

          8  the City Council will find the resources to help

          9  NYPD continue the collaboration. We would, of

         10  course, love to be involved in continuing what we

         11  had done so successfully as a model for the country

         12  before, and so we turn to you to monitor what the

         13  NYPD do to give support and sort of guidance to how

         14  it should go forward.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Thank you very

         16  much. We certainly are going to do that, because

         17  some of the testimony from the Police Department was

         18  eye-opening, because they certainly have not had

         19  that on their level of priorities, and that was

         20  pretty obvious.

         21                 Thank you.

         22                 MS. PATEL: Good afternoon. Again, as

         23  a reminder, my name is Sapna Patel. I'm a staff

         24  attorney with the Sex Workers Project at the Urban

         25  Justice Center, and we are a member of New York
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          2  Anti-Trafficking Network, and also the Community

          3  Response Team working group to trafficking as well.

          4                 Basically we do direct services to

          5  victims who are trafficked into sex work, and we

          6  ensure that their rights are protected as victims

          7  and that they have access to legal and other

          8  benefits.

          9                 As Carol did as well, my testimony is

         10  quite long, but I'm not going to repeat it word for

         11  word, as many people have done today.

         12                 I'm just going to go over the major

         13  points that we feel are important for any New York

         14  Anti-Trafficking legislation that will be brought

         15  this session and hopefully be passed.

         16                 Also, I won't be talking about

         17  several versions of the bill that were brought

         18  forward last session, so I won't be talking about

         19  any specific bill, as new legislation will again be

         20  reintroduced this session, but will talk in general

         21  about three major points, and those points are that

         22  we think that appropriations must be allotted for

         23  services within the legislation, appropriations must

         24  be made for training, for law enforcement, first

         25  responders, legal health care service providers, et
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          2  cetera, and we actually don't think that there

          3  actually should be any policies in demand within the

          4  New York State Anti-Trafficking Legislation.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Excuse me. Did you

          6  say you don't think there should be?

          7                 MS. PATEL: I did. And I know that's

          8  different from what you've heard.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: No, no. Some of

         10  the questions have been raised about that. Why do

         11  you say that? If I can interrupt your delivery for a

         12  moment.

         13                 Or do you address that in the rest?

         14                 MS. PATEL: I do actually.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Okay. So then

         16  continue.

         17                 MS. PATEL: We believe that enacting a

         18  penal code section relating to trafficking without

         19  also enacting funding for services, funding for

         20  training, public assistance for trafficked persons,

         21  and coordination between State and federal

         22  governments to ensure necessary immigration

         23  benefits, is essentially useless.

         24                 And on the first point, New York

         25  State Anti-trafficking legislation must include
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          2  provisions for appropriations for services, and

          3  those services should not be tied to cooperation

          4  with law enforcement or hinge on immigration status.

          5  And I'll give a quick example.

          6                 Currently, in order to obtain

          7  continued presence and the TVs, we have several

          8  clients who are willing to cooperate with law

          9  enforcement in the investigation and prosecution of

         10  their traffickers.

         11                 Although we have alerted federal law

         12  enforcement to our clients' presence, law

         13  enforcement has been unable to meet with our client

         14  due to lack of resources and lack of time, to

         15  absolutely no fault of the clients or an

         16  unwillingness of them to cooperate.

         17                 Unfortunately, due to the requirement

         18  that victims of trafficking cooperate with law

         19  enforcement, and that law enforcement actually

         20  facilitate that continued presence or T visa

         21  certification, our clients are basically sitting

         22  around without immigration status and are thus

         23  suffering indefinitely from the lack of benefits and

         24  services at both the State and federal level.

         25                 It is imperative that the New York
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          2  State Anti-Trafficking legislation provide

          3  mechanisms to allow victims of trafficking to obtain

          4  necessary State benefits immediately upon

          5  identifying them as victims of trafficking. And one

          6  of the examples may be if we can somehow figure out

          7  how service providers, such as attorneys, myself and

          8  maybe Suzanne, how we can figure out a way that we

          9  can identify victims of trafficking and then be able

         10  to apply on behalf of them directly to state

         11  agencies for their benefits, without waiting for

         12  their immigration status to kick in.

         13                 Second, New York Anti-Trafficking

         14  legislation must include provisions for

         15  appropriations for trainings of law enforcement,

         16  first responders, health services and other service

         17  providers. And I'll give a quick example again on

         18  this.

         19                 Through a caseworker at another

         20  agency that we work very closely with, the New York

         21  Association for New Americans, we at the SWP were

         22  alerted to a victim of trafficking who was a minor,

         23  we'll call her Alisa, who was arrested for

         24  prostitution and immediately sent with New York City

         25  Administration for Children's Services, or ACS to

                                                            204

          1  COMMITTEE ON WOMEN'S ISSUES

          2  foster homes because service providers in the

          3  courtroom recognized her as a minor and is a

          4  possible victim of trafficking. So, this is actually

          5  very good.

          6                 But although ACS's immediately in

          7  taking Alisa out of her situation was correct, ACS

          8  was not properly trained in providing Alisa with

          9  appropriate services or legal representation

         10  regarding her trafficking situation.

         11                 In fact, ACS initially blocked any

         12  contact between Alisa and local service providers,

         13  including us as attorneys expertly trained in

         14  advocating and servicing minor victims of

         15  trafficking due to the lack of familiarity with

         16  established best practices, local trafficking

         17  organizations, and the unique needs immigration and

         18  law enforcement ramifications surrounding traffic

         19  persons.

         20                 In addition, ACS allowed and

         21  encouraged Alisa to meet with local prosecutors in

         22  the prosecutor's office regarding her traffic

         23  situation, even though according to the federal

         24  Trafficking Victims Protection Act, any person under

         25  the age of 18 is not required to cooperate with
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          2  federal law enforcement.

          3                 So, before we as trafficking experts

          4  could meet with Alisa, she already testified before

          5  a grand jury in the prosecution of an accomplice of

          6  her trafficker without legal representation, without

          7  any information as to her rights as a victim.

          8                 Luckily, though, and however, after

          9  significant amount of intervention by myself, as

         10  well as the caseworker at NYANA, both ACS and the

         11  prosecutor's office were extremely receptive to our

         12  presence and cognizant of Alisa's needs, stemming

         13  from the fact that she had been trafficked.

         14                 However, if both ACS and the local

         15  prosecutor's office were trained effectively prior

         16  to this situation, we could have avoided unnecessary

         17  discomfort to our client and provided much needed

         18  legal, medical and counseling services to allow her

         19  to be better prepared and allow her to sort of deal

         20  with the traumatic experiences that she dealt with

         21  prior, now having to say in front of people that she

         22  hardly even knows, and that can be a very

         23  intimidating experience.

         24                 And third, talking about in demand,

         25  it is critical that all efforts at the State level
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          2  be effective and mindful of safe and appropriate law

          3  enforcement intervention.

          4                 Early versions of Anti-Trafficking

          5  legislation introduced in this past legislative

          6  session included a section entitled "Patronizing a

          7  Trafficking Victim" Creating harsher penalties for

          8  anyone who patronizes a person who is subjected to

          9  sexual servitude.

         10                 This section created strict liability

         11  for anyone who patronizes a sex worker, who does not

         12  know that this person has been trafficked into sex

         13  work.

         14                 In the coming State Legislative

         15  session, this section on patronizing a trafficking

         16  victim should again not stand, as demand for sexual

         17  labor or services we believe does not drive

         18  trafficking in persons. Instead, it is poverty and

         19  economic deprivation that drive people to migrate in

         20  order to support their families and thus becoming

         21  vulnerable to exploitative situations that get them

         22  into a trafficking scenario.

         23                 Therefore, law enforcement efforts

         24  that do not address the traffickers themselves are

         25  inappropriate and ineffective.
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          2                 Some of the reasons that we do not

          3  vouch for an end demand policy within New York State

          4  Legislation, as I said, end demand policies have

          5  done nothing to end trafficking. They have existed,

          6  especially around the world in other countries such

          7  as Sweden, and there is no evidence that those

          8  policies have actually curbed trafficking in person.

          9                 End demand policies assume that

         10  trafficking and prostitution are conflated and that

         11  all trafficking only involves sex work and that is

         12  not the case. There is a huge number of people that

         13  are trafficked into the labor sector, as Suzanne has

         14  mentioned also.

         15                 I've heard a lot of talk about we

         16  should criminalize the clients but not criminalize

         17  the people that are providing the services of sex

         18  work, and we actually believe that neither should be

         19  criminalized because this cycle of arrest on either

         20  side does nothing to actually give alternatives to

         21  sex workers who are looking for other alternative

         22  means for work.

         23                 End demand policies also tend to

         24  force sex work to go underground as a whole, whether

         25  you are trafficked into it or not, and clients do
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          2  not want to be caught making everything, making sex

          3  workers a lot more vulnerable.

          4                 And last point in demand is that we

          5  found that for our clients, more problematic is

          6  actually law enforcement and obviously the

          7  traffickers themselves, but the clients tend to be a

          8  side issue. Not that violent issues don't happen

          9  among them, so I don't want to minimize that at all,

         10  but we found many times that clients are the ones

         11  that actually have reported on victims of

         12  trafficking or have assisted victims of trafficking,

         13  once they've realized that they are victims of

         14  trafficking to help them get out of the situation.

         15                 So, in conclusion, it's critical for

         16  these reasons that the New York State pass

         17  legislative that is effective in preventing

         18  trafficking in person, such as increasing community

         19  awareness and training law enforcement, rather than

         20  increasing criminal penalties for persons who are

         21  not likely to know that they are even accessing the

         22  services of a trafficked person.

         23                 And, so, we thank you for inviting us

         24  here today and we definitely would like to work with

         25  the New York City Council to encourage the New York
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          2  State to pass good and effective anti-trafficking

          3  legislation in the coming session.

          4                 Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Thank you very

          6  much for being here.

          7                 Do you have any questions,

          8  Councilwoman?

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO: Thank

         10  you. And I'm sorry I wasn't here for all the

         11  testimony, but, you know, I'm happy to see this

         12  information on the CRT, and I guess that really kind

         13  of explains what the purpose is, and the fact that

         14  it's a training element. Because I think that in the

         15  earlier testimony from one of the organizations, the

         16  fact that law enforcement agencies really don't know

         17  how to identify or how to handle when they come

         18  across a situation, so the fact that that is

         19  happening, and obviously, two years is not enough

         20  time, and I'm sure that I guess on our end we have

         21  to kind of monitor City agencies and see to what

         22  extent they're implementing this, or really

         23  incorporating it within their training and also with

         24  the way they enforce it. Because I think that's of

         25  concern.
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          2                 But I remember, and I don't know if

          3  you answered this question before, but that the

          4  gentleman here from the Police Department also

          5  indicated that in addition to the money they

          6  received federally, the NYPD was also matching it.

          7                 So, is in fact, do you know what that

          8  amount is? Is the 450 being matched by the City? I

          9  mean, that's what I remember him testifying.

         10                 MS. SMOLENSKI: I'm trying to remember

         11  the contours of the grant now because I studied it

         12  very carefully and it may very well be that they're

         13  doing an in-kind match basically, contributing

         14  detectives' time to the extent of $450,000.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO: But not

         16  additional monies allocated.

         17                 MS. SMOLENSKI: Right.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO: I guess

         19  we might need to clarify that. But I'm encouraged by

         20  this. Obviously I understand that we need to expand

         21  it, and that we need to generate more resources.

         22                 MS. SMOLENSKI: Well, we need to

         23  continue it because it ended basically, and NYPD got

         24  money to do it but they're not doing it. I mean,

         25  that's my point.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO: Oh,

          3  really? Okay. All right, so then that's our

          4  follow-up. But thank you very much for your

          5  testimony.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Just a final

          7  follow-up. When you say the Police Department had

          8  received funding to continue that and they didn't,

          9  do you know what year they got that? Because I serve

         10  on the Finance Committee, that happens to be a big

         11  advantage.

         12                 MS. SMOLENSKI: That's what they said

         13  earlier. We understand from the Department of

         14  Justice that the City received the money.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Because we can

         16  find that out.

         17                 MS. SMOLENSKI: I wish you would.

         18                 New York City received the money in

         19  September. Last September, 2005, I heard.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Okay.

         21                 MS. SMOLENSKI: But NYPD tells us, oh,

         22  no, we got the money July 1st.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: When the money is

         24  awarded, it doesn't mean you receive it at that

         25  time.
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          2                 For instance, our budgets are up from

          3  July 1 to June 30th of the following year, many

          4  groups don't get their money before May or April. So

          5  that's rather credible. They may have had the monies

          6  released by that time to do so, but it's a question

          7  of did they do it?

          8                 MS. SMOLENSKI: Well, we still haven't

          9  heard from them, and we've been reaching out to them

         10  for a long time to work with us because we have been

         11  willing to work with them. We actually sought, of

         12  course, to be in their budget, but they didn't, they

         13  wouldn't do that. But it's been such great momentum,

         14  as I said it's the model for the country, the

         15  guidelines --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Which is

         17  tremendous. It's really excellent.

         18                 MS. SMOLENSKI: And we want them to

         19  keep doing that, because all our working group

         20  members found it very hopeful, useful, you know, in

         21  so many ways, and it would just be a shame if they

         22  just dropped it.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO: Well, I

         24  mean, I'm sorry, Madam Chair, if I may? What's not

         25  encouraging is if in fact they are getting the money
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          2  now and they're not involving the organizations.

          3                 The fact that the Deputy Chief really

          4  was completely unaware of the CRT, and any details,

          5  that's of concern. And if in fact there is any

          6  serious attempt being made to really implement this,

          7  expand it, to still continue to work with the

          8  existing organizations that really helped make this

          9  happen. So, I think it might lead to a subsequent

         10  hearing just on that one issue, because we obviously

         11  need to hold them accountable.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: I think we should

         13  do that, maybe we might have this with Safety, as

         14  well, and get that, so we're going to follow-up on

         15  that.

         16                 You've been all wonderful. You've

         17  waited a long time and it has been a long hearing,

         18  but it has certainly been a very productive one.

         19  Truly productive. And I thank you very much, and be

         20  rest assured that we're going to be on top of this

         21  issue, financially and through this Committee and

         22  through the Finance, through the Police Department,

         23  whatever we have to do.

         24                 MS. SMOLENSKI: Thank you for

         25  listening to us.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Thank you very

          3  much.

          4                 If there is no further testimony,

          5  this meeting is adjourned at 2:15.

          6                 (The following written testimony was

          7  read into the record.)

          8

          9

         10  Written Testimony Of:

         11  Manhattan Borough President Scott Stringer

         12

         13  Testimony of Manhattan Borough President Scott M.

         14  Stringer before the NYC Council Committee on Women's

         15  Issues In Support of Resolution 504

         16  September 28th, 2006

         17

         18                 Good morning. Thank you Chairperson

         19  Sears for holding this important hearing and

         20  sponsoring Resolution 504 calling on the State of

         21  New York to recognize human trafficking as a crime.

         22                 I strongly support the explicit

         23  criminalization of human trafficking in New York

         24  State as laid out in Resolution 504. Currently, New

         25  York State law has no provisions for punishment for
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          2  human trafficking. Instead, elements of trafficking

          3  are found in the kidnapping and prostitution

          4  sections of the penal code.

          5                 Without concrete law set forth to

          6  strongly penalize human traffickers, it can be

          7  nearly impossible for law enforcement officials and

          8  prosecutors to bring these offenders to justice.

          9                 In addition to strong penalties, this

         10  new law must have a comprehensive definition of

         11  "trafficking" to include the many forms of coercion

         12  traffickers use to control their victims.

         13                 These coercion tactics include

         14  physical force and threat of force, fraud,

         15  intimidation, and immigration abuse. An effective

         16  anti-trafficking law must also raise the penalties

         17  on those who patronize sex trafficking operations

         18  and make it clear that sex tour businesses are

         19  prohibited from operating in New York State.

         20                 According to the U.S. Department of

         21  State's 2003 Trafficking in Persons report, 18,000

         22  to 20,000 people are trafficked into the United

         23  States annually for sexual servitude and forced

         24  labor. All of us know that this statistic from the

         25  Department of State severely undercounts the victims
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          2  of sex trafficking.

          3                 At its core, human trafficking is

          4  slavery and is happening right here in New York

          5  City. While it is difficult to find current

          6  statistics that determine how many trafficking

          7  victims are in New York City, it is safe to assume

          8  that, given the city's port status, a large portion

          9  of trafficking is occurring in our city.

         10                 The best way to prevent and destroy

         11  trafficking networks is for law enforcement

         12  officials to be given the tools they need to put

         13  traffickers in jail. In addition, social service

         14  networks must provide basic medical attention,

         15  housing, food, and protection to victims and we must

         16  make these critical services more accessible to all

         17  victims of trafficking, regardless of immigration

         18  status. Furthermore, a victim of trafficking must be

         19  able to use trafficking as a legal defense against

         20  charges of prostitution.

         21                 Resolution 504 sends the message to

         22  Albany loud and clear: New York City stands up and

         23  demands that human trafficking be classified as a

         24  crime so that we may prevent this slavery from

         25  continuing. I strongly support legislation pending
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          2  in the State Legislature establishing human

          3  trafficking as a crime with real penalties that will

          4  send traffickers to jail and protect trafficking

          5  victims. Only a comprehensive approach to addressing

          6  the illegal sex trade in New York State will

          7  succeed.

          8                 I stand ready to work together with

          9  the City Council and the State Legislature to ensure

         10  that human trafficking is ended in our State. Thank

         11  you for the opportunity to testify today.

         12

         13

         14  Written Testimony Of:

         15  Natalia Gianella, M.A.

         16  Outreach/Advocate for Young Trafficking Victims

         17  The Door's Legal Services Center

         18

         19                 Good morning Council members. My name

         20  is Natalia Gianella and I am the Outreach Worker and

         21  Advocate for young trafficking victims at The Door's

         22  Legal Services Center. Formerly I was the Outreach

         23  Coordinator for the NYC Community Response to

         24  Trafficking (CRT) Project sponsored by IOFA and

         25  ECPAT-USA. Thank you for allowing me to testify on
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          2  this important issue.

          3                 The Door was founded in 1972 with the

          4  mission of empowering young people to reach their

          5  potential by providing comprehensive and integrated

          6  youth development services in a caring, supportive

          7  environment, where young people are treated with

          8  respect and confidentiality.

          9                 To accomplish this goal, The Door

         10  provides a full array of essential social services

         11  free of charge to New York City's underserved youth

         12  ages 12-21. Last year alone over 7,500 low-income

         13  young people, most referred by their peers, came to

         14  The Door for education and career services; primary

         15  health care; food and nutrition services; mental

         16  health counseling; and recreation and arts programs

         17  - in addition to legal assistance.

         18                 Critical to The Door's model of

         19  service delivery is the agency's provision of

         20  integrated services across a wide range of program

         21  areas, allowing for each young person to receive

         22  comprehensive assistance specific to his or her

         23  particular needs.

         24                 This also puts us in an unusually

         25  good position to reach trafficked youth through a
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          2  variety of programming designed to assist young

          3  people in crisis.

          4                 For example, a Door member receiving

          5  legal assistance to obtain appropriate foster care

          6  services can also engage in counseling to gain

          7  essential life skills, attend an ESL class or a

          8  college preparation workshop, meet with an

          9  employment counselor, receive health care, or obtain

         10  assistance and support through a variety of other

         11  programs. By providing an accessible, long-term

         12  support network, The Door provides disadvantaged

         13  youth with the means to empower themselves to enter

         14  a productive, fulfilling adulthood.

         15                 Out of all Door members, 43% are

         16  African American; 31% are Latino; and 11% are Asian.

         17  Most come from low-income, fragmented homes, or live

         18  in foster care or independently. Most Door members

         19  attend schools with low graduation rates, and live

         20  in neighborhoods with low employment, and high rates

         21  of violence and crime. One third are foreign-born,

         22  and many of these youth are recent immigrants

         23  lacking English language skills.

         24                 Unfortunately, many Door members are

         25  survivors of human trafficking and other human
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          2  rights abuses. The following are composite "case

          3  studies" of trafficked youth served at The Door

          4  since 2004.

          5                 1. A. Is now a 20-year-old who is

          6  obtaining services from The Door's Legal Services

          7  Center. A. is a mentally handicapped young woman who

          8  was brought from Mexico by her mother when she was

          9  10. Since A. was 13 she was forced to have sex with

         10  her mother's paramour and his acquaintances and

         11  friends in order to contribute money to the

         12  household. Neither the mother nor the boyfriend

         13  enrolled A. in school. Ultimately, charges were

         14  against A for prostitution but eventually it was

         15  brought to light that the mother and paramour had

         16  forced her into this work. When A. was 16, she was

         17  finally removed from the home. She has been in

         18  foster care since that date, and the Door has

         19  closely monitored her rights in foster care. She was

         20  successfully represented in her petition for Special

         21  Immigrant Juvenile Status and now has a green card.

         22  She is receiving intensive support services and

         23  treatment at a local community-based project.

         24                 2. B. is a young man from China who

         25  was beaten by his father quite often. His father
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          2  told him he was a burden to the family and he was

          3  the second child in a country that has a one-child

          4  per family policy. B's father arranged for him to

          5  come to the US so that he could support the family.

          6  He borrowed money from neighbors to pay the $20,000

          7  fee. B. came to the US and was told that the fee

          8  owed was now $70,000. As a result, he went to

          9  Vermont to work in a restaurant to pay off the debt.

         10                 He worked continuously and was

         11  constantly trying to pay back the debt. One day,

         12  agents of the Immigration and Customs Enforcement

         13  Agency raided the restaurant and arrested B. B. was

         14  sent to a youth detention center in Chicago but

         15  eventually released to an aunt in New York. Because

         16  of constant threats from the "snakehead," his aunt

         17  was so concerned about his well-being that she took

         18  out a second mortgage to pay off B's debt. B. came

         19  to The Door seeking legal assistance and is being

         20  represented in immigration court.

         21                 3. C. is a young woman from

         22  Mauritania who was brought in to the country with

         23  friends of the family. This couple worked for the

         24  diplomatic mission in New York. They portrayed C. as

         25  their daughter and another child as their son. C.
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          2  was forced to cook and clean from 6 AM to 10 PM

          3  without breaks. C. was allowed out one afternoon a

          4  week and attended ESL classes at The Door. C.

          5  confided in her teacher, but when the teacher

          6  suggested that she report her abuse, she never

          7  returned to class.

          8                 4. D., a young woman from Bulgaria,

          9  came to The Door's Health Center for dental care.

         10  Her teeth were severely rotted and causing her

         11  enormous pain. When D. was meeting with her health

         12  educator, D. explained that she had very limited

         13  contact with the outside world, as she was made to

         14  cook and work as a nanny for a family that brought

         15  her to the US to escape violence back home. She was

         16  referred to the Legal Services Center and is being

         17  represented in an asylum case.

         18                 These cases studies demonstrate how

         19  the complexities of human trafficking underscore the

         20  need to have an appropriate and immediate

         21  intervention with supportive services for each

         22  trafficked person.

         23                 The Door has recently expanded its

         24  existing outreach program in order to establish

         25  significantly greater awareness of the presence of
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          2  trafficking among at-risk youth. By working among

          3  Door programs and members, collaborating with

          4  governmental and non-governmental agencies serving

          5  immigrant youth, and building links with individual

          6  judicial professionals and the courts, we identify

          7  affected youth already in these systems.

          8                 My experience working for the NYC-CRT

          9  project taught me the importance of involving

         10  members of the communities affected by human

         11  trafficking in the development of the outreach

         12  process.

         13                 The CRT's model is community-based ad

         14  works in partnership with existing networks and

         15  local organizations to identify and serve

         16  trafficking victims.

         17                 CRT's day-long event in Sunset Park

         18  last year illustrated one of the best practices for

         19  raising awareness among vulnerable communities.

         20                 CRT worked with neighborhood

         21  organizations and leaders to raise awareness and

         22  develop a variety of outreach techniques, including

         23  producing a trilingual theater performance presented

         24  at a local public park.

         25                 The Door's Trafficking Outreach
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          2  Project uses a similar community-based model but

          3  focuses on a specific target population: young

          4  people. We engage service providers and leaders

          5  already connected with at-risk immigrant youth and

          6  involve young Door members themselves in the design

          7  process of our outreach campaign. Both models --

          8  engaging young people and engaging local communities

          9  in outreach efforts -- are crucial in making sure

         10  that Human Trafficking is being perceived and named

         11  in the terms and experiences of affected

         12  communities.

         13                 We fully support efforts to examine

         14  issues of human trafficking and commend the City

         15  Council for proposing this hearing. Immediate action

         16  is critical to the safety of many of the Door

         17  members and other trafficked youth in New York.

         18                 In particular, I would like to make

         19  the following recommendations:

         20                 1. Comprehensive legislation is

         21  required to adequately address the needs of

         22  trafficked persons (funding for services and

         23  sanctions against traffickers should be combined).

         24                 It is not enough to sanction

         25  traffickers. We must expand services for victims. As
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          2  cases come forward with new criminal sanctions in

          3  place, it is best that services are in place to

          4  handle the needs of trafficked persons.

          5                 2. The definition of trafficking

          6  should be as inclusive as possible as trafficking

          7  cases are nuanced and involve a range of actions as

          8  well as repercussions.

          9                 As described in the case studies

         10  above, trafficking takes place across sectors and in

         11  a variety of ways. Sex trafficking is not the only

         12  form of trafficking. Sexual assault and exploitation

         13  may be present in forced labor cases.

         14                 For children and youth, it is

         15  imperative that the definition capture as many of

         16  the acts that are realistically faced in each

         17  scenario.

         18                 3. Agencies and entities charged with

         19  the care and oversight of children and youth need to

         20  be involved in the process of identification and

         21  care of trafficked youth.

         22                 For example, if the appropriate

         23  agencies had information about trafficking remedies

         24  in A.'s case, she would have had many more services

         25  at her disposal at a far earlier stage in her
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          2  progress. Such services were critically needed and

          3  had to be delivered in a piecemeal fashion, which

          4  was not in A.'s best interest.

          5                 4. Service providers in New York need

          6  to be funded to address the many needs of trafficked

          7  persons. As you will likely hear from other

          8  providers, working on a trafficking case is

          9  resource-intensive as trafficked persons' needs are

         10  immense.

         11                 Specialized and dedicated services

         12  need to be available, especially for trafficked

         13  children and youth. From outreach programs to

         14  shelters that can specifically address trafficked

         15  persons' housing needs, services must be in place to

         16  deal with this enormous human rights abuse in New

         17  York.

         18                 5. Funding for outreach and awareness

         19  raising should be available for projects that

         20  guarantee the participation of the targeted

         21  population.

         22                 Any community -- whether it exists in

         23  the form of a neighborhood, an ESL class or a

         24  community center -- can be engaged in building

         25  awareness of human trafficking.
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          2                 They have proven to be an immediate

          3  and important resource for many of the victims of

          4  human trafficking, linking them to services and

          5  safety.

          6                 Again, I thank you for your attention

          7  to this matter and welcome any questions you might

          8  have.

          9                 (Hearing concluded at 2:15 p.m.)
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          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified

         10  Shorthand Reporter, do hereby certify that the

         11  foregoing is a true and accurate transcript of the

         12  within proceeding.

         13                 I further certify that I am not

         14  related to any of the parties to this action by

         15  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         16  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         17                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         18  set my hand this 28th day of September 2006.
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